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Driving the Smart State through education

The Department of Education operates the state education 

system and supports the Minister’s portfolio responsibilities 

for non-state and higher education. The department also 

provides advisory, monitoring and regulatory functions and 

support across the portfolio.

The Department of Education plays a primary role in 

progressing the whole-of-government priority: More jobs for 

Queensland — skills and innovation — the Smart State. 

Signifi cant reforms are under way to ensure that young people 

develop the skills and knowledge they will need in the future, 

and that schools lay the foundations for lifelong learning.

The department also contributes to the other whole-of-

Government priorities — safer and more supportive communities, 

community engagement and a better quality of life, valuing 

the environment, and building Queensland’s regions.

It achieves this by providing:

> preschool education 

> primary education 

> secondary education

> services that meet the needs of students enrolled in 

distance education and the needs of students with 

disabilities 

> portfolio services — assistance to non-state education 

and the higher education sector. 

State education 

Education Queensland refers to the state schooling system 

within the department and comprises 1292 state schools 

attended by more than 480 000 students under the guidance 

of more than 35 000 teachers. 

Over the past 12 months Education Queensland has 

continued to implement key reforms contained in the 

Queensland the Smart State: Education and Training Reforms 

for the Future (ETRF) package, as well as continuing to 

implement the blueprint for state education contained in 

Queensland State Education — 2010 (QSE—2010).

Destination 2010 is the state system’s action plan for 

implementing the changes outlined in QSE—2010 and 

extended through ETRF.  All Education Queensland staff have 

key roles in achieving QSE—2010 objectives through the 

strategies contained in Destination 2010.

In 2002, the School Improvement and Accountability 

Framework (SIAF) was released to assist state schools to 

achieve and sustain the objectives of QSE—2010 and the 

outcomes and targets of Destination 2010. SIAF supports the 

reform agenda by encouraging school communities to devise 

programs that respond to community needs and create 

opportunities for lifelong learning.

Non-state education 

The non-state sector provides for approximately 193 000 

students in 446 schools and employs approximately 12 000 

teachers. These schools operate as either Independent 

schools or Catholic systemic schools. The department 

administers grants and funding and provides policy advice to 

the Minister and Government on non-state education matters.

The department also supports the system of planning and 

accountability for non-state education including the 

Non-State Schools Accreditation Board. 

Non-state schools are a signifi cant partner in the implementation 

of the ETRF package. 

Higher education 

Queensland has nine universities teaching approximately 

150 000 students — of which approximately 25 000 are 

international students. More than 15 000 people are 

employed by the higher education sector at 26 campuses.

In addition, there are 16 non-university providers of higher 

education catering to approximately 4400 students. Public 

universities bring more than $1 billion into the state’s economy 

from Commonwealth grants, student fees and other earnings.

The department supports the Minister for Education’s 

legislated and broader responsibilities for higher education 

in Queensland. The department’s role includes providing 

advice to the Minister, negotiating access to Commonwealth 

funding, carrying out regulatory functions in accordance with 

university authorising Acts and related legislation, planning 

for the growth of the sector, assisting the Minister to accredit 

higher education courses and recognise institutions, and 

supporting the international work of institutions.
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The Director-General’s report

Our capacity to engage young people as active citizens in our 

community relies on an educational system governed by 

foresight, fl exibility and a commitment to excellence. Such a 

system is crucial to help students acquire the skills and 

knowledge required to contribute to a socially just, 

economically viable and environmentally sustainable society.

I am proud of our achievements during 2002–2003, a period 

that has been marked by great progress and change. This 

annual report measures our performance against key 

strategies outlined in the Department of Education Strategic 

Plan 2002–2006, which is based on the objectives:

> Preparing young people for learning and for life

> Meeting students’ educational needs

> Working in partnerships to improve learning environments

> Stimulating innovation, research and growth

> Strengthening organisational capability.

During 2002–2003, we have strengthened education by 

implementing the reforms outlined in Queensland the Smart 

State — Education and Training Reforms for the Future: 

A White Paper, as well as continuing to implement Destination 

2010, which provides an action plan to achieve the objectives 

of Queensland State Education — 2010 (QSE—2010).

These policies have extended learning opportunities for 

young people and provide new pathways to further education 

and training. More students are opting to continue their 

learning and are achieving higher level qualifi cations. 

In 2002, nearly 87 per cent of Year 12 state school students 

were OP eligible or had achieved a VET qualifi cation. 

Education and training reforms
Queensland is creating one of the most innovative and 

fl exible education systems in Australia. Queensland the 

Smart State — Education and Training Reforms for the Future: 

A White Paper, released in November 2002, detailed some of 

the most far-reaching reforms to education and training in 

Queensland for almost four decades. More than $162 million 

is being invested over four years to:

> implement the Preparing for School trial

> substantially boost information and communication 

technologies (ICTs)

> strengthen the Middle Phase of Learning

> reform senior pathways.

New legislation, to take effect from 2006, will make it 

compulsory for young people to remain at school until they 

complete Year 10 or turn 16, whichever comes fi rst. Young 

people will then be required to participate in learning for a 

further two years, or until they have gained a Senior 

Certifi cate or a Certifi cate III vocational qualifi cation, or until 

they turn 17. Some young people will move into full-time 

work after they have completed Year 10 or turned 16, and 

they will be able to return to learning at a later date.

School leadership drives performance
The School Improvement and Accountability Framework 

(SIAF) was released in August 2002 to help state schools 

achieve and sustain the vision and objectives of QSE—2010 

and the outcomes and targets specifi ed in Destination 2010. 

I commend schools and districts for embracing Destination 

2010 and setting local targets that complement systemic 

targets for improved student learning outcomes.

In addition, signifi cant curriculum renewal initiatives in state 

schools are positioning Queensland as a world leader in 

responsive and relevant curriculum, pedagogy and 

assessment. The New Basics project continues to attract 

national and international attention for its approach to 

school renewal and improvement with a focus on pedagogy 

and intellectual engagement. 

In 2002–2003, the State Government provided $151 million 

to improve student literacy. The Reading Recovery program 

improved — to an average or above average level — the 

reading and writing skills of more than 88 per cent of the 

5514 Year 2 students experiencing diffi culties who completed 

the program. Literacy improved for Year 3, and numeracy has 

improved in Years 3, 5 and 7.

Students also need enhanced skills in information and 

communication technologies (ICTs). In 2002, the department 

invested a total of $60.4 million to improve ICT access 

in state schools by:

> buying new computers

> providing professional development for teachers and 

school administrators

> developing initiatives that better integrate ICTs into the 

curriculum. 
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Partnerships enhance learning opportunities

Parents and citizens’ associations have always been strong 

supporters of students and school initiatives. These 

associations are crucial to improving the learning options 

available to young people. During 2002–2003, there was a 

greater focus on developing partnerships, particularly 

between state and non-state sectors. These partnerships are 

being implemented to make the best use of the public funds 

available for education.

The education and training reforms fostered a commitment 

across government and non-government agencies; 

education, training and youth service providers; and industry 

groups to meet the educational needs of young people from 

their earliest years through to adult life. They set a new 

benchmark for collaboration and community engagement in 

education in Queensland.

Higher education, as a shared responsibility with the 

Commonwealth Government, necessitates a high level of 

cooperation to develop strategies and policies to enhance 

higher education in Queensland. In 2002, a national review 

of higher education was commissioned by the Commonwealth 

to focus on the reform priorities of sustainability, quality, 

equity and diversity. Queensland worked closely with the 

Commonwealth to determine how best to provide access to 

higher education for a dispersed population.

With international students contributing more than $604 million 

annually to the Queensland economy, education and training 

is one of the state’s key priorities for export. In 2002, the 

number of international students coming to Queensland’s 

universities increased to more than 25 000. The latest data 

indicates that Queensland recorded the highest growth 

nationally in the number of international students 

participating in higher education.

Developing a performance-driven organisation

The individual and collective capability of our workforce is 

crucial to meeting students’ learning needs. Workforce 

capability strategies in 2002–2003 resulted in new learning 

communities, high quality teaching and learning practices and 

enhanced educational leadership. Key strategies included:

> employing more than 500 extra teachers to reduce class 

sizes, and to support enrolment growth, new facilities and 

students with disabilities

> providing a range of professional development 

opportunities linked to departmental priorities including 

leadership programs, ICTs for Learning initiatives and 

teaching innovation development.

A pilot program of Professional Standards for Teachers was 

also introduced to provide a framework that allows teachers 

to refl ect on and extend their professional practice.

Some of our best teachers were rewarded through a new 

scholarship program introduced this year to recognise and 

reward educators who are making a real difference to the 

lives of this state’s young people. The Premier’s Smart 

State Teacher Excellence Scholarships were awarded to 

fi ve state school teachers who are innovators in their fi eld. 

Each received $25 000 and release from teaching for three 

months to undertake professional study.

The Westfi eld Premier’s Educational Scholarships were also 

awarded to fi ve secondary science teachers from state and 

non-state schools. Each received $24 000 for overseas study 

in a fi eld of science.

Using knowledge and modern governance

During 2002–2003, the Strategic Management Team revised 

and strengthened the department’s governance, reporting 

and accountability arrangements. A key outcome was the 

establishment of a dedicated directorate for state schooling 

under the leadership of a Deputy Director-General.

The Resource Planning and Management Committee increased 

the department’s focus on fi nancial accountability by identifying 

and implementing strategies to address signifi cant budgetary 

and fi nancial issues during 2002–2003. The committee’s 

work included establishing priorities, monitoring output 

costs and evaluating fi nancial performance.

As part of an ongoing process to ensure quality management 

processes are applied to Education Queensland corporate 

information, the department continued its data warehouse 

developments. The data warehouse collects, stores and 

analyses data that forms the basis for evidence-based 

decision making. In February 2003, Education Queensland’s 

data warehouse developments were showcased in the United 

States of America at the 16th Annual Management 

Information Systems Conference, run by the National Centre of 

Education Statistics (NCES) on behalf of the US Federal 

Department of Education. This presentation demonstrates 

Queensland’s position at the forefront of national and 

international best practice for information management.

Education as the driver for the Smart State

As the key driver in Queensland’s Smart State agenda, the 

State Government’s support for and commitment to education 

remains strong. Education accounts for approximately 

25 per cent of general government expenditure and our 

investment in education, measured as a proportion of gross 

state product per capita, was above the national average in 

2002–2003.

I am confi dent that our strong policy position, coupled with 

the current departmental structure, will focus our ability to 

embed effective policy leadership, planning, resourcing and 

performance monitoring functions throughout the 

organisation to meet the Queensland Government’s priorities.

I congratulate and extend my gratitude to a professional, 

committed and hardworking staff who are the major 

contributors to a world-class education system.

Ken Smith

Director-General of Education
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Year in Review

Preparing young people for 
learning and for life

Meeting students’ educational needs Working in partnership to 
improve student learning 

We set out to We set out to We set out to

> Improve student achievement
> Develop and trial new approaches to schooling 

before Year 1
> Implement a curriculum for the future
> Improve pathways and transitions
> Promote access, integration and skill 

development in ICTs

> Provide services and programs to meet the 
educational needs of all students

> Enhance access to opportunities and facilities 
for schooling in rural and remote areas

> Improve school learning environments 
and facilities

> Negotiate with the Commonwealth to ensure 
a more equitable distribution of higher 
education places

> Strengthen partnerships with non-state schools, 
other government agencies, business, industry 
groups, employers, alternative education 
providers and higher education institutions 
and parents

> Work with Indigenous communities to improve 
learning outcomes and completion rates

> Enhance capabilities for developing 
partnerships and community engagement

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>
>

>
>

We have We have We have

> Improved the performance of Years 3, 5 and 7 
state school students in numeracy

> Commenced the fi rst phase of the Preparing for 
School trial at 30 state, six Catholic and three 
Independent schools across Queensland*

> Supported the implementation of new syllabuses 
in Science, Health and Physical Education, 
Languages other than English (LOTE), Studies of 
Society and Environment (SOSE) and The Arts.

> Increased the Years 8 to 12 apparent retention 
rate from 71.9 per cent in 1999 to 76.5 per cent 
in 2002

> Achieved the highest proportion of school-based 
apprentices and trainees in Australia with more 
than 50 per cent of new commencements 
occurring in Queensland 

> Progressed reforms to the Senior Phase of 
Learning, including selecting trial sites in seven 
areas throughout the state*

> Developed an annual ICT plan in all state schools 
to integrate ICTs into the curriculum

> Improved outcomes for students at educational 
risk by tailoring educational offerings to student 
needs and through targeted initiatives such as 
bullying intervention programs, alternative 
schooling sites, refugee student support, and 
support for pregnant and parenting students

> Established a Rural and Remote Education 
Committee to provide strategic advice on rural 
and remote issues

> Implemented a comprehensive capital works 
program to improve built environments and 
foster innovative learning approaches 

> Achieved a computer-to-student ratio for Years 
8–12 of one computer to every 4.2 students, 
exceeding the target ratio of one computer to 
fi ve students*

> Participated in the national review of higher 
education to ensure the sustainability of a 
quality national system

> Expanded the Partners for Success strategy through 
partnerships between schools in Indigenous 
communities and major local employers to ensure 
successful transitions from school to work

> Increased the Years 8 to 12 apparent retention 
rates for Indigenous students from 46.3 per cent 
in 1998 to 51.7 per cent in 2002

> Developed a stronger community engagement 
focus in curriculum, policy development and 
implementation

> Funded innovation grants to 15 schools to 
extend community access to ICTs in schools*

> Formed whole-of-government partnerships 
through the Cape York Strategic Leaders Program 
to support Indigenous community leadership

> Supported the delivery of a range of Enterprise 
Education initiatives in schools involving 
local partners

> Collaborated with TAFE, non-state schools, 
government, industry and community 
representatives to start developing District 
Youth Achievement Plans in Senior Phase of 
Learning trial areas*

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

We will We will We will

> Plan and implement a program for developing 
school curriculum leadership in literacy 

> Complete the evaluation of the New Basics trial 
> Commence the second phase of the Preparing for 

School trial*
> Develop and implement an action plan on the 

Middle Phase of Learning*
> Trial the Senior Phase of Learning reforms *
> Implement legislation to support reforms to the 

Senior Phase of Learning*
> Support the implementation of the new 

Years 1–10 Technology syllabus and commence 
planning for English and Mathematics

> Finalise and release a Rural and Remote 
Education Strategy

> Improve school environments and facilities 
through the Capital Works Program totalling 
$257.2 million

> Develop whole-school and classroom 
approaches to provide additional support and 
manage challenging behaviours  

> Jointly fund, with the Department of Families, a 
$1.6 million per annum commitment to cover 
the core educational costs of children and young 
people in care

> Advocate for an appropriate share of subsidised 
higher education places with the 
Commonwealth Government

> Implement a targeted action plan to strengthen 
Partners for Success

> Promote industry connections that allow young 
people to undertake vocational education 
and training

> Develop new and fl exible learning options to 
meet the learning and support needs of all 
young people in cooperation with other 
education and training providers*

> Continue to foster a community commitment to 
young people by building partnerships at the 
local level*

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

Year in review
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Stimulating innovation, 
research and growth

Strengthening organisational capability Internal resource management

We set out to We set out to We set out to

>
>

>
>
>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

> Ensure Commonwealth authorities are informed 
of Queensland’s needs for postgraduate 
research programs

> Position Queensland as a national leader in 
exporting education and education services

> Stimulate more students’ interest in science, 
maths and technology studies

> Ensure the highest professional standards for 
teachers, principals and administrative staff

> Develop educational leadership and the 
innovation capabilities of staff

> Ensure the workforce refl ects equity principles 
and the diversity of Queensland communities

> Improve ICT access and skills for teachers and 
increase access to online resources in schools

> Deliver value-for-money education services
> Ensure the workforce composition meets staff 

and student needs
> Target and build excellence in our workforce
> Support improvements in the occupational health 

and safety of staff

We have We have We have

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

> Represented the interests of Queensland 
through national forums to advocate a more 
equitable distribution and increased number of 
Australian postgraduate research places

> Set targets at the local level to help schools 
increase student participation in science, 
mathematics and technology studies

> Enabled science, maths and technology 
teachers to develop and deliver online learning 
courses through the Learning Place

> Provided state advocacy to support the 
enrolment of more than 25 000 international 
university students

> Conducted research programs to inform 
student performance, classroom dynamics 
and teaching practice 

> Hosted the International Regional Heads of 
Education Forum, which brought together 
education leaders from eight South-East 
Asian countries

> Appointed 36 Executive Directors (Schools) to 
lead, manage and drive improved school 
performance

> Provided a range of professional development 
opportunities linked to key departmental 
priorities

> Completed a pilot program of Professional 
Standards for Teachers, to provide a framework 
that allows teachers to refl ect on and extend 
their professional practice

> Supported the integration of ICTs into learning 
and teaching in schools through tailored 
skills programs

> Improved participation by target groups by 
implementing a suite of policies, programs and 
strategies to address issues of workforce 
diversity and equity

> Funded and supported more than 322 public 
servants to undertake nationally recognised 
qualifi cations from Certifi cate II to Diploma level

> Provided induction programs for more than 100 
new principals 

> Increased the fi nancial management capability of 
education leaders through statewide professional 
development 

> Increased the size of the teaching workforce to 
facilitate the further reduction of class sizes, 
commence the Preparing for School trial, and 
support enrolment growth, new facilities and 
students with disabilities

> Invested in professional development and 
recognition and reward initiatives

> Implemented an Organisational Health 
Strategic Plan including the development of 
an incident reporting and recording system, 
organisational health website and an 
organisational health policy

We will We will We will

>

>
>

>

>
>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

> Implement strategies from the Science State — 
Smart State action plan 

> Complete a scan of the activities of Learning 
Development Centres and the Centres of 
Excellence initiative

> Support the further growth of international 
students studying in Queensland

> Develop a departmental position on the 
internationalisation of Queensland education

> Develop Education Queensland International as 
a professional business operation

> Invest $39.7 million in professional 
development for the school workforce to build 
capacity for syllabus and reform implementation 
and innovation

> Enhance curriculum leadership capacity through 
the continued delivery of Leadership Toolkit 
programs

> Expand support for the recruitment, retention 
and career development of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander employees and other 
target groups

> Ensure cost-effective achievement of the 
department’s objectives

> Employ an additional 636 teachers to help reduce 
class sizes, meet enrolment growth, extend the 
Preparing for School trial, support students with 
disabilities and underpin behaviour management 
strategies

> Ensure teachers are involved in learning and 
development that is linked to key curriculum and 
reform priorities

> Host one of the shared service providers as a 
separate business unit

* Refers to Queensland the Smart State: Education and Training Reforms for the Future policy initiative
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Statistical snapshots

The following statistics show the department’s performance against the Balanced Report Card. 

Snapshot 1
State school enrolments 1998–2002 (July FTE)
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Schools, teaching and learning  The delivery of our services

Year 3 students performing above the 
benchmark in Reading, Writing and Numeracy

Funding per student continues to increasePrimary and secondary enrolments continue to grow

Snapshot 2
State Government recurrent appropriation for state 

education versus CPI

Snapshot 5
School-based apprenticeship and traineeship new 

commencements from state schools 1998–2002

Snapshot 6
Queensland (state and non-state) Year 3 students achieving 

the Reading, Writing and Numeracy benchmarks 2000–2002
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Snapshot 4
Percentage of parents of state school students satisfi ed or 

very satisfi ed that their child’s school is a good school
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Parents satisfi ed with their child’s school

Snapshot 3
Apparent retention rates Years 8 to 12 for full-time state 

secondary students 1998–2002
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Learning and development  Continuous improvement, innovation and organisational growth

Snapshot 7
Community perception of the standard of state school 

teaching 2001–2003

Snapshot 8
Satisfaction of state school staff with opportunities to 

improve their skills 1999–2002
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Preparing young Queenslanders for the future

A well-educated and skilled population is the defi ning 

characteristic of a modern society with high living standards. 

The Government’s vision of Queensland as the Smart State of 

Australia — a clever, inclusive and prosperous society — can 

be realised by providing young people with opportunities to 

achieve high-level qualifi cations and to continue to learn 

throughout their lives.

The Education and Training Reforms for the Future will create 

an innovative and fl exible system that provides every young 

person with the knowledge and skills they need to go into 

the world with confi dence. 

A snapshot of the reforms
The Government wants all young people to fi nish Year 10 and 

go on to achieve at least a Senior Certifi cate, or a Certifi cate 

III vocational qualifi cation, so they can achieve success in 

work and life in the twenty-fi rst century. To achieve this, the 

reforms will reshape all stages of education and training — 

from early childhood through to the senior years.

Legislation will support the reforms, help raise expectations 

and set a new community benchmark for all young people to 

extend their education or training. The new laws will come 

into effect from 2006 and will:

> make it compulsory for young people to stay at school 

until they fi nish Year 10 or turn 16, whichever comes fi rst

> require young people to then participate in education and 

training for a further two years, or until they have gained a 

Senior Certifi cate, a Certifi cate III vocational qualifi cation, 

or turned 17

> allow young people who have completed Year 10 or 

turned 16 to work.

The Government will support these legislative requirements by 

developing new learning opportunities and providing additional 

support for all young people. These measures include:

> improving the early years of learning with a proposed 

preparatory year

> implementing a range of Middle Phase of Learning 

initiatives to strengthen students’ learning from 

Years 4 to 9

> ensuring students complete Year 10 and make the 

transition to a Senior Phase of Learning

> Creating more options for young people by:

– reviewing existing courses and offering a wider range 

of tailored courses

– improving the recognition of learning and 

qualifi cations between the sectors

– creating local services and better access to education 

and training in rural, remote and Indigenous 

communities

– enhancing distance, online and virtual education

– providing more school-based apprenticeships and 

traineeships

– providing an employment program to assist young 

people at risk of disengaging from education and 

training.

The Government’s investment includes:

> $18 million from 2003 to 2005 for a trial of the 

preparatory year of schooling in schools across 

Queensland

> $121.7 million over four years, which commenced in 

2002 –2003, to enhance distance, online and virtual 

education through improved ICT access and skills 

development

> $40.3 million over three years commencing in 

2003–2004 to improve outcomes for all young people 

in the Senior Phase of Learning.
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Progress to date
Early Years of Learning

In January 2003, a trial of a full-time preparatory year was 

initiated in 39 state, Catholic and Independent schools. 

Approximately 800 children are participating in the trial, 

which will determine how best to prepare children for formal 

schooling. Teachers taking part in the trial are using draft 

Early Years Curriculum Guidelines developed by the 

Queensland Studies Authority.

Middle Phase of Learning

The Government engaged in widespread community 

consultation on the Middle Phase of Learning. This was the 

fi rst topic for public consultation on the Government’s Get 

Involved website, launched in May 2003. The Ministerial 

Advisory Committee on Educational Reform used feedback 

from the consultation process to develop a report for the 

Minister for Education.

Information Communication Technologies 

ICTs for Learning is a three-year transition strategy that 

commenced in 2002–2003 to ensure access to and 

integration of ICTs as an everyday tool for learning and 

delivering the curriculum. In its fi rst year an extra $23 million 

was provided to improve ICT access and skills for students 

and teachers, connect more computers to the Internet, 

provide extra computers for students, replace old computers 

and improve ICT support.

Senior Phase of Learning

From April 2003, preparation began for trials of the reforms 

to the Senior Phase of Learning. Seven areas across 

Queensland were selected to participate:

> Toowoomba and Roma

> Townsville and Mt Isa

> Rockhampton and Emerald

> Fraser–Cooloola and Isis–Burnett

> Mooloolaba and Murrumba

> Gold Coast North and Logan–Beaudesert

> Corinda and Ipswich.

Leaders from state and non-state schools, TAFE Institutes and 

the Department of Employment and Training in the trial areas 

participated in a two-day planning forum in April that focused 

on developing District Youth Achievement Plans. The offi cial 

trials commence in Semester 2, 2003. 

Consultation commenced on two draft Bills covering the new 

requirements for the Senior Phase of Learning.

An extra 21 Youth Support Coordinators will be employed 

through the Department of Families in 2003–2004 — the fi rst 

of an additional 100 to be engaged over three years.

Success through partnerships

Our ability to develop effective partnerships with local 

communities will be critical to the success of these reforms. 

The department is developing unprecedented partnerships 

between parents, young people, state schools, non-state 

schools, TAFE, training providers, employers and community 

organisations. Their collective knowledge and expertise will 

be instrumental in trialling and implementing the education 

and training reforms.

An intersectoral taskforce, comprising educators, trainers, 

young people, parents, employers and representatives from 

government, business, industry and unions, will allow other 

stakeholders to take part in the reform process. The taskforce 

met in March and June 2003, and will convene quarterly.

To fi nd out more on the Education and Training Reforms for 

the Future go to http://education.qld.gov.au/etrf
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The department has demonstrated a responsibility and 

commitment to the environment by delivering quality 

environmental education programs and services, and 

supporting local actions in schools. This fulfi ls the 

department’s commitment to whole-of-government 

environmental policy requirements.

Valuing the school environment 
Environmental education

Environmental education involves students, teachers and the 

community in environmental action that focuses on thinking 

globally and acting locally and is integrated throughout the 

curriculum. Many schools adopted programs such as 

Waterwatch and Waterwise as part of the International Year 

of Freshwater during 2003.

Outdoor and environmental education centres

The department has a network of 25 outdoor and 

environmental education centres (OEECs) that design and 

deliver quality environmental education programs and 

services. During 2002–2003, these centres catered for more 

than 92 000 students through programs that range from 

conserving natural resources to using renewable energy.

‘Education for a sustainable future’ and ‘valuing biodiversity’ 

are key themes within OEEC programs. These programs are 

linked to the school curriculum. Partnerships were fostered 

with local communities to provide information more 

effectively and provide greater opportunities to discuss 

environmental issues.

Professional development is another important activity of 

OEECs. The Nature Exposed train-the-trainer program was 

offered at four OEECs to introduce department staff and 

Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service staff to a values-

based nature conservation education program. The program 

uses the value people place on nature as the foundation for 

developing effective educational and interpretive programs.

Environmentally sustainable schools

During 2002–2003, the department collaborated with 

Environment Australia (EA) and the Environmental Protection 

Agency (EPA) to develop an Environmental Sustainable 

Schools program in Queensland. This program will assist 

schools in waste minimisation, water effi ciencies, energy 

reduction and increasing biodiversity within school grounds. 

The department also developed, in consultation with the Keep 

Australia Beautiful Council (Qld), a School Sustainability Guide 

for all state schools. The guide offers schools information on 

how to take up the sustainability challenge through effective 

water, energy and waste management practices.

Schools win environmental awards

Bulimba State School was selected as the winner of the 

Healthy Schools competition for 2002. Three hundred and 

sixty-six schools from around Queensland entered the 

competition. An extensive list of environmentally sustainable 

activities undertaken at the school contributed to the award 

including worm farming, gardening, recycling and effi cient 

water and energy use. Bulimba State School also has an 

ongoing project to develop and construct a toilet block that 

will use sustainable technology, solar energy and rainwater.

Other award recipients during 2002–2003 included:

> Tamborine Mountain State High School received the 2003 

Healthy Waterways Schools award for their innovative 

work in rehabilitating a local creek inhabited by 

platypuses. This project is a real-life, action-based 

environmental initiative linked to the school’s curriculum.

> Severnlea State School students’ work entitled ‘Discovery 

at the Creek’ was selected for the front cover artwork of 

the 2002 anthology Special Forever — a partnership 

program between the Murray–Darling Basin Commission 

and the Primary English Teaching Association to 

promote environmental awareness throughout the 

Murray–Darling Basin.

> Ashmore State School was the 2003 Murder Under the 

Microscope Ecosleuth winner. This Internet-based 

environmental competition involving 401 schools across 

Queensland presented unique challenges for students in 

identifying environmental issues. Sixteen other 

Queensland schools received awards through this program.

> Mooloolah State School received the Sunshine Coast 

Environmental Award for their Solar Creek project. This 

project focuses on long-term revegetation of an artifi cial 

creek that uses solar powered pumps to recycle water.

Valuing the environment
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Biodiversity improvements

Many schools across Queensland are increasing the 

biodiversity of their school grounds through innovative 

Learnscaping projects. Learnscaping is a creative concept 

that allows school grounds to be redesigned so they link with 

the curriculum and encourage school communities to interact 

with their environment.

Chatswood Hills State School received a 2003 United Nations 

Association of Australia — World Environment Day Award for 

their Learnscapes Alive project. www
 

Sustainability challenge
Waste management and energy-effi cient practices continue to 

be a focus for the department. In February 2003, the 

department endorsed its comprehensive Charter for 

Sustainability Strategic Plan. The charter details key 

sustainability challenges for the department, including:

> maintaining and building environmentally sustainable 

buildings

> sustainable asset, utility and contract management

> future environmental educational options.

Waste minimisation
Planet Maintenance

Nine schools participated in the Planet Maintenance Pilot 

Program, a joint venture between the department, QBuild 

and the EPA. Staff and students at each school completed 

environmental management plans in 2002–2003 that 

identifi ed sustainable strategies to reduce their use of 

energy, water and the generation of waste.

It is estimated that the implementation of these strategies 

in the nine participating schools will result in savings of 

almost $42 000 per annum in utilities charges. Figure 1 

shows the estimated savings in the three key areas of 

energy, water and waste.

Infoxchange 

A six-month agreement commenced in October 2002 

between the department and not-for-profi t organisation 

Infoxchange to recycle surplus government computers. 

Under the agreement, 10 per cent of the recycled 

workstations were available free of charge to families in 

school communities where home ownership of computers 

is low. Another 20 per cent of the recycled computers were 

made available at a substantially reduced fee to schools with 

the lowest student-to-computer ratios.

Energy effi ciency

The department is working to reduce its global greenhouse 

gas emissions through energy effi ciency measures  — Figure 2 

provides the estimated energy consumption. Energy usage in 

central offi ce decreased due to the reduction in the number of 

fl oors occupied in Education House from 17 to 14.5. However, 

there was an increase in state schools as a result of:

> new schools or the addition of buildings to existing schools

> airconditioning installed as part of the Cooler Schools 

program

> after-hours use of facilities.

The following energy-effi cient practices are undertaken 

currently to address emissions.

Solar Schools

The Solar School Project, involving the installation of solar 

panel systems in 17 Queensland schools, continued in 

2002–2003. It involves a partnership arrangement between 

the EPA and Ergon Energy. Energy generated from the solar 

panels reduces the amount of power each school uses from 

the electricity grid. The result is savings in energy costs at each 

site estimated at up to $500 per year and a reduction in 

greenhouse gases by up to 3.6 tonnes per year. Each school 

installation includes educational resources for students and 

teachers. www

Energy Effi ciency in Schools program 

The Energy Effi ciency in Schools (EEIS) program shows staff 

and students how to minimise energy usage in schools. It is 

delivered as a residential camping program at several 

outdoor and environmental education centres.

In December 2002, a Central Queensland University research 

report Sustainable Schools: Making Energy Effi ciency a 

Lifestyle Priority highlighted the positive contributions of the 

EEIS program. Byfi eld State School was mentioned in this 

report for reducing energy consumption by 50 per cent after 

participating in the EEIS program. 

As a result of an EEIS program, selected schools in Central 

Queensland and their school communities have committed 

to a 15 per cent reduction in their energy consumption. 

Figure 1 
Planet Maintenance Pilot Schools — estimated utilities 
savings per annum

Energy ($) Water ($) Waste ($) Total ($)

$11 223 $25 967 $4 574 $41 764

Figure 2 
Estimated departmental energy consumption

Year
Energy GWh ‘000 Energy $’000 CO

2
 Kilotonnes

State schools Central offi ce State schools Central offi ce State schools Central offi ce

1999—2000 105 NA 13097 NA 106 NA

2000—2001 118 2.9 14706 357 119 2.9

2001—2002 129 1.8 16770 228 130 1.8

Notes:
> School energy costs derived from Education Queensland School Utilities Budget 1999–2002. Central Offi ce energy  costs derived from SAP data. Data is  unavailable for AccessEd and 

district offi ces.
> Energy use based on average cost of 12.5c per kWh to June 30, 2001 and 13.0c per kWh from July 2001.
> Emissions based on a factor of 1.01 kg Co

2
 equivalent per kWh. The data source shown above does not include emissions resulting from transport or fuel consumption. 

> Comparative information for 2001—2002 has been revised to include newly available information and provide for better consistency with 2002–2003 data.
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Strategic Management Team

Ken Smith BSW (Hons), MSW

Director-General of Education

Ken Smith became Director-General of Education in December 

2002.  Prior to this appointment he was Director-General of 

the Department of Employment and Training.  He has also 

held the positions of Director-General at the Department of Families, Youth 

and Community Care, Disability Services Queensland and the Department 

of Housing, Local Government and Planning. 

He has been an Adjunct Professor at the University of Queensland for over 

three years and is presently an Adjunct Professor at the School of Education. 

He has also worked in the non-government sector and served as chair and 

member of a number of boards and statutory authorities at a state and 

national level.

Ken is committed to leading reform across the portfolio to improve the 

quality of education for all students in Queensland schools. A key priority 

is to drive the department’s policies in key areas such as the Education 

and Training Reforms for the Future (ETRF), Destination 2010, Literate 

Futures, Partners for Success, Inclusive Education and science, 

mathematics, and information and communication technologies.

Jim Varghese BA (Hons), Bdiv, DipEd, MBA

Former Director-General of Education

Jim Varghese was Director-General of the Department of 

Education from June 2000 to December 2002 after serving 

as Director-General, Department of Main Roads from 1998 

to 2000. He has also held senior positions with the Department of Natural 

Resources and Primary Industries and in the Victorian education sector. 

Jim left the department in December 2002 to take up the role of Director-

General with the Department of Employment and Training.

Roger Slee PhD, MEd, GradDipSpEd, GradDipEd, BA

Deputy Director-General

Curriculum, Learning and Strategy

Professor Roger Slee was appointed Deputy 

Director-General in April 2001 from the University 

of Western Australia. Prior to that he was Dean of Education at the 

University of London.

He has published widely in education and worked across a number of 

jurisdictions nationally and internationally.

Professor Slee oversees curriculum strategy, strategic policy, education 

futures, and professional learning to ensure the continuing development 

and implementation of futures-focused and inclusive education programs 

for Queensland students.

Jenny Cranston BA, GradDipEd, MPubAdmin

Acting Deputy Director-General State Schooling

Jenny Cranston acted in the new role of Deputy 

Director-General (State Schooling) from 31 March 2003. 

The position leads the state schooling area which includes 

the Assistant Directors-General (School Administration) and (School 

Performance).  Together, they have responsibility for leading, managing, 

and monitoring the performance of all state schools in Queensland.  

As Acting Deputy Director-General, Jenny also supervises the 36 Executive 

Directors (Schools) who in turn supervise Queensland’s 1292 state school 

principals.  Together this team is committed to achieving the vision of 

quality public education through innovative state schooling.

Jenny was previously Assistant Director-General (School Administration) 

until assuming the Acting Deputy Director-General role.

Neil Whittaker BComm, Cert (Civil Eng)

Assistant Director-General Shared Services

Neil Whittaker was appointed to the position of Assistant 

Director-General (Shared Services) in March 2003 after 

holding the position of Assistant Director-General 

(Resource Services) since 2001. Neil leads the Education Shared Services 

Provider, a newly created business entity delivering professional and 

corporate services within the framework of the whole-of-government 

Shared Services Initiative. 

Neil leads a team of more than 900 staff supporting the work of schools. 

Corporate service centres located across the state manage school needs in 

staffi ng and the delivery of the department’s payroll. Service centres in 

Brisbane provide the department with advice on legal and administrative 

law matters and provide fi nancial and procurement services.

Bob McHugh BA, MBA

Assistant Director-General

Planning, Resourcing and Performance

Bob McHugh has held his current position since February 

2003. He has spent his career in the department as a high 

school teacher, deputy principal, principal, Regional Executive Director 

and has held various Assistant Director-General positions.

Bob has been responsible for organisational change, school operations 

and education services.  Currently Bob is leading the strategic resourcing 

of the department to maximise outcomes through closely linked strategic 

planning, implementation and performance monitoring and reporting.

Leigh Tabrett PSM BA (Hons)

Assistant Director-General

International, Non-State and Higher Education

Leigh Tabrett PSM is responsible for the department’s 

international programs, non-state and higher education, 

and for relationships with Statutory Bodies.

Before taking up this appointment in July 2001, Leigh held the position of 

Director of the Offi ce of Higher Education. She has served on the Higher 

Education Council of the National Board of Employment, Education and 

Training, and was chair of the Council’s Equity Working Party, and a member 

of the Women’s Employment, Education and Training Advisory Group.

Leigh is chair of the MCEETYA Joint Committee on Higher Education and a 

Director of the Australian Universities Quality Agency (AUQA).  She is also 

chair of the Department’s Workforce Diversity Council and Education 

Queensland International Board.

Terry Kearney BEd, DipT

Assistant Director-General

School Administration

Terry Kearney took up his current appointment in January 2003. 

Terry has undertaken a number of roles in education including 

teacher, principal, district director, director and assistant director-general.  

Terry has led teams who have delivered Varsity College, created the 

Learning and Development Foundation, Staff Colleges and the Learning 

Place, and developed the Professional Standards for Teachers and Leaders.  

During this time, Terry created a learning framework within the organisation 

and has been instrumental in the development of productive partnerships 

with private industry, universities and parent groups.

Terry’s passion for ensuring every child in Queensland’s state schools 

receives the best possible education infl uences his current work with 

Executive Directors (Schools) to provide quality public education through 

innovative state schooling.



Department of Education Annual Report 2002–200314

Ken Rogers BEd Stud, Cert Teaching, MEdAdmin

Assistant Director-General

School Performance

Ken Rogers was appointed Assistant Director-General 

(School Performance) in January 2002. Prior to this 

appointment, Ken held positions as Assistant Director-General (Education 

Services), Assistant Director-General, Schools (Central–Southern) and 

Executive Director in the North-Western and Darling Downs regions.

Ken’s current role includes strengthening the performance focus of the 

organisation to achieve targets established in Destination 2010 and 

driving performance in schools through Executive Directors (Schools).

Ken also has strong involvement in the applicability of systems of school 

accreditation to Queensland schools, as well as school-based management 

and the direction of learning engagement centres and school sport.

Debbie Best BA, Dip Ed, BEdStud, MEdAdmin

Assistant Director-General

Curriculum, Learning and Development

In February 2003 Debbie Best was appointed to the 

position of Assistant Director-General (Curriculum, 

Learning and Development). This position was established to build 

educational curriculum leadership and to implement a learning and 

development framework linked to current and future curriculum and 

organisational priorities.

Prior to this appointment, Debbie has held the positions of Assistant 

Director-General (School Performance), Acting Deputy Director-General, 

(Department of the Premier and Cabinet), Assistant Director-General, 

Schools (Metropolitan), executive director (Wide Bay region) and district 

director (Fraser–Cooloola district).

During 2002, Debbie led the ETRF Green Paper community consultations 

and played a key role in the development of the ETRF White Paper. Debbie 

also chaired the steering committee on the development of the outcomes 

and targets of Destination 2010 and infl uenced the policy and guidelines 

in the School Improvement and Accountability Framework.

Gary Barnes BEd, Dip Teaching

Acting Assistant Director-General

Strategic Policy and Education Futures

Gary Barnes is currently acting in this position. He has spent 

his career in the department as a preschool and primary 

school teacher, deputy principal, and in various director-level positions.

Gary has played leadership roles in the areas of literacy and numeracy, 

professional development and training, the commercialisation of the 

department’s materials development function and most recently in the 

strategic leadership of ICTs and Learning.

Gary is currently leading the strategic policy development area of the 

department and has specifi c responsibility for rural and remote education 

and Indigenous education policy.

Richard Eden PhD, BSurv (Hons)

Chief Information Offi cer

Dr Richard Eden became the department’s fi rst Chief 

Information Offi cer (CIO) in June 2002, bringing with him 

broad experience in this strategic role from the Natural 

Resources and Mines portfolio.

Richard’s responsibilities include policy advice on strategic issues relating 

to the management of the department’s information resources and 

providing the drive to pull together a strategic information vision and  

multiple information and communication technology initiatives.

Scott Kessell
Director

Offi ce of the Director-General

Scott Kessell was appointed Director of the Offi ce of the 

Director-General in February 2003. Scott has several years 

experience with Education Queensland in human resource management 

design, organisational change activities and leading the implementation 

of a number of strategic workforce initiatives.

Scott’s current role is to support the Director-General through the provision 

of high level strategic advice on policy and operational issues.  He also 

coordinates information and advice between the department and the Offi ce 

of the Minister for Education including Cabinet and legislative services.

Paul Leitch BA, Grad Dip Ed, Dip Sch Couns, MEd

Director Strategic Human Resources

Paul Leitch was appointed Director of Strategic Human 

Resources in January 2002. Prior to this appointment, 

Paul held other senior positions in human resources and 

performance measurement and review.

Paul’s responsibilities include the design, development and implementation 

of human resource management and change initiatives to build a 

workforce capable of meeting current and future organisational needs. 

Paul is a member of the Board of Teacher Registration and represents the 

department on a number of state and national committees including the 

MCEETYA Taskforce on Teacher Quality and Educational Leadership.

Cathi Collier Grad Cert Man

Director

Corporate Communication and Marketing

Cathi Collier joined the department in 2002, following 

three-and-a-half years in the health portfolio and with 

extensive experience in media, government and corporate relations. 

Cathi’s role includes ensuring that education is recognised as a key driver 

of the Smart State by promoting Queensland’s education system as world 

class and state schools as providers of quality public education.

Her responsibilities also include major events such as the Showcase 

Awards for Excellence, corporate publishing and the departmental 

newspaper Education Views, as well as marketing, market research, 

media liaison and issues management.
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Highlights

Key highlights for this objective in 2002—2003:

>> as part of the Education and Training Reforms for the 

Future (ETRF), the department: 

— commenced the fi rst phase of the Preparing for School 

trial at 30 state, six Catholic and three Independent 

schools across Queensland 

— undertook consultation on the Middle Phase of 

Learning (Years 4 to 9)

— commenced trials of reforms to the Senior Phase of 

Learning in seven areas across Queensland 

— developed annual ICT plans in all state schools to 

integrate ICTs into the curriculum 

>> improved performance of Years 3, 5 and 7 state school 

students in numeracy and Year 3 state school students 

in literacy 

>> completed Curriculum Plans in all state schools 

>> continued trials of the New Basics Framework in 

59 schools across Queensland 

>> increased the proportion of Year 12 state school 

students who were OP-eligible or had a VET qualifi cation 

from 81.5 per cent in 1999 to nearly 87 per cent in 2002

>> increased the apparent Year 12 retention rate in state 

schools from 71.9 per cent in 1999 to 76.5 per cent 

in 2002

>> outperformed other states in the number of students 

commencing school-based apprenticeships and 

traineeships with more than 57 per cent of the total new 

commencements across Australia in 2002.

report on performance
Preparing young people for learning and for life
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Fundamental reforms to teaching and learning are under way 

to develop a curriculum that will prepare young people for 

learning and for life. There is a renewed focus on:

> improving student achievement in the key learning areas

> vocational education and training

> integration and skill development in information and 

communication technologies (ICTs)

> improving student pathways and transitions.

Improving student achievement
Strategy

Improving student achievement in key learning areas, 

literacy, numeracy and vocational education and training

During 2002–2003, the department strengthened its review 

and performance frameworks to establish standards for 

student achievement and accountability, disseminate 

performance information and develop effective improvement 

strategies for schools.

Literacy and numeracy performance 

In August 2002, all state school students in Years 3, 5 and 7 

participated in literacy and numeracy testing conducted by 

the Queensland Studies Authority www . Results 

demonstrated improvement in Year 3 literacy and numeracy, 

and Year 5 and Year 7 numeracy. Of the 18 possible 

curriculum area comparisons for literacy and numeracy 

achievement, eight indicated improvement between 2001 

and 2002, while nine indicated similar performance levels 

and one showed a decline in performance over that period  — 

see Figures 3 and 4. 

National benchmark performance of 
students in Years 3 and 5

National literacy and numeracy benchmarks have been 

established for all Year 3 and Year 5 students. The 

benchmarks represent essential elements of literacy and 

numeracy at a minimum acceptable standard for these Year 

levels. In 2002, approximately 92.6 per cent of Queensland’s 

Year 3 students and 83 per cent of Year 5 students achieved 

the national benchmark for reading. For numeracy, 

approximately 91.8 per cent of Queensland’s Year 3 students 

and 88.7 per cent of Year 5 students achieved the national 

benchmark. See Figures 5 and 6.

The latest Australian data indicates that in 2001 

Queensland’s benchmark performance was similar to that for 

Australia for Year 3 reading and numeracy and was slightly 

lower than that for Australia for Year 5 reading and numeracy. 

National literacy and numeracy benchmarks for Year 7 

students are currently being developed. 

To prepare young people to be active participants in community life 
and to enjoy both economic and social success.

Department of Education Strategic Plan 2002–2006

ObjectiveObjective

Preparing young people for learning and for life

Figure 5
Performance of students achieving the national benchmark 
in reading 1999–2002

  Year 3  Year 5 

Year All Queensland students Year  All Queensland students

1999 85.8% (±4.0%) 1999 80.0% (±3.0%)

2000 92.6% (±3.5%) 2000 78.5% (±3.6%)

2001 89.0% (±2.5%) 2001 83.0% (±1.6%)

2002 92.6% (±1.7%) 2002 83.0% (±1.9%)

Source: Queensland Studies Authority, and National Report on Schooling in Australia, 
Ministerial Council on Education, Employment, Training and Youth Affairs.

Figure 3
Literacy performance in state schools 1998–2002
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Note: Student test results are reported on literacy and numeracy scales with scores 
typically ranging from about 200, representing weaker performance, through to 
approximately 1200, representing stronger performance.

Figure 4
Numeracy performance in state schools 1998–2002
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Initiatives to improve achievement 
in literacy and numeracy
Literate Futures

In 2002–2003, the department provided $151 million to 

improve student literacy in state schools. Literate Futures 
www  initiatives were implemented through: 

> intervention strategies based on results of the Year 2 

Diagnostic Net www  and the Year 5 test — this includes 

learning support teachers, teacher aides and school 

initiated support

> training for school curriculum leaders in whole-school 

literacy planning and assisting schools through 21 

Learning and Development Centres (Literacy) www

> developing an innovative set of resources for the teaching 

of reading

> developing whole-school literacy strategies in each state 

school to improve student literacy and numeracy. 

Year 2 Diagnostic Net

Results of the Year 2 Diagnostic Net indicate that the majority 

of students demonstrated appropriate levels of literacy and 

numeracy for their age. In 2002, no additional support was 

required for 72.6 per cent of students in reading, 82.8 per 

cent in writing and 77.5 per cent in numeracy. The Year 2 

Diagnostic Net is effective in identifying students’ learning 

outcomes so that timely support can be provided as required. 

Reading Recovery

In 2002–2003, the department’s Reading Recovery results 

continued to improve. Support was provided for 5514 

students who experienced diffi culties in learning to read 

and write after their fi rst year of schooling. Of those who 

completed the program, 88.1 per cent were returned to their 

classroom with average or above-average reading and writing 

skills www . This was achieved within an average time of 

17 weeks and four days. These results are comparable to 

world’s best standards for this program. 

Strategic numeracy research 

In 2003, the department continued a Commonwealth-

funded, strategic numeracy research initiative. Researchers 

from Queensland universities are investigating the effects of 

learning environments and different strategies on students’ 

numeracy performance. The project is to be completed by the 

end of 2003 and the results will be used to design more 

effective numeracy programs.

Preparing young people for learning and for life

Strengthening student achievement in Years 4 to 9 

With the release of Queensland the Smart State — Education 

and Training Reforms for the Future: A White Paper, middle 

schooling was identifi ed as a priority reform area. Informed 

by public consultation and advice from the Ministerial 

Advisory Committee for Educational Renewal (MACER) the 

department is improving the middle years to ensure students 

continue to learn and achieve during Years 4 to 9.

In particular, strategies for timely and targeted intervention 

will be developed to improve literacy and numeracy skills.

Vocational education and training (VET)

Student achievement in vocational education and training 

continued to improve during 2002–2003. Data indicates that 

the number of Year 12 state school students eligible for an 

OP or who had a VET qualifi cation at the end of 2002 rose to 

nearly 87 per cent — see Figure 7. 

Supporting student achievement 
by extending staff capability 

Staff capability in supporting and improving student literacy 

has been enhanced. The online learning course 

Paraprofessionals Supporting Literacy was made available to 

all school communities through the Learning Place website. 

The course consists of self-paced modules on practices that 

support students in primary and secondary schools. The 

program is suitable for teacher aides, parents or community 

members working with children on developing literacy skills.

The Learning Place provides a range of online professional 

learning and development communities that support 

teachers in the classroom. www

Figure 7
Percentage of secondary state school students who were 
OP eligible or had a VET qualifi cation 1998–2002
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Source: Queensland Studies Authority.

Figure 6
Performance of students achieving the national 
benchmark in numeracy 2000–2002 

  Year 3  Year 5 

Year All Queensland students Year  All Queensland students

2000 91.4% (±3.2%) 2000 86.2% (±2.2%)

2001 93.4% (±1.3%) 2001 81.8% (±1.9%)

2002 91.8% (±1.5%) 2002 88.7% (±1.9%)

Source: Queensland Studies Authority, and National Report on Schooling in Australia, 
Ministerial Council on Education, Employment, Training and Youth Affairs.
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Outlook 2003–2004

The department will: 

>> work with districts and state schools to plan and 

report against systemic priorities outlined in 

Destination 2010

>> provide funding to schools to support students 

identifi ed with diffi culties in literacy and numeracy 

through the Year 2 Diagnostic Net and the Year 5 Test

>> plan and implement a program for developing 

school curriculum leadership in literacy to support 

the effective implementation of whole-school 

literacy plans in all state schools

>> develop and implement an action plan to improve 

pedagogy, participation and engagement in the 

Middle Phase of Learning.

Excellence in art

The 2002 Minister’s Awards for Excellence in Art highlighted 

the selected artwork of 46 senior students. The students came 

together for a fi ve-day workshop program in October 2002 and 

were presented with certifi cates by the Minister for Education. 

A video of the workshops was produced by the Queensland 

Art Gallery and was distributed to schools on request. The 

works were exhibited at the Queensland Art Gallery in 

February 2003. This exhibition then formed the 2003 touring 

exhibition, which began in Cairns in June 2003 and will 

continue to 10 regional centres and fi nish in September 2004.

A whole-school commitment to literacy

Teachers and parents at Mount Gravatt East State 

School share a whole-school commitment to 

improving student literacy. During National 

Literacy and Numeracy Week 2002 the school 

won an Award for Excellence and a $10 000 grant 

in recognition of its efforts.

Teachers at the school have undergone intensive 

professional development so they can fi nd new 

ways to meet the challenge of lifting student 

literacy levels. A literacy coordinator has been 

appointed to keep students and staff on track and 

the school has structured its Reading Recovery 

program to enable every child to feel a sense 

of success.

Students have demonstrated outstanding 

outcomes including improvements for Year 5 and 

Year 7 Writing and Spelling and Year 5 Reading 

and Viewing in 2002. There has also been an 

increase from 2001 to 2002 in the level of student 

satisfaction with the learning climate.

Preparing young people for learning and for life

Among the 45 student works selected for the Minister’s Awards for 
Excellence in Art in 2002 were:

1. Endangered by Renee Jackson, Mount Isa State High School

2. Series animate and inanimate by Zoe Bullock, Moreton Bay College, Brisbane

3. Inescapable conscience by Adelaide Cohalan, The Cathedral School of 
 St Anne and St James, Townsville

4. Lagow piki by Fiona Elisala, St Ursula’s College, Yeppoon

5. Negativism by Michelle Thompson, Western Cape College, Weipa.

1 2

3 4

5
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New foundations
Strategy

Developing and trialling new approaches to schooling 

before Year 1

In 2003, the department commenced a trial of a pre-Year 1, 

full-time preparatory year of schooling. Quality early childhood 

education can help children make a smooth transition through 

the early years of schooling and lays the foundation for learning.

This fi rst phase of the Preparing for School trial www  

involved more than 800 students in 30 state, six Catholic 

and three Independent schools across Queensland. The 

schools represent a diverse range of trial models, age cohorts 

and communities.

Schools participating in the trial are using the draft Early 

Years Curriculum Guidelines. The Queensland Studies 

Authority developed these Guidelines and is working 

collaboratively with the department’s Early Childhood 

Education Unit to refi ne the draft Early Years Learning and 

Development Framework. Ongoing professional development 

and support for teachers, teacher aides and administrators 

was also provided to all trial schools.

The Minister for Education commissioned an Early Education 

Reference Group to provide strategic advice on early 

education issues. The Reference Group consists of key 

stakeholders from early childhood education, the childcare 

industry and the broader community. In addition, the Joint 

Community Kindergarten Consultative Committee and the 

Child Care Consultative Committee provide forums for 

consultation on the effects of the reforms on a range of early 

education and care services. 

An external evaluation of the trial will help the department 

make decisions on: 

> the most appropriate age for children to start full-time 

schooling in Queensland

> the most effective curriculum and pedagogy for the 

preparatory year

> appropriate resourcing, both human and physical, to 

implement a preparatory year.

Early feedback from trial schools indicated an improvement 

in children’s disposition to learning and their ability to 

acquire and apply a range of early literacy and numeracy 

understandings. The trial will be completed at the end of the 

2005 school year.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> commence the second phase of the Preparing for 

School trial in 2004 at an additional 20 state, four 

Catholic and one Independent school sites 

>> monitor and analyse data to inform strategic 

planning around the implementation of a 

preparatory year of schooling.

Supporting kindergartens
Strategy 

Supporting community kindergartens

Support to community kindergartens is provided through the 

department’s Community Kindergarten Assistance Scheme. 

The department offers funding, policy advice, coordination 

and consultation to ensure that this quality early childhood 

education is available to Queensland children.

During 2002–2003, $25.7 million in capital and recurrent 

funding was distributed to the Creche and Kindergarten 

Association of Queensland for more than 330 community 

kindergartens. 

The department also reviewed its service level agreement 

with the Creche and Kindergarten Association of 

Queensland. This resulted in continued support for 

community kindergarten programs, and an investigation 

of more equitable distribution of funding through a new 

allocation methodology. 

The department continued to work with the Creche and 

Kindergarten Association of Queensland to investigate 

the effects of a preparatory year on the community 

kindergarten sector and to plan for services in areas of 

high educational need.

Community kindergartens receive funding from the department 

and are licensed through the Department of Families. 

Ongoing collaboration between the department’s Early 

Childhood Education Unit and the Department of Families’ 

Child Care Unit ensures cohesive support of the sector. 

Preparing young people for learning and for life

Preparing for School trial at Inala 

Two permanent part-time teachers take the 

preparatory class at Inala State School. They 

share a common philosophy and commitment to 

early childhood education. Twenty-two students 

were selected for the preparatory year class, 

which caters for the youngest students eligible to 

enter Year 1 and the older half of the proposed 

preschool group. The children attend school 

regularly and, in contrast to usual patterns, the 

attrition rate has been low.

The teachers have observed that the children in 

the preparatory class are:

>> becoming increasingly independent,   

confi dent, active learners

>> making considered choices

>> solving problems through experimentation, 

dialogue and role-play

>> using complex language.
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Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> support community kindergartens through funding

>> collaborate with the Creche and Kindergarten 

Association of Queensland to plan for the provision 

of pre-preparatory services in areas of high 

education need.

Curriculum for the future
Strategy

Implementing curriculum renewal activities

In 2002–2003, the department continued signifi cant 

curriculum renewal initiatives to ensure that young people 

develop skills for active citizenship and lifelong learning. 

A range of activities in the areas of curriculum planning and 

development, and pedagogy and assessment are being 

undertaken in schools, district offi ces and central offi ce.

Planning school curriculum

One of the cornerstones of Queensland State Education — 

2010 (QSE—2010) is to develop a curriculum for the future. 

The Years 1–10 Curriculum Framework www
 defi nes the 

approach to core learnings and associated pedagogy, 

assessment and reporting for all students in state schools in 

Years 1–10. In 2002–2003, all state schools completed 

comprehensive Curriculum Plans to refl ect and respond to 

the educational needs of students in their local area. These 

Curriculum Plans incorporated actions to implement the 

Years 1–10 Curriculum Framework, Queensland Studies 

Authority syllabuses and specifi c planning to integrate 

literacy and ICTs. 

Implementing new syllabuses 

A total of $1.4 million supported the implementation of new 

syllabuses that enhance consistency in learning experiences 

in Years 1–10 across Queensland state schools. The phased 

implementation of Science, Health and Physical Education, 

and Languages other than English (LOTE) was completed in 

all schools (except those involved in the New Basics trials) 

and support continued for curriculum planning using 

syllabuses in Studies of Society and Environment (SOSE) 

and The Arts — see Figure 8.

Satisfaction with the curriculum

Overall satisfaction with the school curriculum continued to 

increase in 2002 with 83.2 per cent of primary and secondary 

state school parents, 79.4 per cent of state primary school 

students and 63 per cent of state secondary school students 

satisfi ed with what was being learnt at school — see Figure 9.

Figure 9
State school parents’ and students’ satisfaction with the 
school curriculum 1998–2002 

Trialling the New Basics Framework

The trial of the New Basics Framework www  entered its 

fourth year in 38 Phase I schools and its third year in 21 

Phase II schools. The purpose of these trials is to explore the 

effectiveness of an integrated framework for curriculum, 

pedagogy and assessment to improve student engagement 

with learning.

In 2002–2003, the department developed detailed standards 

of performance for each of the 20 Rich Tasks and a moderation 

strategy to assist teachers to assess and report on student 

performance. These ensure the quality of student work is 

consistent with, and comparable across, a range of schools. 

The research program associated with the trial will conclude 

in April 2004. Students in trial schools will continue to work 

within the New Basics Framework as the Rich Tasks are 

reviewed and renewed to ensure their currency and relevance.

Preparing young people for learning and for life

Figure 8
Status of new syllabus implementation 2002–2003

Syllabus Commenced Schools to use new syllabus by 

Years 1—10 Science 1999 January 2003 

Years 1—10 Studies of 
Society and Environment 
(SOSE) 

2001 July 2004

Years 4—10 Languages 
other than English (LOTE)

2000 January 2003 

Years 1—10 Health and 
Physical Education 

1999 January 2003 

Years 1—10 The Arts 2002 January 2006 

Years 1—10 Technology 2003 January 2007 

Note: Planning for the implementation of new syllabuses in Mathematics and 
English will commence in 2004 with schools expected to be using these syllabuses 
in curriculum planning by 2008.

Note: The percentage satisfi ed on the graph includes the proportion of those surveyed 
who indicated that they were either satisfi ed or very satisfi ed. The percentage of 
parents and students who were dissatisfi ed or who had a neutral view is not directly 
represented on this graph.
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Improving assessment and reporting practices 

As a result of recommendations from the Assessment and 

Reporting Taskforce, workshops on assessment were 

provided for schools, district teams and more than 25 per 

cent of classroom teachers. These workshops ensure that 

mechanisms for assessing students’ performance and 

reporting outcomes align with pedagogy. Participants 

commented that the workshops provided schools with 

practical tools for assessment.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will: 

>> implement new Years 1–10 syllabuses in Technology

>> report to parents of students in Years 3, 6 and 9 in 

New Basics Phase I schools on students’ 

performance on the Rich Tasks assessed against 

statewide standards

>> evaluate the trial of the New Basics to determine 

the future use of the framework.

ICT access, integration and skill 
development
Strategy

Promoting access, integration and skill development in 

the area of information and communication technology

ICTs for Learning
To ensure all young people develop skills to sustain 

lifelong learning and active citizenship, schools must allow 

young people to access and use technologies purposefully 

and critically. 

In 2002–2003, the department launched ICTs for Learning 
www

 — a three-year transition strategy to assist 

Queensland state schools to integrate ITCs into teaching, 

learning and the curriculum. This strategy forms part of the 

Queensland Government’s Education and Training Reforms 

for the Future package.

During the fi rst year of the strategy, a framework for ICTs in 

education was established. A set of benchmarks and six key 

ICT drivers were developed against which schools can audit 

their performance. By the end of the 2005 school year, all 

state schools will be expected to measure their progress in 

integrating ICTs in the curriculum. 

All state schools developed annual plans to further integrate 

ICTs across the curriculum and to improve students’ ICT 

literacy skills.

Overall satisfaction with computer skills continued to 

increase in 2002 with 65.3 per cent of state primary school 

students and 50.2 per cent of state secondary school 

students satisfi ed with the computer skills they were gaining 

at school. Also, 67.5 per cent of parents were satisfi ed that 

the school was developing their child’s computer skills and 

73.7 per cent were satisfi ed that their child was confi dent 

using a computer — see Figure 10.

Rewarding innovation in schools

In 2002–2003, the department distributed $830 000 in ICT 

Innovator Grants to support 40 ICT projects in schools. 

Projects focused on increasing access to ICTs for under-

represented groups such as girls, Indigenous students and 

students with disabilities, and extending school and 

community links through school extranets. 

Promoting and rewarding teacher excellence in ICTs

The ICTs for Learning Teacher Awards recognise teacher 

excellence in integrating and using ICTs in the curriculum to 

improve student learning. In its fi rst year, 36 teachers 

received awards and a further 30 teachers were highly 

commended. In addition, 34 teachers were recognised for 

stimulating signifi cant improvement in their schools.

Providing opportunities to observe best practice can help 

teachers adopt technology into their lessons. This has been 

facilitated by: 

> establishing an online database of exemplars of ICT 

curriculum integration including detailed examples of 

classroom activities and peer review of ICT curriculum 

resources

> extending the Minimum Standards for Teachers — 

Learning Technology into a draft Information and 

Communication Technologies Continua to enhance 

professional development in the use of ICTs.

Girls and ICTs Framework for Action 

The Girls and ICTs Framework for Action was launched in May 

2003 to ensure girls have access to ICTs and are confi dent 

and competent with their use. A Queensland Girls and ICTs 

Reference Committee was developed to increase girls’ 

engagement with ICTs and to extend existing partnerships 

and collaboration on a variety of projects. 

Figure 10
State school parents’ and students’ satisfaction with 
computer skills 1998–2002 

Preparing young people for learning and for life
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Curriculum online cross-government initiative

The department is an active participant in The Le@rning 

Federation — an initiative of state and Commonwealth 

governments in Australia and New Zealand to develop an 

online interactive curriculum.

Queensland contributed $2.02 million (with a further 

commitment of $3.9 million over the next four years) to 

create online curriculum in six priority areas — science, 

mathematics and numeracy, literacy for students at risk, 

languages other than English, studies of Australia, and 

innovation, enterprise and creativity. The fi rst round of 

science resources for trial in schools was released in 2003. 

Access to online interactive learning resources is provided to 

students and teachers through the Curriculum Exchange.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will: 

>> conduct fi ve regional conferences on integrating 

ICTs into the school curriculum

>> develop a short course on ICT curriculum 

integration for delivery in universities, schools and 

other educational centres

>> produce a series of booklets for teachers describing 

approaches to ICT curriculum integration in 

Queensland including practical examples

>> continue grant programs to support school ICT 

access, innovation and support.

Improving pathways
Strategy

Improving pathways and transitions

Queensland is continuing to improve its Year 12 retention 

rate. The apparent Years 8 to 12 retention rates in state 

schools increased from 71.9 per cent in 1999 to 76.5 per 

cent in 2002 — see statistical snapshot 3 page 7. Through 

reforms to the Senior Phase of Learning, enhancements to 

VET in schools and school-based apprenticeship and 

traineeships, pathways and transitions will be strengthened.

Reforming the Senior Phase of Learning 

In November 2002, the Queensland Government released 

Queensland the Smart State — Education and Training 

Reforms for the Future: A White Paper, outlining the 

Government’s policy direction for education and training. 

The reforms include the reshaping of post-compulsory 

education into the Senior Phase of Learning. Following 

Year 10, young people will have more learning opportunities, 

greater fl exibility and more support as they work towards 

achieving a Senior Certifi cate or Certifi cate III vocational 

qualifi cation or obtain full-time employment. Legislation to 

support these reforms will be introduced by 2006. 

The reforms contained in the White Paper followed a 

comprehensive process of consultation over fi ve months with 

almost 8000 stakeholders.

From July 2003, the Senior Phase of Learning reforms will be 

trialled in seven areas across Queensland involving more 

than 200 state and non-state schools, 12 TAFE institutes, 

and industry and community groups. Trials will include:

> working with Year 10 students and their parents to 

develop Senior Education and Training Plans

> registering these students with the Queensland 

Studies Authority

> developing and implementing District Youth Achievement 

Plans — the plans will identify the learning needs of 

young people in the local area, set local priorities and 

identify strategies to better meet the needs of young 

people in the area

> implementing local initiatives to improve the 

participation, retention and attainment levels of 

15- to 17-year-olds

> exploring how to use existing resources more effectively.

In addition, the Queensland Studies Authority will 

investigate changing the Senior Certifi cate to record a 

broader range of learning. This will take effect for students 

beginning Year 10 in 2006. 

Participating in vocational education and training 

The VET in Schools program is an important part of the 

Government’s strategy to expand and improve the choice of 

pathways for students. VET students are able to combine 

practical and academic studies through this program. This 

benefi ts both students and employees because students 

have a better combination of practical and theoretical skill. 

Queensland has continued to perform strongly in providing 

a range of VET options for young people in schools. In 2002, 

35 030 students from state secondary schools were enrolled 

in VET in Schools programs. This participation rates the 

highest in the industry areas of business and clerical, 

tourism and hospitality, and engineering and mining. 

Structured workplace learning is a key component of VET 

in Schools programs and provides students with the 

opportunity to get on-the-job training and experience. 

In 2002, 14 389 students from state secondary schools 

participated in structured workplace learning. 

School-based apprenticeships and traineeships

Queensland is ahead of other states in the number of 

students commencing school-based apprenticeships and 

traineeships with more than 57 per cent of the total new 

commencements in Australia in 2002 (Source: National Data 

on Participation in VET in Schools Programs for the 2002 

School Year prepared by the MCEETYA Taskforce on Transition 

from School). In 2002, 3535 state secondary school students 

commenced a school-based apprenticeship or traineeship, 

an increase of 14 per cent from 2001 — see Figure 11. 

The industry areas of sales and personal services, tourism 

and hospitality, and business and clerical continued to show 

the highest levels of participation. Students also continued 

to engage in school-based apprenticeships and traineeships 

in the skill shortage areas of automotive and food processing 

and in the emerging area of aged care.

Preparing young people for learning and for life
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Helping students make informed decisions 
on transitions

During Semester 1, 2003, 17 schools were involved in a 

national trial of the Play Real Game in Year 3 and Year 4 and 

the Get Real Game in Year 11 and 12. More than 90 state 

primary and secondary schools are using the program. The 

Real Game series www  is a life and career education 

resource that introduces students to the world of work and 

helps them understand the relevance of their school studies.

Figure 11
School-based apprenticeship and traineeship new 
commencements from state schools 1998–2002

Source: Department of Employment and Training.

Note: Apprenticeship and traineeship annual commencement data is derived from 
registrations with the Department of Employment and Training.
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Queensland leads Australia in the number of students commencing school-based 
apprenticeships and traineeships.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will: 

>> continue to implement reforms to the Senior Phase 

of Learning through trials across the state

>> implement legislation to support reforms to the 

Senior Phase of Learning.
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Preparing for life with a 
school-based traineeship

Lachlea Bolton attends Kirwan State High School and 

is completing a school-based traineeship in 

Certifi cate II in Animal Studies. Lachlea attends 

school for four days and studies four subjects. Each 

Wednesday and Saturday she works at Greencross 

Veterinarians. Her fl exible timetable allows her to 

participate in on-the-job training and to study for her 

Senior Certifi cate.

Lachlea said completing a Certifi cate II in Animal 

Studies was the fi rst step to achieving her dream 

career. Combining school studies with work and 

training can be hard at times but she puts in the 

effort and has the support of her teachers.

She said the most important thing she has learnt is 

that if you really want to achieve your goal it is up to 

you to stay focused, committed and passionate.
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report on performance
Meeting students’ educational needs

Highlights 

Key highlights for this objective in 2002–2003:

>> issued Certifi cates of Post-compulsory School Education 

to approximately 180 students from 63 trial schools 

across Queensland

>> commenced implementing the seven recommendations 

contained in the report Educating Children and Young 

People in the Care of the State.

>> prepared a fi ve-year capital works facilities plan for 

students with disabilities

>> supported the whole-of-government response to the 

Cape York Justice Study, Meeting Challenges, 

Making Choices

>> achieved a ratio of one computer to 4.2 students for 

Years 8–12, exceeding the target of one computer to 

fi ve students  

>> allocated more than $34 million to subsidise 

airconditioning in 94 state schools and $1.88 million 

to non-state schools

>> contributed to the Commonwealth Review of Higher 

Education to ensure the sustainability of a quality 

national system of higher education

>> implemented a quality assurance system to improve the 

effi ciency and effectiveness of accreditation processes for 

private providers of higher education in Queensland.
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All Queensland students deserve to have access to the best 

possible educational opportunities. A major focus for the 

department is to ensure the educational needs of all 

students are met. This was achieved in 2002–2003 by 

offering diverse learning programs, introducing technological 

advancements, creating fl exible learning processes, and 

informing and working with Commonwealth authorities to 

meet these needs.

Improving services and programs for all 
our students
Strategy

Providing services and programs to meet the needs of 

all students including those at educational risk, those 

in the care of the state, Indigenous students, students 

with disabilities, and students with special needs 

Students at educational risk

The Education and Training Reforms for the Future package 

emphasises a commitment to supporting young people at 

risk of disengaging from learning. This includes providing 

more options and fl exibility for young people as well as 

giving additional support to those in need. In addition to 

these reforms, the department implemented the following 

targeted strategies during 2002–2003 to address the needs 

of students at risk.

> Framework for Students at Educational Risk: 

The framework targets students who underachieve or 

disengage from school. It aims to integrate activities 

across all levels to improve outcomes for students at 

educational risk. Initiatives launched under this 

framework included:

– The Boys, Gender and Schooling initiative: A website 

was designed to provide strategies to improve boys’ 

learning and to support other gender equity strategies 

— http://education.qld.gov.au/students/advocacy/

equity/gender-sch/

– The Pregnant and Parenting Students initiative: 

In collaboration with the Association of Women 

Educators, the department provided funding to 

support pregnant and parenting students.

> Bullying. No Way! website (www.bullyingnoway.com.au): 

This national website provides school communities with 

information about relevant issues, resources, school 

practices and networking opportunities likely to 

contribute to developing safe, supportive and respectful 

school environments.

> Alternative Schooling: The department continued to 

support a wide range of fl exible learning options for 

students at risk of disengaging from school. These 

programs included fi ve, fully state-funded, alternative 

schooling sites throughout Queensland, as well as others 

supported to varying degrees by departmental grants. 

Some programs operate in partnership with councils, local 

community groups, churches or other government agencies. 

A number of non-state alternative schooling sites utilise 

Brisbane School of Distance Education programs and 

teacher support for their students.

> Refugee Student Support Program: The department 

partnered with the Queensland Program of Assistance 

to Survivors of Torture and Trauma (QPASTT) to support 

refugee students. Greenslopes State School employed a 

full-time teacher and two bilingual teacher aides to 

support the English as a Second Language program for 

newly arrived refugee students. An arts therapist also 

assisted students to work through a process of recovery. 

The department supports QPASTT social and youth 

workers involved in specifi c programs at Sunnybank, 

Yeronga and Milpera State High Schools, which have 

large enrolments of refugee students.

The department also contributed to a range of cross-

government initiatives in schools that support students at 

educational risk. These include:

Queensland Government Suicide Prevention 
Strategy 2003–2008

The suicide prevention strategy focuses on professional 

development, management and referral processes, mental 

health promotion and support to assist in suicide prevention. 

The MindMatters program promotes resilience in young 

people by employing a whole-school approach to mental 

health and suicide prevention. It aims to develop school 

environments where young people feel safe, valued, 

engaged and purposeful.

Queensland School Drug Education Strategy www

The department supports the cross-sectoral drug education 

strategy through a drug education website and the Reaching 

Out newsletter for administrators, teachers, parents and 

community members. These support materials help staff to 

develop and implement appropriate policies, procedures and 

curriculum to facilitate drug education in schools.

Responding to homelessness

The department participates in the coordinated Queensland 

Government response to homelessness. The department will 

identify and implement practices within schools that enable 

young people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness 

to continue their education and training.

To ensure young people have access to a range of high-quality 
education experiences that meet their diverse learning needs

Department of Education Strategic Plan 2002–2006

ObjectiveObjective

Meeting students’ educational needs
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Behaviour in schools

A key policy focus for the department is supporting improved 

behaviour management in schools. In 2002, satisfaction with 

students’ behaviour at school improved with 56.9 per cent of 

parents satisfi ed with the behaviour of students at their 

child’s school compared with 55.4 per cent in 2001— see 

Figure 12. Primary students’ satisfaction was maintained at 

37.9 per cent in 2002. Secondary students’ satisfaction 

increased from 29.6 per cent in 2001 to 30.6 per cent in 

2002. These results, while improving slightly, highlighted the 

need for the department to further implement strategies 

targeting behaviour management, and underline the 

importance of engaging more young people through fl exible 

learning options.

Behaviour management has been supported by:

> implementing the Management of Behaviour in a 

Supportive School Environment policy

> providing $1.8 million in behaviour management 

support grants

> assisting with school behaviour management plans

> continuing to employ 310 behaviour management 

specialists to support teachers in schools

> district and school-based professional development 

activities in behaviour management.

School disciplinary absences

At the beginning of term 4, 2002, a new behaviour 

management data collection system was introduced into 

state schools to monitor the level of school disciplinary 

absences by underlying reason. The system records the 

number of short suspensions (1–5 days), long suspensions 

(6–20 days) and the number of recommendations for 

exclusions — see Appendixes 11a and 11b. These 

appendixes provide the number of incidents of disciplinary 

absences and the average rate per thousand students per 

term, by absence reason group.

School support for children and young people in care

Shared responsibility across government departments is 

critical to achieving improved educational and social 

outcomes for children and young people in care. The 

Department of Education and the Department of Families 

launched a joint $1.6 million per annum commitment, 

commencing in 2003–2004, to fund the core educational 

costs for children and young people in care. This will improve 

access to resources and core equipment to help students 

reach their full potential. The departments will also:

> collaboratively develop a partnership agreement to clarify 

their roles in improving educational outcomes

> monitor and report on the educational achievements of 

children in long-term care

> raise awareness regarding responsibilities and 

accountabilities for improved educational outcomes.

The department has commenced implementing the seven 

recommendations contained in the report, Educating 

Children and Young People in the Care of the State.

Improving services and programs for 
Indigenous students

Partners for Success is the key strategy for improving 

outcomes for Indigenous students. Achievements and 

partnerships to improve outcomes for Indigenous students 

during 2002–2003 are addressed in ‘Working in partnerships 

to improve student learning’ — see page 41.

Cape York Justice Study

During 2002–2003 the department supported the whole-of-

government response to the Cape York Justice Study — 

Meeting Challenges, Making Choices — and is now 

developing more appropriate curriculum strategies to help 

Indigenous students engage in learning.

Key initiatives under Meeting Challenges, Making Choices 

include:

> working with relevant community justice groups, 

community councils and other agencies to develop 

localised strategies to improve attendance rates

> promoting education through a number of activities 

including regular features in corporate publications and 

sponsorship of events and programs with high Indigenous 

participation and interest

> facilitating the provision of meal programs where 

appropriate and supported by the local Indigenous 

community, and ensuring that nutrition is a focus within 

the school curriculum

> implementing curriculum that meets the social and 

cultural needs of Indigenous families and communities.

Indigenous Education and Training Alliance (IETA)

IETA offers professional development and training 

opportunities to Education Queensland staff and members 

of the school community to improve the educational and 

employment outcomes of Indigenous students. During 

2002–2003, through IETA, more than:

> seven hundred Indigenous education workers undertook 

professional development programs

Meeting students’ educational needs

Figure 12
State school parents’ and students’ satisfaction with 
behaviour in school 1998–2002

Note: The percentage satisfi ed on the graph includes the proportion of those surveyed 
who indicated that they were either satisfi ed or very satisfi ed. The percentage of 
parents and students who were dissatisfi ed or had a neutral view is not represented 
on this graph.
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> three hundred teachers, police and health workers placed 

in remote Indigenous communities were given high 

quality induction programs

> fi ve hundred teachers and other Education Queensland 

staff undertook cross-cultural awareness programs

> two thousand teachers accessed Fostering English 

Language in the Kimberleys (FELIKS), Walking Talking Text, 

How English Works, and other English-as-a-second-

language pedagogy programs

> fi fteen hundred Education Queensland staff participated 

in micro-skilling and classroom profi ling programs dealing 

with behaviour management.

Partnership through sports and education

Sport is being used to improve school attendance and 

participation rates for Indigenous students. The Partnership 

through Sports and Education program encourages schools 

to build partnerships with Indigenous communities by 

coordinating sporting activities using school resources. 

The program is a joint initiative between the department, 

the Australian Sports Commission and 12 of Queensland’s 

peak sporting bodies. It involves schools in south-east 

Queensland together with rural and remote communities and 

is a whole-of-government approach based on the key 

principles of sustainability and community ownership.

Students with disabilities

The State Government is committed to ensuring all students 

enjoy equal access to quality educational resources and 

services. There are a number of programs and services 

tailored to meet the educational needs of students with 

disabilities. These are offered through primary and 

secondary schools as well as through 288 special education 

units, 139 special education classes, 34 developmental 

programs, 221 cluster schools for physical impairment and 

47 special schools.

From Semester 1 2003, this support was strengthened by 

the employment of an additional 173 teachers and the 

allocation of 4186 additional teacher-aide hours per week for 

special education programs. This level of additional support 

for students with disabilities included the fi rst stage of the 

Government’s $55 million commitment over four years.

Activities associated with the Seven Point Plan — A Better 

Deal for Students with Disabilities also improved services 

and support for students with disabilities during 2002–2003. 

These included:

> supporting a Ministerial Taskforce on Inclusive Education 

(Students with Disabilities) which advised the Minister on 

ways to improve educational services for students with 

disabilities, learning diffi culties, behaviour problems, and 

students at risk

> coordinating learning and development activities through 

the Staff College — Inclusive Education to enhance staff 

capability in supporting students with diverse learning 

and social needs www

> issuing Certifi cates of Post-compulsory School Education 

that recognised, for the purposes of employment or 

further training, the achievements of approximatley 180 

students with special needs and students in special 

schools from 63 trial schools across Queensland. 

The department has also:

> established a new Learning and Development Centre 

(Information and Communication Technologies — 

Students with Disabilities) that provides professional 

development for specialist staff in the use of technology 

for students with disabilities

> reviewed existing transport assistance for students 

with disabilities in consultation with key stakeholders. 

A number of changes are being trialled in selected 

districts, and a comprehensive submission for changes to 

the policy and practices is anticipated in term 4, 2003

> completed capital works projects for special education 

facilities at a cost of $7.9 million.

New partnership arrangements with community service 

providers have assisted students with disabilities in 

non-state schools — see page 31.

Learning diffi culties

The department helped students experiencing learning 

diffi culties by:

> providing learning support teachers in secondary schools 

with online information, strategies and materials to 

identify and support students in the middle and senior 

phases of schooling who are experiencing learning 

diffi culties

> implementing recommendations from the report Attention 

Defi cit Hyperactivity Disorder: Impact and Implications for 

Queensland www  

> contributing to the Ministerial Taskforce on Inclusive 

Education through the learning diffi culties/disabilities 

sub-committee.

Gifted and talented students
During 2002–2003, the department endorsed the 

recommendations contained in the report, Expanding 

Possible Futures: A Review of Education Queensland’s Policy 

on the Education of Gifted Students in Queensland Schools. 

Recommendations included:

> integrating education for gifted students into current 

policy initiatives

> informing Queensland educators of the range of 

provisions currently available to identify, extend and 

accelerate learning 

> disseminating research and classroom resources relating 

to gifted education

> rewriting the existing policy to emphasise accountability 

measures.

The report acknowledged the expertise available in the eight 

Learning and Development Centres (Gifted and Talented). 

These centres together with a working party will play a key 

role in implementing recommendations from the report.

Meeting students’ educational needs
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Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> commence planning and construction of special 

education facilities at 45 schools as part of the 

$50 million, fi ve-year program to upgrade special 

education facilities

>> increase funding for students with disabilities 

under a seven point plan to $11 million in 

2003–2004, $16.5 million in 2004–2005 and 

$22 million in 2005–2006

>> fund, through the Education and Training Reforms 

for the Future grants program, innovative local 

responses for young people at risk of disengaging 

from learning

>> improve access and participation for children in 

care by further implementing recommendations 

from the Educating Children and Young People in 

the Care of the State report that help to identify 

and contribute to meeting their education costs

>> support training programs delivered by IETA to 

equip teachers with the resources and skills 

necessary to teach Indigenous students who use 

English as a second language

>> expand the Indigenous Sports Development 

program from 12 to 15 sporting bodies

>> implement the recommendations from 

Expanding Possible Futures: A Review of Education 

Queensland’s Policy on the Education of Gifted 

Students in Queensland Schools

>> contribute to Meeting Challenges, Making Choices 

by supporting ongoing cross-government 

initiatives and community capacity building.

Creating safe, supportive and diverse 
learning environments
Strategy

Improving school learning environments and facilities

School learning environments and facilities

Safe and supportive school environments enhance student 

achievement and improve teacher morale. Parent and 

student satisfaction with school safety is a key measure of 

performance. Figure 13 shows that primary students’ 

satisfaction with safety at school increased during the past 

fi ve years from 73.2 per cent in 1998 to 76.5 per cent in 

2002. In 2002, 59.2 per cent of secondary students felt 

safe at school and parents’ satisfaction has remained over 

80 per cent since 1998. 

Meeting students’ educational needs

Figure 14
New facilities in 2002–2003

Figure 13
State school parents’ and students’ satisfaction with safety 
at school 1998–2002

Note: The percentage satisfi ed on the graph includes the proportion of those surveyed 
who indicated that they were either satisfi ed or very satisfi ed. The percentage of 
parents and students who were dissatisfi ed or had a neutral view is not represented 
on this graph.
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Upper 
Coomera 
State College 
(P–8)

Bentley Park College

Centenary State High School

Flagstone State Community College 

Forest Lake State High School

Narangba Valley 
State High School

North Lakes State College

Pacifi c Pines State High School

Pacifi c Pines State School 

Tamborine Mountain 
State High School

Tannum Sands State High School

Varsity College

Woodcrest College 

Hercules Road State 
Preschool Centre

Glenella State 
Preschool Centre

Upper Coomera State 
College Preschool

During 2002–2003 the department undertook a number of 

initiatives to strengthen its commitment to providing a safe 

and supportive learning environment. This included:

> developing a school security policy

> developing new security design guidelines

> extending the distribution of School Watch educational 

and promotional materials through Security Advisors

> establishing a consultative group with the Police Arson 

Squad to exchange information, analyse incidents and 

trends and develop strategies for managing arson.

New facilities

More than $240.3 million was allocated in the 2002–2003 

Capital Works Program, resulting in more than 105 additional 

classrooms at existing schools and a new preschool at Upper 

Coomera and a second preschool at Hercules Road State School 

— see Figure 14. 

29
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Upgrading and maintaining facilities

Improvements to existing facilities occurred through the 

following initiatives.

Triple R maintenance program

$50 million has been allocated over three years from 

2001–2002 to 2003–2004 as part of the Triple R 

maintenance program to repaint schools, replace 

deteriorated roofi ng and improve water reticulation systems. 

In 2002–2003, approximately 340 state schools benefi ted 

from this program at a cost of more than $15 million. Upon 

completion of the program in June 2004, facilities in more 

than 800 state schools will have been improved.

Secondary Schools Renewal program

The Secondary Schools Renewal program has refurbished 

facilities established before 1975 and constructed new 

signature buildings at these schools. The program 

encompassed 63 of the state’s older secondary schools. 

Work was completed, or is due for completion, at 16 schools 

at a cost of $38 million in 2002–2003.

Cooler Schools

The Cooler Schools initiative is detailed in ‘Delivering to the 

Outback’ on page 33.

Increasing ICT access

Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) play an 

important role in education as a tool for thinking, learning 

and communicating. The implementation of the ICTs for 

Learning strategy www , a component of the Education and 

Training Reforms for the Future, resulted in improved ICT 

services and support for schools. During 2002–2003:

> seven hundred and thirty classrooms (375 primary and 

355 secondary) were cabled to provide access to the 

Internet for more than 18 000 (9250 primary and 8750 

secondary) students

> thirteen thousand new computers were purchased under 

a bulk procurement process that provided schools with 

cheaper computer systems

> implementation of the curriculum Standard Operating 

Environment (SOE) commenced to allow remote support and 

reduce technical support requirements — approximately 

250 schools are operating in this new environment.

Student-to-computer ratios

The department made a commitment to replace 19 400 of the 

oldest school computers between 2002 and 2005. To date, 

13 000 have been purchased to further improve the department’s 

student-to-computer ratios. The department achieved a 

student-to-computer ratio of one computer to every 4.2 students 

in Years 8–12, exceeding the target of one computer to fi ve 

students. The overall ratio for Years 3–12 is currently one 

computer to every 5.2 students, nearing the target ratio of 1:5.

Access to computers

Since 1998 parents and students have been increasingly 

satisfi ed with access to computers. In 2002, 66 per cent of 

parents and 55 per cent of primary students were satisfi ed 

with access to computers at school. Similarly, 57 per cent of 

secondary students were satisfi ed with the opportunities to 

use computers at school. These satisfaction levels refl ect an 

increase of between 8 and 12 per cent of students’ and 

parents’ satisfaction with access to computers at school 

since 1998 — see Figure 15.

Meeting students’ educational needs

The department is committed to providing safe and supportive school environments 
that enhance student achievement.
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Data services

During 2002–2003 the department commenced EdNet — 

the replacement and upgrade of the enterprise data network 

that connects schools across the state. EdNet consists of four 

components — Internet access, carriage services, Managed 

Internet Services (MIS) and facilities management. Increasing 

the number of local area networks (LAN) in schools 

maximises student and staff access to the information 

services available through EdNet.

The department is leading other Australian educational 

systems with the implementation of its new MIS in May and 

June 2003. MIS now provides a wide range of Internet 

services to all state schools with more than 559 000 email 

accounts established for teachers, students and parents and 

citizens’ associations throughout the state. MIS enables:

> Internet access for all staff and students in schools across 

a private network

> content-fi ltered web browsing that can be customised by 

individual schools

> website hosting for schools, staff and students 

(2000 websites)

> antivirus protection that detects and destroys up to 

89 000 viruses a month.

Supporting diverse learning environments 
Assisting students in non-state education

The Education and Training Reforms for the Future initiatives 

heralded a new level of cooperation and collaboration 

between the department and non-state schooling bodies. 

New partnership arrangements have been formed between 

the department, state schools and non-state schools that 

extend opportunities for young people. Non-state schools are 

participating in the trial of a full-time preparatory year of 

schooling and reforms to the Senior Phase of Learning, and 

are strongly represented on reference groups and working 

parties informing the reform initiatives. Collaboration is also 

continuing through the following programs.

Recurrent funding

The department distributed general recurrent funding to 

support the education of approximately 193 000 students in 

446 non-state schools throughout Queensland. In 2002–

2003, a total of $261.4 million was distributed to non-state 

schools based on a per capita allocation (77.5 per cent) and 

a needs-based component (22.5 per cent) — see Figure 16. 

The needs-based component is determined according to the 

school’s Commonwealth Education Resources Index; 

Commonwealth socioeconomic status score; school 

isolation; the number of students with disabilities, English as 

a second language, or Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

backgrounds; and the number of students receiving boarding 

fee concessions. New options for determining the needs-

based component were explored in 2002–2003 and will be 

further investigated in 2003–2004.

Capital funding

Capital assistance is provided to assist non-state schools 

to meet their infrastructure requirements. In 2002–2003, 

total capital assistance allocated to non-state schools was 

$26.314 million — see Figure 16. This funding was 

administered by two capital assistance authorities (CAAs) — 

the Queensland Catholic Capital Assistance Authority and the 

Independent Schools of Queensland Block Grant Authority. 

Capital assistance was provided through: 

> the Capital Assistance Scheme ($22.041 million)

> the External Infrastructure Subsidy Scheme ($2.393 million)

> the Cooler Schools program ($1.88 million).

Annually, each CAA provides recommendations to the 

Minister on capital assistance applications for various projects.

Support for students with disabilities

The department, through the Offi ce of Non-State Education, 

provides assistance for students with disabilities through the 

general recurrent grant, disabilities initiatives funding and 

support for the following community organisations:

> Autism Queensland

> The Centre Education Program

> The Association for Childhood Language and 

Related Disorders

> Noah’s Ark Resource Centre

> Royal Queensland Bush Children’s Health Scheme

> Specifi c Education Learning Diffi culties Queensland

> Spina Bifi da Hydrocephalus Queensland.

Over the next four years, an additional $5 million will be 

distributed through the Queensland Catholic Education 

Commission and the Association of Independent Schools of 

Queensland to support educational services for students with a 

disability in non-state schools. 

Meeting students’ educational needs

Figure 15
State school parents’ and students’ satisfaction with access 
to computers 1998–2002

Note: The percentage satisfi ed includes the proportion of those surveyed who 
indicated that they were either satisfi ed or very satisfi ed. The percentage of parents 
and students who were dissatisfi ed or had a neutral view is not represented on 
this graph.
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Other funding

In 2002–2003, the department provided a total of 

$2.89 million to external and community organisations to 

support educational initiatives and programs. Approximately 

$550 000 was provided to 29 non-profi t community 

organisations for a range of educational programs relating 

to media and the arts, public speaking, science, the 

environment, business enterprise, the promotion of 

healthy child development, and sport. 

The department also provides assistance through:

> hostels for students living away from home

> living away from home allowances, such as remote area 

living allowances, travel allowances, and tuition allowances

> textbook and resource allowance for secondary students.

Furthermore, the department is responsible for distributing 

Commonwealth funding to non-state schools. The relative 

percentages of Commonwealth and State Government 

funding provided to non-state schools in 2002–2003 are 

indicated in Figure 17.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> improve school learning environments and 

facilities through a capital works program totalling 

$257.2 million including completing the construction 

of new schools at Chancellor State School and 

Somerset Drive, Mudgeeraba, and relocating the 

school at Welcome Creek to Moore Park

>> fund the Triple R maintenance program to improve 

state and non-state school environments including 

restoring and preserving public buildings

>> fund a new three-year $45 million Smart Schools 

Renewal Program for state primary, secondary and 

special schools which builds on the Secondary 

Schools Renewal Program and Building Better 

Schools programs

>> connect 870 classrooms to the Internet by 

extending local area networks (LANs) in schools 

that have limited access to networked computers

>> undertake a broad review of State Government 

recurrent funding. This review will consider the 

‘basket and nexus’ mechanism and the distribution 

mechanism (including the needs-based 

component) used to allocate the funds to schools

>> implement the school security policy through 

statewide workshops.

Delivering to the outback
Strategy

Enhancing access to opportunities and facilities for 

schooling, higher education and training in regional 

and remote areas

Queensland’s rapidly growing but dispersed population 

poses unique challenges for education. Almost one-third of 

the state’s students live outside urban and regional centres 

and attend schools located in rural and remote areas. During 

2002–2003, the department maintained its commitment to 

improving the quality of education in rural and remote areas 

by reviewing education strategies in these areas, continuing 

to improve facilities, increasing access to information and 

communication technologies through the ICTs for Learning 

strategy and Virtual Schooling Service, and assisting 

students who live away from home to study.

The Rural and Remote Education Standing Committee

The Rural and Remote Education Standing Committee was 

established in February 2003 to provide advice on, and input 

into, the development of a draft Rural and Remote Education 

Strategy. The standing committee is chaired by the Assistant 

Director-General, Strategic Policy and Education Futures and 

has representatives from various sections of the department 

that are responsible for rural and remote education initiatives. 

Meeting students’ educational needs

Figure 16
Growth in state assistance to the non-state education sector

Note: Increase in non-state education recurrent funding is mainly due to increased 
enrolments.
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students who live away from home to study.
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The strategy aims to ensure that all students living in rural 

and remote areas of Queensland have equitable access to 

quality education services and opportunities. The standing 

committee has: 

> improved the coordination of systemic policies and 

programs for rural and remote education

> provided high-level recognition and support for local 

innovation and successful practice

> disseminated information and examples of best practice 

to rural and remote schools and communities.

The Bypassing Trial

The Bypassing Trial continued during 2002–2003 in 

consultation with communities and the Isolated Children’s 

Parents’ Association. The trial assists students to bypass 15 

small isolated secondary schools and live away from home to 

complete secondary schooling in larger centres. The trial will 

test whether bypassing can increase the proportion of rural 

and remote students who successfully complete Year 12 or 

an equivalent, and make the transition to work and further 

study. The bypassed schools are supported through the 

Outback Learning Network, which aims to expand secondary 

curriculum delivery options to provide pathways for those 

students who remain at their local school.

Cooler Schools

During 2002–2003, more than $34 million was allocated to 

subsidise airconditioning in 94 state schools as part of the 

department’s commitment to improve students’ comfort and 

create environments that are more conducive to learning. In 

the same period, funding of $1.88 million was also allocated 

to subsidise airconditioning in 31 non-state schools. As at 

30 June 2003, more than $135 million had been allocated 

through the Cool/Cooler Schools program since 1996.

ICTs in the Outback

With almost 1300 schools stretching from the Gold Coast, 

inland to Mount Isa and north to the Torres Strait, access to 

information, curriculum and innovative delivery methods for 

rural and remote areas is a key focus for the department.

Meeting students’ educational needs

Virtual Schooling Service 

The Virtual Schooling Service (VSS) delivers online senior 

school subjects to students at schools where teaching 

expertise in certain subject areas is not available.  

Expansion of the VSS during 2002–2003 resulted in greater 

curriculum choice for secondary school students. Key 

strategies include:

> i-School which provides real-time and independent 

schooling delivery to students and has:

– increased the number of available subjects to seven 

by including Year 11 German

– increased participating schools from 63 to 82

– increased participating students from 393 to 480

> i-Support which provides online support for students, 

teachers and support staff, including career education 

and literacy, numeracy and social skills programs.

ICTs support trial

The ICTs support trial commenced in January 2003 to 

evaluate sustainable and innovative ICT infrastructure and 

support initiatives. The fi rst phase of the trial, conducted in 

23 remote schools, tested initiatives developed to provide 

an integrated approach to technical support. These 

initiatives involved:

> recruiting school-based technicians

> providing remote support

> installing the curriculum Standard Operating Environment

> consolidating help desk support.

The second phase of the trial is being conducted in 

metropolitan schools and will continue until December 2003. 

Conducting the trial in two distinct geographical areas will 

assist the department to develop a diverse support model, 

thus ensuring the needs of schools statewide are met. 

To date, the trial has improved turnaround times on technical 

support, reduced support requirements, and improved the 

availability and reliability of ICTs.

Providing students in rural and remote areas with equitable access to quality 
educational services and opportunities is a priority for the department.
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Improving distance education

Increased demand for online learning and the rapid emergence 

of digital technology are having far-reaching effects on the 

development and delivery of distance education. Digitisation 

improves learning experiences through individualised 

instruction, increases curriculum choices, and reduces the 

time required for teachers to provide feedback to students. 

The fi rst phase of the Distance Education Enhancement Project 

involved the digitisation of existing distance education 

assignment materials for primary school students. 

Funding was provided for the ICTs for Learning strategy to 

support distance education families (in approved distance 

and medical categories) by:

> providing an annual subsidy to approximately 900 

families to assist with the purchase, upgrade and 

replacement of computers for use by students in the home 

classroom. The fi rst payment of this subsidy was made in 

April 2003. In addition, these families will be provided 

with free access to Microsoft software

> converting, over two years, all six regional schools of 

distance education from high frequency (HF) radio to 

telephone teaching 

Access to universities for rural students

For Queensland to maintain its position as the Smart State, 

all students throughout the state must have access to higher 

education. Queensland’s nine universities have 16 regional 

and 10 metropolitan campuses. A growing proportion of the 

state’s regional population is participating in higher 

education — see Figure 18.

During 2002–2003, the department provided approximately 

$768 000 to the University of Queensland, Gatton Campus to 

support the delivery of pre-tertiary programs. The programs 

are two-year certifi cate courses in various areas including 

agriculture, animal husbandry and horticulture and are 

offered as alternatives to a full degree or as a bridging 

program to a full degree. Each year, approximately 40 

students enrol in these programs.

Other rural and remote departmental initiatives

Funding of $7 million for new and upgraded teacher 

accommodation facilities was provided to attract teachers to, 

and retain them in, rural and remote areas. This ongoing issue 

is being addressed through a number of strategies, including:

> Remote Area Incentives Scheme

> the Bid O’Sullivan Scholarships for Year 12 rural and 

remote students training as teachers

> online professional development and workshops

> Remote Area Teacher Education Program (RATEP)

> Priority Country Area Program Pre-Service Forum.

The department also offered assistance tailored to meet the 

needs of rural and remote students, including:

> the Living Away from Home Allowances Scheme

> transport assistance programs

> the Student Hostel Support Scheme.

Meeting students’ educational needs

Yarrabah State School

With a $45 000 ICT Innovators Grant, Yarrabah 

State School is developing a Virtual Trails online 

project. Students use digital cameras, videos and 

the Internet to re-create the historical walking 

tracks used by local Indigenous people to travel 

to neighbouring areas.

The project will enlist all students and the 

extended school community in locating these 

tracks and creating ‘virtual trails’. As part of their 

research, students will record interviews with 

community Elders and local landowners and work 

closely with the Yarrabah Community Council and 

the Menmuny Museum.

The project website will become a ‘virtual keeping 

place’ for signifi cant resources about local 

Indigenous history, culture and traditional 

knowledge. The Internet will make information 

about Yarrabah’s community and culture more 

accessible to a wide audience, including 

Indigenous communities, schools within Australia 

and overseas, and tourists.

Figure 18
University students by region of origin (permanent residence), as a proportion of the population, Queensland 2000–2002

Note: The data shows the number of locals and expatriates of a region attending university in Queensland, per 1000 of the regional population.
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Queensland Open Learning Network
Strategy

Supporting the Queensland Open Learning Network*

* Queensland Open Learning Network is now referred  to as Learning Network Queensland.

Learning Network Queensland

Learning Network Queensland’s principal purpose is to 

extend learning opportunities to Queensland’s dispersed 

population. Approximately 50 local communities in regional, 

rural and remote areas have improved access to a wider 

range of learning opportunities for their students as a result 

of expanded services provided through Learning Network 

Queensland. This year, the department provided assistance 

to programs focused on improving students’ success in 

securing employment or further education and training. 

These included:

> improving the business, computing and job-seeking skills 

of more than 300 mature age students by extending the 

availability of the Planning Your Career program to 21 

communities throughout Queensland 

> developing the basic information technology (IT) skills of 

approximately 1000 learners across 52 communities 

through the BITES program (basic IT enabling skills for 

older workers) accessed via the network’s permanent and 

satellite centres, and other partner arrangements

> fi nalising preparatory work in developing a pre-tertiary 

program (Unilearn Foundation Course) for Chinese students.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> complete round four of the Cooler Schools program, 

installing airconditioning in 99 state schools and 

50 non-state schools by the end of 2004

>> commission an independent report on the impact 

of the Bypassing Trial in term 2, 2004

>> fi nalise and release a Rural and Remote 

Education Strategy

>> enable the transition to digital delivery of distance 

education under the Distance Education 

Enhancement Project, including the infrastructure 

and call costs to convert to telephone teaching

>> fund subsidies to enable distance education 

families (in approved distance and medical 

categories) to purchase, upgrade or replace 

computer systems

>> provide an additional $6 million to improve 

employee housing.

Strategy

Encouraging fl exibility and autonomy in the ways 

individual schools, clusters of schools, and education 

and training providers arrange the learning process

This strategy is addressed in ‘Working in partnership to 

improve student learning’ section on page 40.

Strategy

Ensuring professional networks support development 

of effective education experiences 

This strategy is addressed in ‘Strengthening organisational 

capability’ section on page 52.

Working with the Commonwealth
Strategies

>> Monitoring Commonwealth funding of higher  

 education opportunities

>> Ensuring Commonwealth authorities are informed of  

 Queensland’s needs

Commonwealth review of higher education 

A national review of higher education was commissioned by 

the Commonwealth during 2002. The review focused on 

sustainability, quality, equity and diversity within the 

Australian higher education sector. This provided an 

excellent opportunity for the department to work more 

closely with the Commonwealth to determine how the needs 

of a dispersed population and higher education system in 

Queensland could be better met.

The Minister for Education, in conjunction with the Brisbane 

Institute, engaged stakeholders across Queensland in this 

debate by hosting two state forums on the review. The 

department also led the preparation of the State Government’s 

submission to the review. Policy advice was provided to the 

Minister and the State Government on all aspects of the 

review, including an analysis of the major outcomes of the 

review contained in the 2003 Federal Budget.

Negotiating Queensland’s share of 
Commonwealth funds

The department made representations to the Commonwealth 

Government regarding the allocation and conditions of 

Commonwealth funding for schools for the period 

2005–2008. As a result, the Commonwealth will maintain 

indexation arrangements providing approximately 

$430 million (10 per cent) of the costs for state schools, 

and $780 million (70 per cent) of public funding for non-state 

schools. The department will continue to ensure 

Queensland’s interests are advanced in Commonwealth–

state negotiations. 

Meeting students’ educational needs
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Higher education accreditation
Strategies

>>  Accrediting higher education awards offered by non- 

 university  providers

>>  Supporting the accreditation process for universities  

 and university courses

Accreditation and approval activities
The State Government sets standards for establishing and 

recognising universities, for accrediting university-level 

awards offered by non-university providers, and for the 

operation of overseas higher education institutions in the 

state. On behalf of the Minister, the department manages 

processes that help ensure that Queensland’s higher 

education sector achieves and maintains a standard 

recognised nationally and internationally. www

During 2002–2003, 21 higher education courses offered by 

six non-university providers were accredited or reaccredited. 

Four of these were new providers in Queensland. A full 

summary of activities in higher education approval processes 

is provided in Appendix 7.

Application to establish a university
The Offi ce of Higher Education provided secretariat support 

to the independent panel established by the Minister for 

Education to assess the proposal to establish a private 

university in Cairns. The offi ce also liaised with other 

relevant state agencies and other parties to support the 

work of the panel. 

Reviewing legislation

A comprehensive review of the legislation that underpins the 

Government’s quality assurance and regulatory framework 

was undertaken in 2002–2003. The Higher Education 

(General Provisions) Act 1993 was reviewed for compliance 

with the National Protocols for Higher Education Approval 

Processes and in light of the recommendations arising from 

the 2001 audit of the department’s higher education 

accreditation approval activities by the Australian 

Universities Quality Agency. The resultant Bill, the Higher 

Education (General Provisions) Bill 2003 was introduced to 

Parliament on 27 May 2003. The Bill provides for an 

improved quality assurance framework, with more detailed 

and transparent provisions regulating the operation of 

overseas and interstate institutions in Queensland, and the 

establishment of new universities.

Implementing quality assurance

During 2002–2003, the accreditation unit within the Offi ce 

of Higher Education designed and implemented a new quality 

system to improve the overall quality assurance processes 

for dealing with applications for the accreditation of higher 

education programs delivered by non-university providers. 

The quality system was based on the major fi ndings and 

recommendations of a trial quality audit of the offi ce 

undertaken by the Australian Universities Quality Agency. 

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> develop a new accreditation regulation and set of 

guidelines to refl ect the provisions of the Higher 

Education (General Provisions) Act 2003

>> work with the higher education and the vocational 

education and training sectors to develop suitable 

accreditation arrangements for associate 

degree programs.

The department works with the higher education sector to ensure the state is 
recognised both nationally and internationally for the standard of its tertiary 
institutions.
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report on performance
Working in partnership to improve student learning

Highlights

Key highlights for this objective in 2002–2003:

>> formed whole-of-government partnerships through the 

Cape York Strategic Leaders Program to foster and support 

Indigenous community leadership

>> engaged state and non-state schools and TAFE institutes 

in trials of various initiatives arising from the Education 

and Training Reforms for the Future package

>> collaborated with government, industry and community 

representatives to start developing District Youth 

Achievement Plans in Senior Phase of Learning trial areas

>> supported the delivery of a range of Enterprise Education 

initiatives in schools involving local partners

>> facilitated the Australian Business Week program in 

partnership with the Queensland University of 

Technology (QUT)

>> increased the Years 8 to 12 apparent retention rates for 

Indigenous students from 46.3 per cent in 1998 to 51.7 

per cent in 2002.
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The potential for students to benefi t from the opportunities 

arising from community collaboration is immense. The 

department is embracing collaborative arrangements with 

key stakeholders and external bodies to extend the 

opportunities available to young people.

Working in partnership 
Strategies

>>  Improving sector-wide participation in shaping and  

 delivering major education initiatives

>> Working with other government and community  

 service providers to advance social and academic  

 outcomes are key priorities for the department

Maintaining close involvement with state and 

Commonwealth government agencies, education statutory 

authorities and key external stakeholders assisted the 

department to deliver quality education to students.  

In 2002–2003 productive relationships were maintained with:

> administrators of schools of distance education

> Association of Independent Schools of Queensland (AISQ) 

> Association of Special Education Administrators in 

Queensland Inc.

> Business/Higher Education Round Table (BHERT)

> Community Service and Research Centre (CSRC), 

University of Queensland

> Creche and Kindergarten Association of Queensland

> Indigenous Education Consultative Body (IECB) 

> Isolated Children’s Parents’ Association (ICPA) 

> Queensland Association of State School Principals 

(QASSP)

> Queensland Catholic Education Commission (QCEC)

> Queensland Council of Parents and Citizens’ Associations 

(QCPCA)

> Queensland Secondary Principals’ Association Inc (QSPA) 

> Queensland State P–10/P–12 School Administrators’ 

Association

> Queensland Teachers’ Union (QTU).

Strengthening existing partnerships and developing new 

partnerships is crucial to achieving the changes outlined in 

the State Government’s Education and Training Reforms for 

the Future (ETRF) package. Working collaboratively with TAFE 

institutes, training providers, employers and community 

organisations will allow the department to make the best use 

of public funds in order to meet the educational needs of 

young people from their earliest years through to adult life.

Planning for non-state schooling

In November 2002, the Offi ce of Non-State Education 

conducted its biennial State Planning Forum including 

representatives from the state, Catholic and Independent 

education sectors in Queensland. The forum provided the 

opportunity to plan for the future by sharing information, 

including: 

> school-related census data such as patterns of growth 

and decline in Queensland schools, population growth 

‘hot spots’ and how to use this information to apply for 

government funding

> linking accreditation and eligibility for government 

funding to the provision of school education and, in 

particular, non-state schools

> opportunities and challenges for future service provision 

including matters such as planning for education precincts, 

public–private ventures, catering for an additional year of 

schooling, new modes of service delivery (distance or 

online education) and planning schools of the future. 

Education statutory authorities 

The Education portfolio includes a number of education 

statutory authorities — see Appendix 8. To ensure that all 

Queensland students receive a high quality education, the 

department maintains a strong and active relationship with 

each of these bodies. The department’s Director-General, 

Deputy Director-General, Assistant Directors-General and 

several school principals hold positions on the boards of 

these bodies.

Queensland Studies Authority

The Queensland Studies Authority supports the Education 

portfolio through syllabus development and accreditation, 

assessment, moderation, testing, certifi cation and tertiary 

entrance procedures. The authority also has delegation from 

the Training Recognition Council for the accreditation of 

courses and registration of schools to deliver and assess 

vocational education and training in schools.

The authority is a signifi cant partner in the implementation of 

the ETRF agenda and holds key responsibility for a number of 

projects including establishing the quality and quantity of 

learning for the award of a Senior Certifi cate, and reviewing 

syllabuses and vocational education and training in schools.

Non-State Schools Accreditation Board 

The department, through the Offi ce of Non-State Education, 

has continued to support the operations of the Non-State 

Schools Accreditation Board. The board has statutory 

responsibility for accrediting new non-state schools and 

monitoring schools’ adherence to accreditation criteria. 

The Eligibility for Government Funding Committee was 

established as a committee of the Non-State Schools 

Accreditation Board. The committee has responsibility for 

assessing applications for government funding and making 

recommendations on funding eligibility to the Minister. 

To promote the learning and development of Queensland’s students 
and communities through working together with our partners

Department of Education Strategic Plan 2002–2006

ObjectiveObjective

Working in partnership to improve student learning
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As part of this continued support, the Offi ce of Non-State 

Education has established a register to record the 

accreditation attributes of all non-state schools in Queensland 

and commenced work on developing a website for the board.

Board of Teacher Registration

The Board of Teacher Registration supports education in 

state and non-state schools by ensuring the highest 

professional standards and qualifi cations for teachers in 

Queensland. The board registers Queensland’s teachers 

and collaborates with higher education and the wider 

community to approve teacher education programs for 

registration purposes.

Commonwealth committees and forums 

The department contributed to the following Commonwealth 

forums in 2002–2003.

Ministerial Council on Education, Employment, Training 
and Youth Affairs (MCEETYA)

Through its association with MCEETYA, the department 

contributed to national strategic education policy and 

agreements on shared objectives and interests. The 

department participated fully in each of the eight MCEETYA 

taskforces, including the Indigenous Education, Employment, 

Training and Youth Taskforce established in 2002–2003. The 

department assumed a lead role on several signifi cant 

national issues during the past 12 months. These included 

nationally consistent curriculum outcomes and consideration 

of higher education reforms proposed by the Commonwealth.

The Performance Measurement and Reporting Taskforce

The Director-General chairs the Performance Measurement 

and Reporting Taskforce (PMRT). PMRT identifi es the data 

and develops the measures to report on progress towards 

the National Goals for Schooling in the Twenty-First Century. 

Improving the performance of Australia’s schools requires 

fair, accurate and timely information about the achievement 

of students and about the activities and resourcing of 

schools and school systems. 

During 2002–2003, the taskforce prepared key performance 

measures for reporting on science, civics and citizenship 

education, information and communication technology, and 

VET in schools. The taskforce has developed defi nitions for 

student sub-groups to enable nationally comparable 

reporting of student outcomes based on gender, Indigenous 

status, language background, socioeconomic status and 

geographic location.

The taskforce commenced reviewing fi nancial and 

non-fi nancial data for national publication to minimise 

inconsistencies across systems, and improving quality 

assurance processes to develop the National Report on 

Schooling in Australia.

Consistent curriculum outcomes

The department assumed a leadership role on core national 

issues such as developing nationally consistent curriculum 

outcomes. In 2002, MCEETYA endorsed a Queensland 

proposal to identify similarities and differences in state and 

territory curriculums and determine how consistent 

curriculum outcomes could be achieved. As a result, 

Queensland will lead a national project to develop 

Statements of Learning to deliver consistent curriculum 

outcomes in English, mathematics, science, and civics and 

citizenship. These statements will inform, guide and shape 

the development of curriculum and syllabus documents in 

each state and territory. 

Higher education

Following a year-long review during 2002, the Commonwealth 

announced signifi cant reforms to higher education in its 

2003–2004 Budget. Queensland participates in the Joint 

Committee on Higher Education advising MCEETYA on higher 

education issues. During 2002–2003, the committee 

directed an independent study into the outcomes of the 

Commonwealth review of higher education. The study 

provided a comprehensive analysis of the Commonwealth 

proposals and assisted all states and territories as well as 

universities, to determine the potential effects of the reforms.

Queensland will use the study to inform further discussions 

and negotiations with the Commonwealth, and to help 

ensure that demographic and other pressures affecting 

higher education in this state are recognised and considered.

National bodies

The department was also represented on a number of 

national bodies, including:

> AESOC Learning Federation Steering Group

> Australia National Schools Network

> Australian Association for Research in Education 

National Executive 

> Australian Education Systems Offi cials Committee 

(AESOC)

> Australian Information and Communications Technology 

in Education Advisory Committee

> Australian Universities Quality Agency 

> Curriculum Corporation Board

> International Colloquium for Inclusive Education

> Joint Committee on Higher Education 

> Program for International Student Assessment National 

Advisory Committee

> Rural Education Forum of Australia.

Working in partnership to improve student learning
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Partnerships — improving student pathways
Strategies

>>  Encouraging fl exibility and autonomy in the ways  

 individual schools, clusters of schools, and education  

 and training providers arrange the learning process

>> Enhancing cooperation and integration to improve  

 student pathways

Successful partnerships between schools, TAFE institutes, 

higher education providers, employers, community 

organisations and industry bodies continue to improve and 

expand the range of student pathways, providing customised 

solutions for individuals.

Encouraging fl exibility 

Educational precincts are being developed to combine the 

resources of education and training providers and enhance 

learning opportunities and pathways for students. To date, 

precincts have been developed in Mount Isa and Brisbane’s 

northern corridor. 

Mt Isa Education and Training Precinct

The Mt Isa Education and Training Precinct commenced 

operations on 1 January 2003. The precinct is a partnership 

between the department and the Department of Employment 

and Training, and incorporates the Mt Isa Institute of TAFE, 

Spinifex State College (formerly Mt Isa State High School and 

Kalkadoon State High School) and a new boarding facility, 

Spinifex Residential College. The precinct will broaden the 

curriculum options and pathways to post-school options for 

senior school students by providing educational programs 

relevant to the needs of students and the local community.

Northern Corridor Education Precinct

The Northern Corridor Education Precinct links Brisbane 

Northpoint Institute of TAFE with the Queensland University 

of Technology (QUT) Carseldine campus, local schools, 

industry and government agencies. These entities work 

together to increase youth employment and reduce attrition 

from each of the three education sectors. The Institute, QUT 

and Caboolture Shire Council collaborated to open a new 

community campus at Caboolture in 2002, with more than 

200 students enrolled in four courses in the fi rst term.

Douglas Learning Precinct

The Douglas Shire in Far Northern Queensland developed 

alliances with the Tropical North Institute of TAFE, the Remote 

Area Teacher Education Program (RATEP), Mossman State 

High School and Mossman State School to form the Douglas 

Learning Precinct. Facilities at the primary and secondary 

schools were used to co-locate the four education providers.

Further development of a Douglas Learning Precinct may 

incorporate joint development and use of facilities, 

improving community access and providing courses that 

refl ect local industry and community needs.

Southbank Educational Precinct

During 2002–2003, the Queensland Government endorsed 

the development of the Southbank Educational Precinct at 

the Southbank Institute of TAFE and Brisbane State High 

School sites to create a multi-sectoral campus with links 

to universities.

In conjunction with the Department of Employment and 

Training a high-tech learning hub will be developed to 

provide a seamless transition between schooling, vocational 

education, and higher learning. The vision is for the precinct 

to be recognised locally, nationally and internationally as an 

example of successful cross-educational collaboration.

During 2003–2004 the department, in collaboration with the 

Departments of Employment and Training, Treasury and State 

Development, will investigate the delivery of this project 

under the state’s Public–Private Partnerships, Value-for-

Money Framework. This is the fi rst project in Queensland to 

be assessed under this framework.

Enhancing cooperation 

Collaboration and partnerships are key components of 

reforms to the Senior Phase of Learning through the 

Education and Training Reforms for the Future agenda. Trials 

of the reforms to the Senior Phase of Learning commenced in 

seven areas across Queensland to explore new ways to 

deliver services to young people.

Leaders from state and non-state schools, TAFE institutes, 

and the Department of Employment and Training worked with 

other local stakeholders to identify available resources and 

services and to determine the learning needs of young 

people. This will help to develop District Youth Achievement 

Plans in each trial area. 

In addition, broader consultation strategies were 

implemented to ensure business and industry, employer 

groups, parents, youth, Enterprise and Career Education 

Foundation clusters, local schools and training providers 

were engaged in the planning process. 

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> develop new and fl exible learning options to meet 

the learning and support needs of all young people 

in cooperation with other education and training 

providers.

Working in partnership to improve student learning
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School–industry links
Strategy

Developing closer and mutually benefi cial school–

industry links to increase learning opportunities and 

ensure curriculums are relevant

Links to employers are crucial to developing work-based 

learning opportunities and facilitate the development of an 

integrated curriculum with the potential to enhance 

signifi cantly the quality of education and career 

opportunities available to young people.

Enterprising education

Many Queensland schools are embracing Enterprise 

Education to help students to achieve by providing learning 

opportunities within a real-life context across the curriculum.

During 2002–2003, 30 state and 10 non-state primary and 

secondary schools participated in the Model Projects Program. 

The diverse range of projects entered in this program included 

a local tourism strategy, a seahorse ranch, an art auction, a 

web development company and a theatre restaurant.

In 2002, 38 Queensland schools participated in a two-year 

action research project in Enterprise Education established 

by the Commonwealth Department of Education, Science and 

Training. These schools are exploring opportunities for 

students to acquire the qualities and characteristics of an 

enterprising learner irrespective of their ability or background. 

Australian Business Week (ABW) program

The Australian Business Week program allows students to 

experience running a business through a computer-

simulated company. The in-school ABW program provides a 

unique experience that helps students develop a deeper 

understanding of business and an increased awareness of 

the role they may choose to play in future life. www

In 2002, 24 Queensland schools ran school-based programs 

and were eligible to nominate for the national awards. 

Helensvale State High School and Elanora State High School 

were placed fi rst and third respectively in the Best Program 

Award. The winning team of 10 students from the state-level 

program was placed second in the National Championships 

at Deakin University, Geelong, in December 2002.

Queensland Training Awards 

The 2002 Queensland Training Awards honoured the state’s 

top apprentices, trainees, vocational students, employers, 

schools, training providers and others involved in training. 

State schools and students received a number of accolades 

including: 

> Wynnum State High School, which won the McDonald’s 

Australia Vocational Education and Training in Schools 

Excellence Award — Loganlea State High School was also 

a fi nalist

> Kirwan State High School student Jamie Sheehy, who was 

named Defence Force Recruiting School-based Vocational 

Student of the Year, Keebra Park State High School 

student Bradley Hawkins and Mackay State High School 

student Christine Moohin were fi nalists.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will: 

>> reward and promote excellence in vocational 

education and training by hosting and participating 

in the WorldSkills Australia VETiS competition

>> promote industry connections that allow young 

people to take on vocational education and 

training experiences.

Improving learning outcomes and 
completion rates for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander students
Strategy

Working with Indigenous and school communities to 

improve learning outcomes and completion rates for 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students

Partners for Success

Through the Partners for Success strategy, closer 

partnerships have been forged with parents, Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander communities and other agencies to 

increase school attendance, improve literacy and numeracy 

and enhance leadership and employment opportunities for 

Indigenous children. The department also supported major 

school–community initiatives across the state, helping to 

build the capacity of local communities to identify and 

remove impediments to student learning. www

The Partners for Success strategy was expanded to include 

key commitments by the department to improve educational 

and employment outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander peoples. Achievements during 2002–2003 included:

> establishing the Mt Isa Education and Training Precinct to 

broaden the range of education and training opportunities 

for students in the area

> partnerships between schools in Indigenous communities 

and major local employers to ensure successful 

transitions from school to work — for example, the 

Western Cape College established a partnership with 

Comalco to provide college graduates with training and 

employment opportunities within the community

> developing a charter based on a set of key commitments 

that clearly articulate how the department will act to 

improve educational and employment outcomes for 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

Other achievements included:

> an increase in the percentage of Indigenous students 

achieving the Year 3 reading and Year 5 numeracy 

national benchmarks. In 2002 approximately 81.8 (±3.7) 

per cent of Queensland’s Year 3 students achieved the 

reading benchmark compared with 71.6 (±5.1) per cent in 

2001. Additionally, in 2002, 68.9 (±4.0) per cent of 

Queensland Year 5 students achieved the numeracy 

benchmark compared with 54.4 (±3.5) per cent in 2001.

Working in partnership to improve student learning
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> developing English as a Second Language (ESL) band 

scales for Years 1 to 3 and Years 4 to 10, specifi cally to 

address the literacy needs of Indigenous students where 

English is not the child’s fi rst language

> engaging more than 70 Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander students in the Preparing for School trial

> developing Community Training Partnerships between the 

school communities of Hopevale, Cooktown and Wujal 

Wujal, and industry and government agencies.

Indigenous apparent retention

The department’s success in addressing Indigenous 

education through initiatives such as Partners for Success is 

evident in Years 8 to 12 apparent retention rates for 

Indigenous students. In 2002, the Years 8 to 12 apparent 

retention rate for state school Indigenous students was 

51.7 per cent. This is an increase of 5.4 per cent since 1998 

— see Figure 19.

School communities developing 
local partnerships
Strategy

Developing schools as centres for learning and 

community development in partnership with 

communities

Queensland’s schools are taking the lead in community 

development by facilitating learning for all community 

members. Schools are recognised as a source of learning 

expertise and the focal point of interactions between students, 

parents, the community and the state education system.

Providing community access to ICTs in schools

Following successful trials in 2001–2002, 37 state schools 

were involved in a joint initiative with the Brisbane City 

Council to provide affordable community computer and 

Internet training on school premises. More than 1550 

members of the community participated in the program 

developing skills to access the increasing array of services 

available online and strengthening school–community links.

During 2002–2003, the department developed and 

implemented a policy statement and operational guidelines 

to support community access to school ICT infrastructure.

Funding innovation 

During 2002–2003 the department funded innovation grants 

totalling more than $255 000 to 15 schools in the state to 

extend community access to ICTs and develop their computer 

and Internet skills. These included:

> Ambrose State School designed and conducted a series of 

computer workshops for parents and community 

members, which align with the school technology 

program. The workshops worked to strengthen 

relationships between the school, parents and the 

community and to increase technological expertise so 

that parents could better support their children’s learning.

> Bwgcolman Community School developed a website 

called Bwgcolman Keeping Place, presenting the 

Indigenous history, culture and traditional knowledge of 

the Palm Island community. This project adopted an 

Indigenous-culture-across-the-curriculum approach and 

involved students, teachers and the whole community to 

develop content.

> North Arm State School developed an ICT training program 

of weekend workshops and evening classes for the North 

Arm school community. The project transformed the 

school into the hub of community activity and learning for 

all ages and provided a forum to showcase student work.

> Tewantin State School conducted a six-week ICT training 

program for grandparents and older residents in the local 

community. For the last 10 years, Tewantin has 

coordinated a grandparent helper group at the school, 

offering classroom support in all curriculum areas. The 

training program skills these volunteers in using ICTs in 

their day-to-day support of students.

Figure 19
Years 8 to 12 state school apparent retention rates for 
Indigenous students 1998–2002
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Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> convene the Partners for Success Charter Reference 

Group to engage representatives of Indigenous 

communities at the highest level

>> improve opportunities for students to access a 

range of curriculum offerings developed as part of 

the Partners for Success strategy

>> implement Partners for Success in 2003–2004 to 

improve participation, retention and attainment 

including the development of more relevant 

education and training opportunities to increase 

Indigenous employment.

Working in partnership to improve student learning
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Revitalising communities through IDEAS 

To date, more than 180 Queensland schools have 

participated in Innovative Designs for Enhancing 

Achievement in Schools (IDEAS). IDEAS is a 12- to 18-month 

revitalisation process undertaken by school communities to 

examine their school’s:

> strategic vision and purpose

> leadership models

> core business — teaching and learning

> professional work practices and professional development.

IDEAS also challenges schools to explore community 

expectations. IDEAS has been so successful in Queensland 

that it is currently being trialled nationally by the 

Commonwealth with a view to possible national access 

through the Quality Teacher Program. www

Community engagement
Strategy

Enhancing capabilities for developing partnerships and 

for community engagement

The department recognises the value of strong partnerships 

and community engagement in responding to the diverse 

needs of students and communities, particularly at the local 

level. Many of the department’s key initiatives are working to 

enhance community engagement to better meet the 

education and training needs of young people in 

Queensland. This year, the department has strived to: 

> ensure information on key initiatives is more readily 

accessible to the community and stakeholders

> consult with a broader range of stakeholders to learn about, 

and respond effectively to, the effects of intended reforms 

and activities

> actively engage members of the broader community and 

other government and non-government agencies in key 

educational reform activities.

This has helped the department realise a number of key 

objectives and goals, including commencement of trials 

associated with the Education and Training Reforms for the 

Future, Cape York Strategic Leaders Program, online 

community consultation on the Middle Phase of Learning and 

ICTs Innovators Grants.

Education and Training Reforms for the Future

Community engagement is crucial to the success of the 

Education and Training Reforms for the Future (ETRF) agenda, 

as the reforms focus on identifying opportunities for young 

people in their local communities.

The department used a broad range of strategies and 

media to inform stakeholders and the public about the 

reforms. Five months of extensive community consultation 

informed the development of the White Paper released in 

November 2002.

Consultation will continue throughout the implementation of 

the reforms, with key stakeholders and representatives from 

the community, business, the education and training sectors, 

unions, parent associations, youth groups and government.

Working in partnership to improve student learning

Schools are opening their doors to share their learning expertise in areas such as 
information and communication technology.
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The department, in conjunction with the Department of 

Employment and Training, convened a two-day forum in April 

2003 for leaders from the seven areas running trials of reforms 

to the Senior Phase of Learning. This provided an opportunity 

to share information, plan and strengthen relationships among 

trial leaders, and build their capacity to consult and develop 

partnerships with their local communities.

Cape York Strategic Leaders program

The Cape York Strategic Leaders (CYSL) program is a new and 

innovative approach to building community capacity. It is a 

year-long leadership development program to build a strong 

foundation of goodwill, relationships and commitment to 

pave the way for public servants and community members to 

work together to provide greater local service integration, 

coordination and cooperation.

Online Community Consultation: Middle Phase 
of Learning 

The Middle Phase of Learning component of ETRF was 

chosen by the Premier of Queensland as the fi rst topic for 

online community consultation on the Government’s 

ConsultQld website — www.getinvolved.qld.gov.au. This 

method of consultation is part of an e-democracy trial, 

a 12-month, whole-of-government Community Engagement 

Improvement Strategy.

Four hundred and two people, including 242 students, 

provided responses during Stage 1 of the consultation. 

Responses published on the ConsultQld website will be 

available until 6 May 2004. www

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> continue to foster a community commitment to 

young people by building partnerships at the 

local level.

Aspley Special School makes 
treasure from trash

Each week, 100 students from the Kingfi sher 

Recycling Centre at Aspley Special School work 

with adults with disabilities, teaching staff and 

community volunteers to sort bottles, bale 

cardboard, crush cans, sort envelopes, remove 

stamps and pot over 1000 local native plants. 

The centre supplies 200 litre drums to local 

businesses such as hotels, motels, caravan parks, 

and nursing homes to collect glass bottles, jars 

and aluminium cans.

Kingfi sher has grown into an enterprise that earns 

approximately $20 000 a year. Revenue raised by 

the centre pays for the solar heater for the school’s 

therapy pool centre. The thriving business improves 

students’ skills and vocational competencies, allows 

students and members of the community to work 

together towards a common good, and shows the 

local community that these students can make a 

valuable working contribution when they leave school.

The initiative received recognition at the First 

International Children’s Environment Conference 

in 1995.
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Stimulating innovation, research and growth

Highlights

Key highlights for this objective in 2002–2003:

>> provided additional programs in mathematics and 

science for 21 319 students through a network of 

eight Technology, Mathematics and Science Centres 

of Excellence

>> enabled science, maths and technology teachers to 

develop and deliver online learning courses through the 

Learning Place 

>> recorded the highest growth nationally for attracting 

international students to universities in Queensland

>> recorded an increase in the number of postgraduate 

research places available in Queensland to 4290

>> hosted the International Regional Heads of Education 

Forum, which brought together education leaders from 

eight South-East Asian countries.
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Research and innovation build the foundation for 

Queensland’s future in a global knowledge economy. 

The capacity to innovate, apply knowledge to productive 

ends and exploit the benefi ts of new ideas is critical to our 

long-term growth and competitiveness. The New Basics trial 

has included a rigorous research program that is providing 

information on student performance, classroom dynamics 

and teacher practice. Universities are also crucial to this 

effort, often leading innovative research internationally and 

providing core training and development for future researchers.

The department is currently building and implementing a 

robust, systematic and strategic approach to research 

through the following activities:

> coordinating, monitoring and assessing the alignment 

of internal and external research activities with the 

department’s strategic priorities

> coordinating departmental submissions to the 

Commonwealth-funded National Fund for Educational 

Research (NFER) to support applied research in areas of 

national signifi cance

> undertaking futures-oriented research activities that 

support evidence-based decision making and 

long-term strategic policy and planning within the 

Education portfolio.

Maximising the benefi ts of our 
research effort
Strategy

Supporting university research and innovation in 

collaboration with other government agencies

Developing the commercial potential of 
research outcomes

In 2002–2003, the department assisted universities to 

develop the commercial potential of their research outcomes 

and intellectual property. The Offi ce of Higher Education 

collaborated with other State Government agencies and 

universities to work towards reaching agreement on a 

common interpretation of universities’ commercial powers 

within Queensland legislation. When fi nalised, this 

agreement will enable universities to plan and undertake 

relevant commercial ventures with confi dence and certainty 

while, at the same time, providing the State Government with 

the necessary fi nancial assurances and checks and balances. 

Universities will be able to capitalise fully on their extensive 

intellectual property in accordance with the goals of the 

Government’s Smart State initiative.

Aligning research priorities

The department worked with the Department of Innovation 

and Information Economy to develop the Queensland 

Research and Development Strategy. This strategy describes 

the six key priorities for future research and development in 

Queensland, which are:

> enabling technologies

> environmentally sustainable Queensland

> foods for the future

> safeguarding Queensland

> sustainable health

> tropical futures.

Queensland’s universities contribute substantially to the 

state’s research and development effort. These priorities 

target research in key areas of existing strength and 

recognise emerging areas of opportunity. They focus on 

sustainability and generating sound environmental, 

economic and social outcomes. 

The department also worked with the Commonwealth to 

establish a set of national research priorities. This helped to 

ensure national and state priorities align strategically, 

positioning Queensland universities to more effectively 

develop strategic national partnerships and attract a greater 

share of Commonwealth research funding.

Strengthening foundations for 
future research
Strategies

>>  Monitoring Commonwealth funding for postgraduate  

 research programs

>>  Ensuring Commonwealth authorities are informed of  

 Queensland’s needs for postgraduate research places

Universities are the key providers of training and professional 

development for our future researchers. Places in 

postgraduate research programs grew by more than 

15 per cent in Queensland between 1998 and 2002 — 

see Figure 20. Despite a growth in places each year since 

1998, Queensland is still disadvantaged compared to other 

states due to rapid population growth. The department will 

continue to represent the interests of Queensland, through 

national forums such as the Ministerial Council on Education, 

Employment, Training and Youth Affairs (MCEETYA) and the 

Joint Committee on Higher Education, to increase the total 

pool of postgraduate research places available nationally.

Stimulating innovation, research and growth

To stimulate innovation, research and growth in Queensland
Department of Education Strategic Plan 2002–2006

ObjectiveObjective
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Science, maths and technology
Strategy 

Promoting science, maths and technology studies 

in schools

Science, maths and technology form the basis of Queensland’s 

research priorities. Schools have a vital role in nurturing 

young people’s interests in science, maths and technology. 

In 2002, 86 per cent of Year 12 students completed at least 

one science, maths or technology-based subject. The 

department aims to increase participation in these areas to 

90 per cent by 2005. This year, Queensland state schools 

have set targets to help achieve this goal. 

In 2002–2003, the following initiatives helped to achieve 

this goal.

Technology, Mathematics and Science Centres 
of Excellence

The operations of the eight Centres of Excellence were 

expanded to allow 10 349 primary school students and 7794 

secondary school students to extend their learning in maths, 

science and technology. Residential workshops also provided 

opportunities for 176 outstanding students from primary and 

secondary schools in regional Queensland to extend their 

learning and interact with other students. www
 

Remedial assistance allowed more than 3000 students from 

primary and secondary schools to develop a better understanding 

and application of key mathematical and scientifi c principles. 

The centres also developed specialist teacher training programs 

designed to stimulate students’ interest in maths and science. 

Online learning

The Schools of Distance Education developed online 

secondary school courses to ensure more students from 

regional and remote areas can pursue studies in maths, 

science and technology at higher levels. Courses available 

to students online include Certifi cate II in Information 

Technology, Science through Landcare, Information 

Technology Systems, Multi-strand Science and Maths in Real 

Life. Using the Learning Place website, science, maths and 

technology teachers developed online learning packages to 

extend curriculum options for students in remote areas. 

Girls in maths and science

The Girls in Maths and Science Summer School stimulates 

girls’ interests in maths and science and encourages them to 

study these fi elds in Years 11 and 12 and at university. Each 

year, between 70 and 100 students attend the annual 

school, with approximately 70 per cent being state school 

students. Students engage in a variety of hands-on activities 

ranging from agriculture, veterinary science, aeronautics and 

engineering. The summer school has been hosted by the 

University of Southern Queensland for the past 14 years and 

is supported by the department through the Maths, Science 

and Technology initiative.

Supporting teaching excellence

Scholarships to the value of $24 000 each were awarded 

to fi ve secondary school teachers of science to undertake 

overseas study in their chosen fi eld. The scholarships 

acknowledge innovative science teaching practices that 

inspire students and colleagues, foster enjoyment of 

learning and support the Science State—Smart State 

initiative. The grants cover the costs of study, travel and other 

expenses, and are designed to strengthen each participant’s 

knowledge of emerging international trends in their fi eld.

Stimulating innovation, research and growth

Figure 20
Number of places in postgraduate research programs 
1998–2002
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Note: One place represents a full-time annual workload for one student. 
Excludes international students.

By being innovative, applying knowledge productively and exploiting the benefi ts of 
new ideas, we can ensure our state sustains long-term growth and remains competitive.
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Science State—Smart State initiative

The Science State—Smart State initiative was overseen by a 

steering committee with representatives from education 

systems, government departments, TAFE and universities, 

industry and unions. The initiative included 19 separate 

community forums and a Science Conference held in October 

2002 to engage stakeholders in discussing key issues and 

developing proposals for the future enhancement of science 

education. This initiative culminated with the Science 

Summit in November 2002. Approximately 30 participants 

including representatives from government and industry, 

as well as scientists and science educators attended the 

summit to review proposals and issues raised throughout 

the Science State—Smart State initiative. A Statement of 

Action was developed through this forum, which contains 

recommendations for future policy consideration by 

government departments, education systems and industry. 

The statement provides an action plan for the future of 

science education in Queensland. www

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> implement strategies from the Science State— 

Smart State action plan

>> enhance students’ engagement in and enjoyment 

of science at school

>> complete an interim evaluation report of the 

Technology, Mathematics and Science Centres of 

Excellence by December 2003.

Stimulating innovation, research and growth

Designer robots fascinate future engineers

Pine Rivers State High School physics teacher 

Dion Mumby had to look twice. After the last bell 

on the fi nal day of term, half a dozen students 

remained in his classroom hard at work — and 

they weren’t on detention. They were working on 

robots as part of a pioneering subject that has 

absorbed the school. 

Robotic engineering is gaining popularity as a 

learning opportunity for both students and staff. 

The subject promotes team-based education and 

allows students with a variety of interests and 

abilities to pick their own challenges. Using 

advanced technology and design skills, students 

analyse complex technical problems and 

information in order to design, build and program 

robots to perform specifi c tasks.

Pine Rivers is the fi rst school to introduce robotic 

engineering in Years 9 and 10 as a cross-

curricular subject, taking in science and manual 

arts. In the next two years the subject will fl ow 

through to senior, another fi rst for the state.  

Schools have an important part to play in nurturing young people’s interest in science.
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Export education: contributing to 
economic growth
Strategies

>>  Supporting university courses of signifi cant 

 economic impact

>>  Positioning Queensland as a national leader in  

 exporting education

>>  Enhancing Queensland’s profi le as a student  

 destination and source of higher education and  

 research expertise

Education contributes to the Queensland economy and 

employment as an industry in its own right, with international 

students contributing more than $604 million annually to the 

economy. Combined export earnings across all sectors of 

education — higher education, vocational education and 

training, schools, and English language courses for overseas 

students (such as ELICOS) — make the sector one of the 

state’s top-10 export earners.

Opportunities to extend international education 

opportunities are developed through the:

> International Relations Unit — principally by developing 

international policy and protocols, and fostering 

government-to-government relations

> Offi ce of Higher Education — working cooperatively with 

Queensland’s nine universities through the state’s higher 

educational international initiative

> Education Queensland International — working with 

Queensland state schools providing the International 

Student Program, educational study tours and 

consultancies.

The department is directly involved in the export of 

education by:

> supporting the promotion of Queensland universities 

overseas

> recruiting international students as fee-paying 

participants into 29 state schools

> managing three Year 10 schooling programs through 

partner organisations in China

> managing study tours for incoming groups of students 

and teachers involving more than 200 schools

> providing professional education and systems 

development advice to overseas systems and 

governments

> building government-to-government links and cultural 

exchange programs.

The department continues to work closely with Queensland 

Education and Training International — the operational arm 

of the Queensland Education and Training Export Board — to 

increase the state’s export earnings from education studies 

and services.

There are approximately 1080 international students, 

originating from approximately 20 countries, enrolled in 

Queensland’s state schools. Of this total number, approximately 

560 are fee-paying. International students participate in a 

range of programs in state schools, including senior 

secondary courses, study abroad, ELICOS and study tours.

During 2002–2003 a total of 288 international study tours 

took place in Queensland state schools and international 

students and study tours generated $8.2 million in revenue.

The latest available data for the higher education sector 

(including non-university providers) indicates that 

Queensland recorded the highest growth nationally in the 

number of international students, with an increase of 6048 

from 2000 to 2001. During this same period, Queensland 

was the only state to signifi cantly increase its national share of  

international students in higher education with 18.5 per cent. 

In 2002, the trend for Queensland universities indicated that 

the state’s position continued to strengthen with more than 

25 000 international students, an increase of 55 per cent 

since 2000 — see Figure 21.

During 2002–2003, the department provided state advocacy 

to support the enrolment of more than 25 000 international 

university students from 140 countries. South Asia continues 

to be the number one source of overseas students with 

increasing numbers of students from Europe, Latin America, 

North America and the Middle East choosing to study at 

Queensland universities. Singapore (3557 students) is the 

number one source country followed by Malaysia (1952) and 

India (1787). China is continuing to show consistent and 

steady growth increasing from 1143 students in 2001 to 

1525 students in 2002 — an increase of 33 per cent. 

The department contributed $0.48 million to the work of the 

Premier’s Queensland Education and Training Initiative, 

which supports the education and training export industry 

in Queensland. 

Stimulating innovation, research and growth

Figure 21
Number of international students in Queensland universities 
1998–2002
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The department has furthered the state’s strategic 

international links by facilitating: 

> a Ministerial delegation to China with a focus on quality 

assurance in higher education

> memorandums of understanding on higher education 

cooperation with the states of Karnataka in India and 

Hessen in Germany

> a memorandum of understanding on educational 

cooperation with the Consulate of Italy for Queensland 

and the Northern Territory

> senior offi cials’ visits from a range of countries including 

India, the Middle East, Java and Norway

> the International Regional Heads of Education Forum, 

which brought together the education leaders of eight 

South-East Asian countries.

The majority of overseas students in Queensland universities 

are undertaking undergraduate degrees. However, 

increasingly Queensland is attracting international 

postgraduate scholars — 8331 students in 2002, which 

represented a 19 per cent growth compared with 2001 — 

see Figure 22.

During 2002, management and commerce, and information 

technology continued to be the most popular areas of study 

undertaken by overseas university students. Management 

and commerce attracted 34 per cent of all overseas students 

and information technology 26 per cent. However, the number 

of students undertaking health-related courses increased by 

38 per cent in 2002, while the number of students 

undertaking education courses increased by 26 per cent.

Figure 22
Number of undergraduate and postgraduate international 
students 2001–2002
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Visit to China forges educational links

In November 2002, the Minister for Education led 

a senior delegation of Higher Education 

representatives to support and further develop 

the education relationship between Queensland 

and China.

The delegation also included the Chancellors of 

Griffi th University and Queensland University of 

Technology (QUT), the Vice-Chancellors of QUT, 

James Cook University and Central Queensland 

University, as well as other universities, and 

senior offi cers from the Department of Education 

and the Department of Employment and Training.

The visit assisted Queensland universities to 

access the highest levels of Chinese Ministries of 

Education and Chinese Universities.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> continue to increase the number of international 

students studying in Queensland

>> build strategic partnerships with overseas 

institutions, universities and schools, educational 

systems and governments

>> promote the engagement of state schools with 

international education

>> develop a departmental position on the 

internationalisation of Queensland education

>> develop Education Queensland International as a 

professional business operation.
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Strengthening organisational capability

Highlights

Key highlights for this objective in 2002–2003:

>> provided a range of professional development 

opportunities linked to key departmental priorities, 

including leadership programs, ICTs for Learning 

initiatives and teaching innovation development

>> employed 36 executive directors (schools) to lead, 

manage and drive improved school performance

>> provided access, facilities and support for all Education 

Queensland staff and students to communicate and 

learn online

>> completed a pilot program of Professional Standards for 

Teachers, to provide a framework that allows teachers to 

refl ect on, and extend, their professional practice

>> implemented innovative and distinctive responses to 

student needs through the Commonwealth-funded 

Quality Teacher Program, with more than 500 teacher-led 

learning innovations in information technology, literacy, 

mathematics, numeracy and science

>> improved participation by target groups through a suite of 

policies, programs and strategies to address issues of 

workforce diversity and equity

>> achieved selection as a fi nalist in the National Australian 

Chamber of Commerce and Industry Work and Family 

Awards

>> funded and supported more than 322 public servants to 

undertake nationally recognised qualifi cations from 

Certifi cate II to Diploma level.
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The future success of education is built on the department’s 

workforce. Workforce capability investment strategies and 

activities in 2002–2003 encouraged the creation of learning 

communities, high quality teaching and learning practices 

and enhanced educational leadership. These strategies 

developed the capability and fl exibility of staff to meet the 

priority needs of school communities. 

In particular, the department’s workforce needs the 

capability and fl exibility to deliver educational reforms to 

ensure high quality education for Queensland students. 

Within the context of reform, the individual and collective 

capability of the school workforce is critical to meeting the 

learning needs of state school students.

Strengthening the workforce
Strategies

>> Developing the characteristics of a learning  

 organisation

>> Ensuring professional networks support development  

 of effective education experiences

The department is committed to facilitating the best possible 

learning outcomes for all students by ensuring the highest 

professional standards of all teachers, principals and 

administrative staff. A key initiative to achieve this objective 

is developing professional learning and support networks 

across the state.

A number of initiatives focused on building a learning 

organisation were implemented in 2002–2003. Learning 

networks were utilised by staff resulting in an exchange of 

ideas, expertise and support.

Through the department’s 20 Staff Colleges, school staff 

strengthened networks across the state to share professional 

knowledge. Each Staff College facilitates learning and 

development to support school-based and corporate 

priorities. Through their local Staff College, principals and 

teachers have shared best practice and innovative practice to 

support continued and improved performance in student 

learning outcomes. Staff Colleges provided more than 350 

innovative learning and development opportunities for more 

than 14 800 staff. 

Through the Commonwealth-funded Quality Teacher Program, 

the department implemented creative and distinctive 

responses to student needs, with more than 500 teacher-led 

learning innovations in information technology, literacy, 

mathematics, numeracy and science. Through the program, 

more than 29 000 teachers participated in professional 

development projects that were developed in schools and 

shared statewide through an online learning community. 

To develop the department as a performance-driven learning 
organisation whose staff are committed to achieving excellent 

education outcomes for all Queensland students
Department of Education Strategic Plan 2002–2006

ObjectiveObjective

These projects helped to form professional communities that 

engage in ongoing learning about innovative pedagogy.

ICTs for Learning

To build capacity in the priority learning area of information 

and communication technologies (ICTs), the department 

provided grants to schools to support learning and 

development opportunities that help integrate ICTs into 

teaching and learning. Every school has an annual Schools 

ICTs for Learning Agreement, which incorporates the ICTs 

Learning Guarantee for Teachers. Schools negotiate the 

guarantee with their teaching staff. The 2002 ICT census 

showed almost 70 per cent of teaching staff and school 

administrators had undertaken, or were planning to 

undertake, this professional development.

Supporting professional learning

The department sponsored statewide workshops for eligible 

teacher aides to attain a Certifi cate III in Education Support 

through recognition of prior work experience and learning. 

A total of 1700 teacher aides have progressed as a result 

of this process.

Mentoring beginning teachers

The department has implemented a comprehensive package 

of workforce renewal initiatives to invigorate classroom 

teaching. The Retired Teachers Mentoring Program was 

piloted in 2002–2003 to help beginning teachers make a 

smoother transition into the workforce and to provide a 

conduit for sharing the experience and knowledge of retired 

teachers. The fi rst phase of the pilot established a mentoring 

framework, identifi ed mentors and trained and matched 

beginning teachers to retired teachers. 

Building educational leadership capacity 
Strategy

Developing educational leadership capabilities

Queensland is fast gaining a reputation for educational 

leadership, not only in local areas, but also on the national 

stage in forums such as the Ministerial Council on Education, 

Employment, Training and Youth Affairs (MCEETYA), where 

Queensland has led initiatives such as ensuring nationally 

consistent curriculum outcomes — see page 39.

Throughout Queensland the department has built 

leadership capacity through its Strategic Leaders Program 

and Leadership Toolkit workshops. These programs have 

built the department’s leadership skills at all levels, 

contributing to enriched, sustainable organisational 

processes and outcomes.

Strengthening organisational capability
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During 2002–2003, 36 executive directors (schools) were 

appointed to provide educational leadership to school 

principals. Executive directors (schools) work with principals, 

teachers and the school community to improve outcomes for 

state school students and are accountable to the Deputy 

Director-General (State Schooling).

The department also implemented an induction program for 

newly appointed principals. During 2002–2003, the program 

provided more than 100 new principals with the professional 

knowledge and skills to support effective school performance 

and improve student outcomes.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> enhance leadership capacity through the 

continued delivery of Leadership Toolkit workshops

>> expand innovative and distinctive responses to 

student needs through the Commonwealth Quality 

Teacher Program

>> share professional knowledge across the state 

through Staff College activities and through 

established professional learning networks such as 

Learning and Development Centres and Centres of 

Excellence.

Innovation improves performance
Strategies

>>  Ensuring professional capability to deliver effective  

 learning outcomes

>>  Improving staff capabilities in developing and  

 implementing innovative practice

Building professional capital

The increasing complexity of today’s educational offerings 

creates a challenge for teaching staff to continually renew 

their pedagogical skills. As part of its commitment to develop 

educational leadership, the department completed a pilot 

program of the Professional Standards for Teachers, 

furthering its reputation nationally for teacher excellence. 

The standards provide a framework that allows teachers to:

> refl ect on professional practice

> establish professional goals

> develop planning and learning goals

> participate in and extend professional learning 

communities

> consider and inform the role and scope of support and 

recognition processes

> consider and design effective models for members of the 

profession to improve teaching and learning outcomes.

An evaluation of the pilot was conducted by the University of 

Queensland in 2002. The evaluation confi rmed the positive 

outcomes of the program and in 2003 the standards were 

endorsed for use on a voluntary basis. More than 300 

teachers working in special interest groups have used the 

standards.

The use of the standards will further teacher engagement 

with their professional community. Further to this, the 

department has commenced exploring, with key 

stakeholders, a comprehensive system of professional 

recognition embedding the standards. www

The Innovative Designs for Enhancing Achievement in 

Schools (IDEAS) program has been implemented in more 

than 180 Queensland schools to date, and in a national trial, 

with a focus on aligning school processes and programs with 

student and community needs. The program increases 

understanding of the strategic direction of the school and 

department for all members of the school community, 

particularly the professional communities of teachers.

Commonwealth-funded Quality Teacher Program projects 

helped to form professional learning communities that 

engaged in ongoing learning about innovative pedagogy 

for students.

Strengthening organisational capability

Building educational leadership and developing high quality teaching and learning 
practices are at the heart of the department’s commitment to achieving excellent 
educational outcomes for all Queensland students.
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To recognise the contribution and achievement of Education 

Queensland staff the department has developed a suite of 

New Professionalism programs including:

> Westfi eld Premier’s Educational Scholarships

> Premier’s Smart State Teacher Excellence Scholarships

> Professional Learning Grants for Teachers and Teacher Aides

> Continued Learning Scholarships

> Teacher Excellence Career Milestones

> ICTs for Learning Teacher Awards

Greater opportunities for teacher aides

During 2002–2003, the department provided opportunities 

for teacher aides by: 

> funding and supporting 4000 teacher aides to attend 

more than 110 statewide workshops on the classifi cation 

and recognition process 

> ensuring progress for more than 2300 teacher aides with 

the relevant qualifi cations to the level 3 teacher aide 

classifi cation (TA003)

> funding and supporting more than 350 teacher aides to 

gain a Certifi cate III in Education Support through a 

recognition process

> providing professional development in competency-based 

assessment for teacher aides

> providing coaching for teacher aides through the 

recognition of skills and knowledge process to gain a 

Certifi cate III in Education Support 

> highlighting and supporting the paraprofessional role of 

teacher aides, including fostering a culture of sharing 

best practice.

Other training activities

Public service training included: 

> funding and supporting more than 322 public servants to 

undertake nationally recognised qualifi cations from 

Certifi cate II to Diploma level

> providing an infrastructure for workplace assessors to 

support the ongoing professional development of public 

servants

> supporting public servants through a training initiative to 

align work practices to a culture of continual improvement.

Celebrating excellence in schools
Showcase Awards for Excellence

The department’s Showcase Awards for Excellence recognise 

and reward outstanding educational practice that 

signifi cantly improves the quality of education students 

receive in state schools. Showcase offers schools the 

opportunity to experiment and innovate and provides 

fi nancial assistance so schools can see through their 

projects and share their success with others.

Two hundred and four submissions were received from 

schools across the state for the awards in 2003. Of these, 

50 were selected for Area Awards and received a development 

grant of $2000. Twelve state fi nalists were chosen and 

received a development grant of $10 000, and six schools 

were selected from these fi nalists to receive a State Award 

and a development grant of $20 000.

The six State Award recipients in 2003 were:

Buranda State School

Buranda State School received a State Award in the 

Educational excellence in a small primary school category for 

its Learning to think: Philosophy improves outcomes project.

In 1997, teachers at Buranda began teaching philosophy to 

students in all classes. As a result, students have shown 

signifi cant and measurable improvements in learning, and 

are achieving well above the state mean in most areas. 

Student behaviour and attitudes have also improved, 

enrolments have more than trebled, and there is now a 

waiting list for the school.

Staff at Buranda are assisting several other schools to 

implement philosophy programs. The work being done at the 

school has been recognised nationally and internationally for 

its innovation and achievements.

Mooloolaba State School 

Mooloolaba State School received a State Award in the 

Educational excellence in a large primary school category for 

its Arts education for life project.

Mooloolaba State School has developed a number of 

education units for Years 1 to 7 that ensure students are 

learning in, about and through the arts.

By integrating the arts into the curriculum, the program 

enriches all learning for students while focusing on arts-

making practices. Involving students in events such as the 

school’s Arts Festival and Wakakirri Story Dance has allowed 

students to learn through real-life experiences.

The school recorded a signifi cant increase in attendance, 

greatly improved results across a range of subjects, as well 

as an improvement in teacher morale since introducing the 

Arts education for life program.

Aramac State School and Alpha State School

Aramac and Alpha State Schools received State Awards in the 

Educational excellence in a small secondary school category 

for their combined project Developing partnerships to 

revitalise secondary education in rural P–10 schools.

Aramac and Alpha State Schools and Longreach Pastoral 

College developed a strong partnership to provide their 

isolated rural students with a relevant and practical 

education that would prepare them for the future.

Both schools redesigned their secondary school curriculum 

in response to the needs of the community, and, as a result, 

students now have access to a Certifi cate II in Agriculture.

The schools worked together to establish this innovative and 

successful project, which resulted in signifi cant 

improvements in school performance, student engagement, 

learning outcomes and community support.

Elanora State High School

Elanora State High School received a State Award in the 

Educational excellence in a large secondary school category 

for their Leadership and business program — creating 

tomorrow’s entrepreneurs today.

Strengthening organisational capability
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Elanora State High School’s Operation Enterprise Excellence 

program develops many of the enterprise skills that 

employers and the local community value in students. The 

real-life activities associated with the program give students 

the opportunity to experience the challenge of managing 

their own company.

As part of the program, students create a company; develop 

a product; make marketing, fi nance and operational 

decisions; and then present a company report. Their ventures 

often cross curriculum areas and Year levels and contribute 

to a whole-school enterprise culture.

The program has attracted strong support from the local 

business community and its success has been recognised 

with national awards in the Australian Business Week Program.

Mabel Park State High School

Mabel Park State High School received a State Award in the 

Excellence in inclusive education category for its program 

entitled Parents overcoming work and education restrictions 

(POWER).

The POWER program gives young people the opportunity 

to re-engage with school, both on an educational and a 

social level.

The program helps students who are pregnant or parenting to 

establish solid foundations in parenting and family skills, 

develop personally and achieve educationally. It supports 

these students within the community so that they develop 

self-help strategies and realise their aspirations. The 

program has helped 129 young parents since 2001. 

Badu Island State School

Badu Island State School received a State Award in the 

Excellence in innovation category for its project entitled 

Interagency partnerships and cooperation strengthens 

educational outcomes.

For the past 10 years Badu Island State School has worked to 

establish strong partnerships with local industry and the 

community to improve opportunities and outcomes for students.

As a result of these partnerships, the school created new 

jobs, provided professional development opportunities for 

staff and the community, improved student outcomes in 

literacy and numeracy, and increased the number of services 

available to support students.

Special innovation award

An additional Special Innovation Award and $20 000 

development grant was made to Peachester State School in  

recognition of its Blues band: Improving educational 

outcomes through instrumental music program.

Peachester State School formed a Blues Band to encourage 

students to participate in the school’s Instrumental Music 

Program. The Blues Band provides a high-profi le, high-

energy, fun and motivating way for students to apply their 

instrumental skills. The band also provides an opportunity 

for students to perform.

The main objective of the band was to make instrumental 

music more attractive to students. The band has fl ourished 

and, as a result, student and community interest in and 

support for instrumental music have grown remarkably. 

There have been corresponding improvements in Year 7 

students’ academic, social and sporting performance.

State fi nalists

The other state fi nalists in the 2003 Showcase Awards for 

Excellence were:

> Mundingburra State School for its Information and 

communication technologies (ICT) project

> Murgon State High School for its Annex program

> Corinda State High School for its The boat … building 

futures program

> Toowoomba State High Special Education Unit for its 

Cottage crafts program

> Kawana Waters State High School for its Kawana business 

enterprise project.

Strengthening organisational capability
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Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> extend the use of the Professional Standards for 

Teachers to facilitate teacher professional 

development and recognise good practice

>> investigate opportunities to share learnings from 

the Innovative Designs for Enhancing Achievement 

in Schools (IDEAS) initiative

>> invest an estimated $39.7 million in the school 

workforce to provide professional development and 

training to teachers, teacher aides and other 

support staff — this includes:

– programs for building professional capacity for 

syllabus implementation in key priority areas 

such as literacy, assessment and reporting, 

gifted and talented students, and languages 

other than English (LOTE)

Strengthening organisational capability

Creating an inclusive workforce
Strategy

Ensuring the workforce refl ects equity principles and 

the diversity of Queensland communities

The department’s workforce is becoming increasingly diverse 

and inclusive. The workforce and work environment are also 

becoming increasingly free of unlawful discrimination and 

harassment. To achieve this, the department has implemented 

a comprehensive suite of policies, programs and strategies 

to address issues of workforce diversity and equity.

Throughout 2002–2003, the department established and 

supported a range of Workforce Diversity and Equity 

consultative mechanisms including the Workforce Diversity 

Council and reference groups for women, Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander peoples, male teachers, people with a 

disability and people from a non-English-speaking background. 

These reference groups were instrumental in bringing the 

department together to celebrate and promote signifi cant 

events such as Disability Action Week and NAIDOC (National 

Aboriginal Islander Day Observance Committee) week.

Initiatives included:

> the Strategic Plan for the Employment and Career 

Management of Women in Education Queensland

> the Employment and Career Development Strategy for 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples

> the Strategic Plan for the Attraction, Recruitment and 

Retention of Male Teachers in Queensland State Schools 

2002–2005

> the development of a Partners for Success Human 

Resources Working Party Action Plan

> commencing the development of the draft Strategic Plan 

for the Employment and Career Management of People 

with a Disability in Education Queensland 2003–2005

Teacher aide qualifi cations awarded

Education Queensland has encouraged teacher 

aides to gain a Certifi cate III in Education 

Support. This commitment included workshops 

across the state, a recognition kit to assist in the 

process, providing 34 advisers to assist teacher 

aides to gather evidence and seven coordinators 

to pre-assess teacher aide portfolios.

In December 2002, a group of outstanding 

teacher aides were recognised for achieving  

Certifi cate III in Education Support qualifi cations. 

The efforts of the fi ve teacher aides in piloting the 

recognition process led to refi nements and a 

greater understanding of how to assist others to 

develop their evidence portfolios.

As more and more teacher aides across the state 

begin to undertake the recognition process, one 

of the key outcomes will be the creation of 

professional networks. Many teacher aides are 

meeting regularly to work on gaining the 

qualifi cation, share ideas, interpret performance 

criteria and support each other’s practice.

– learning opportunities for staff from induction 

through to curriculum leadership and mentoring

– developing and supporting innovative practices 

for areas such as VET in Schools and the 

Education and Training Reforms for the Future

– programs to recognise and reward teachers and 

other staff who have excelled in their fi eld

– integrating research into practice

>> consult with stakeholders to ensure that 

professional development continues to meet the 

needs of teacher aides 

>> meet the professional development needs of 

teacher aides and public servants in accordance 

with current certifi ed agreements.
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Figure 23
Proportion of women in management positions 2002–2003

Target group Second quarter  2002 Second quarter 2003 2005 Target

Teaching — Band 5 and above 48.9% 50.1% 57.5%

Teaching — Band 8–11 25.8% 27.2% 41.1%

Non-teaching — AO7 and equivalent and above 40.7% 47.1% 51.6%

Non-teaching — SO and SES  37% 42.6% 53.8%

Figure 24
Proportion of staff by target groups 2002–2003

Target group Second quarter  2002 Second quarter 2003 Target

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples  1.7% 1.8% 2.4% by 2010*

People from a non-English-speaking background (NESB)   3.1% (NESB1) 3.2% (NESB1) 7.2% by 2005 (NESB1)
  8.9% (NESB1&2) 9.1% (NESB1&2) 13.5% by 2005 (NESB1&2)

People with a disability  9.2% 8.7% No government target set   
    to date

Note: NESB1 — migrants whose fi rst language is a language other than English. NESB2  — children of NESB1 * Percentage of all employees at all salary levels

> the development and release of the reasonable 

adjustment policy and guidelines for people with a 

disability. www

The Herstories: Inspiring Women series was launched in 2003  

on International Women’s Day.  This project supports the 

career progression of female employees at all levels in the 

department through the inspiring career stories of prominent 

Queensland women.

Figure 23 shows an increase in the proportion of women who 

have taken up management positions in teaching and non-

teaching roles. The department profi led and promoted 

diversity and equity success stories including the stories of 

women, male teachers, and people from non-English-

speaking backgrounds, as well as stories related to work–life 

balance initiatives. Notably, in 2002–2003 the department 

was recognised as a fi nalist in the National Australian 

Chamber of Commerce and Industry Work and Family Awards.

As part of a suite of targeted scholarships, the department 

awarded teacher scholarships to 12 Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander people aspiring to pursue university studies in 

teaching and established support mechanisms for 

scholarship recipients. This initiative was complemented by 

the implementation of a marketing campaign to attract 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and males to 

Education Queensland. 

As shown in Figure 24, there was an improvement in the 

proportion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 

and people from a non-English-speaking background 

working in Education Queensland in 2002. However, there 

was a drop in the proportion of staff with a disability.

Increasing the proportion of male teachers is still a focus, 

with the proportion at approximately 27 per cent in 2002 and 

2003. The department implemented the Male Teacher 

Education Support (MATES) program to promote the teaching 

profession to males. The program provides mentoring, 

support and guidance to male senior secondary school 

students, male university students enrolled in a teaching 

course and recent male teaching graduates. 

Inaugural Pam Gilbert Award for 
outstanding achievement in gender equity 

On the 20th anniversary of its formation, the 

Association of Women Educators (AWE) founded a 

memorial award in honour of Professor Pam 

Gilbert’s outstanding achievement in gender equity.

Pam Gilbert was awarded the honorary title of 

Professor of James Cook University in recognition 

of her distinguished 20-year career in teaching 

and research, and her publications on social 

justice in education. Pam Gilbert’s work was 

based on a dedication to social justice. She was a 

strong advocate for students living in poverty and 

for gender equity. Pam died on 13 November 

2002 after a long battle with cancer. 

Maree Hedemann was the fi rst recipient of this 

award. Maree’s long career in Education 

Queensland has been dedicated to achieving 

social justice for students particularly where 

issues of poverty and gender intersect.

Maree has developed strategic policy positions 

for Education Queensland on a range of social 

justice issues and initiated a number of very 

successful action research projects in schools 

relating to literacy, homophobia and gendered 

violence. She is currently working with the Literate 

Futures team to develop diversity materials.

Maree is renowned and respected by her 

colleagues for her intellect, her deep understanding 

of social justice issues in education and her 

collaborative and consultative approach to 

working with others to achieve social justice.

Strengthening organisational capability
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To assist overseas-trained teachers, particularly those from 

non-English-speaking backgrounds, to secure employment in 

Education Queensland, the department has conducted two 

Overseas-Trained Teachers Orientation Programs. Through 

these programs, overseas-trained teachers are given 

information about the processes for teacher registration and 

teacher recruitment and selection.

The department continued to improve the quality of data 

used as the basis for strategic interventions. 

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will implement:

>> employment strategies for people from a 

non-English-speaking background and people with 

a disability

>> further support for the recruitment, retention and 

career development of Indigenous employees

>> a Reasonable Adjustment Policy for people with a 

disability

>> workforce diversity and equity awareness programs.

Strategy

Ensuring resources are used effectively to achieve 

objectives

This strategy is addressed in ‘Internal resource management’ 

— see page 68.

Aligning resources to priorities
Strategy

Ensuring that organisational behaviours, systems and 

structures align with performance objectives

During 2002–2003, schools implemented a framework that 

directly linked their planning to organisational and 

community objectives through the School Improvement and 

Accountability Framework (SIAF). 

SIAF is the framework for quality improvement and enhanced 

accountability in state schools under which all schools have 

developed School Annual Reports and Operational Plans 

(SAROPs), as part of their annual operational planning and 

reporting cycle. The SAROP process is designed to assist 

schools to align with the department’s strategic plan while 

responding to their community’s needs. The SIAF framework 

encourages school communities to focus on continuous 

improvement and on achieving the outcomes in 

Destination 2010.

Enhancing the skills of the Education Queensland workforce 

is crucial to providing students with high quality and relevant 

learning experiences. During 2002–2003, the department 

continued to develop and refi ne teaching and learning programs 

that engage students and cater to their different needs.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> continue planning and reporting in line with the 

School Improvement and Accountability Framework 

and Destination 2010

>> strengthen the link between performance 

measurement and strategic planning.

Embracing technology for better 
educational outcomes
Strategy

Maintaining and enhancing information communication 

technologies for learning

During 2002–2003, the department continued to integrate 

ICTs into school programs. The goal of the ICTs for Learning 

strategy is to improve ICT access and ICT skills for students 

and teachers and increase access to online resources in 

schools. As part of the strategy, more computers will be 

connected to the Internet, extra computers will be provided 

to students, and old computers will be replaced. The strategy 

supports schools to ensure that ICTs are used as tools for 

everyday learning and are integrated into curriculum and 

classroom practices.

The department provided grants to schools to support 

learning and development opportunities that will help 

integrate ICTs into teaching and learning — see page 42. 

Forty school projects and 70 district discretional grants 

shared in $830 000 through the Innovation, Excellence and 

Improvement Program to support their ICT initiatives in 

teaching and learning.

The department’s online Curriculum Exchange received more 

than 5.3 million hits in 2002–2003, maintaining its position 

as one of the department’s most utilised resources. The 

Curriculum Exchange provides:

> an online database of resources to support the integration 

of ICTs into the curriculum

> multimedia online learning modules that introduce 

students to working with media elements that can be 

combined to produce multimedia productions

> MacquarieNet, with free access to Australian and 

international reference works and AAP and ABC 

news feeds

> EduList, with links to more than 2320 evaluated websites

> resource collections

> Teaching Ideas and Practices (TIPS) — a collection of 

teaching methods, strategies and processes, contributed 

by Queensland teachers, which can be downloaded and 

modifi ed by teachers.

More than 5500 teachers participated in professional 

development activities through the eight Learning and 

Development Centres (Information and Communication 

Technologies), designed to support students and teachers in 

Strengthening organisational capability
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this key learning outcome area. During 2002–2003, the 

department established a new Learning and Development 

Centre (Information and Communication Technologies — 

Students with Disabilities) to support teachers and offer training 

in specialised technology programs for students with disabilities.

During 2002–2003, the department launched the Girls and ICTs 

Framework for Action to address the under-representation of 

girls in ICT subjects and further study.

The department also provided grants to schools to support 

access, skills development and the integration of ICTs into 

the curriculum through the Learning Place.

The department provided vacation schools for staff to 

improve their skills in online learning environments, as well 

as workshops and presentations for all key educational 

groups including education advisers, Staff College principals, 

and staff at learning and development centres  and schools 

of excellence.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> provide more learning opportunities for teachers to 

increase their skills in integrating ICTs into the 

curriculum.

Using knowledge as our competitive edge
Strategy

Improving the management of the department’s 

knowledge assets 

The Learning Place

The Learning Place provides a range of practical and 

innovative ways to integrate ICTs into teaching and learning. 

To support teachers in their use of the e-learning platform, 

a team of 27 online learning coordinators were recruited and 

trained in 2002.

Corporate Data Warehouse

Corporate Data Warehouse developments continued as part 

of ongoing efforts to ensure that quality management 

processes are applied to the department’s corporate 

information. The data warehouse collects, stores and 

analyses data that forms the basis for evidence-based 

decision making at all levels throughout the department.

During 2002–2003, additional reporting capacity was 

developed underpinned by a unique student identifi er. 

This included reports that measure the stability of 

enrolments at state schools and the degree of mobility 

among state school students. The unique student identifi er 

allows Year 5 and Year 7 literacy and numeracy test results to 

be supplied to state high schools for their Year 8 intake 

irrespective of the location of the state primary schools from 

which the students originated.

The Corporate Data Warehouse has enabled the archiving of 

student data and the automated collection and reporting of 

workplace health and safety information.

Library services

The department’s library services delivered a range of online 

and other services to schools and policy makers throughout 

the department during 2002–2003. This included: 

> 750 000 student viewings of videos borrowed from the 

video library

> 1.25 million student uses of resources from the 

Curriculum Library

> provision of journal articles to students within 24 hours 

of request

> research and information services tailored to assist 

executive decision making.

Electronic document management

In 2002–2003, the department implemented an electronic 

document and records management system (eDRMS) as a 

key element of its Knowledge Management Framework. This 

system, known as TRIM, improves the management of 

corporate records and information by providing quick and 

easy access and improving workfl ow and business processes.

Web content management system

The purchase and installation of a web content management 

system occurred in 2002–2003 to more effectively manage 

content for the department’s website.

Strengthening organisational capability

Information and communication technologies are being integrated into everyday 
teaching and learning.
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The team is focused on ensuring the department complies 

with government law and public law. The legal advice the 

team provides covers a range of issues as diverse as staff 

transfers and discipline, hostile entry onto school premises, 

the accreditation of non-state schools, and the suspension 

or exclusion of students. In addition, the unit is frequently 

asked to make submissions on policy and legislation matters.

During 2002–2003, the unit advanced submissions of a legal 

or policy nature in various matters including disability 

discrimination, teacher registration and home schooling. A 

greater focus on child protection resulted in the unit being 

involved in proposals to amend the statutory framework for 

child protection that affects the state and non-state sector.

Copyright advice

The Copyright Advisory Group, a subcommittee of the 

MCEETYA Taskforce on Schools Resourcing, appointed the 

department, through Legal Advisory Services, to lead a 

project that commenced in 2003 to promote ‘smart copying’ 

in schools.

The objective is to formulate a strategic framework, including 

a range of options for consideration by school education 

authorities, which will assist in managing and controlling the 

costs of print and digital copying at the school level. The 

framework aims to encourage more effi cient and effective 

copying practices while at the same time providing 

appropriate access to materials required to meet 

educational outcomes.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> improve service outcomes in a value-for-money 

environment by implementing the whole-of-

government shared services model.

Outlook 2003–2004

The department will:

>> improve data collection processes to facilitate 

accurate and timely reporting of information on 

achievement levels, retention rates, age and school 

Year levels, school disciplinary absences and 

student movement between schools

>> improve access to web-based information and 

communication through its web content 

management system.

Corporate governance
Strategy

Providing quality corporate governance including human 

resources, legislative and executive services, fi nance, 

facilities, policy, strategic planning and reporting

The department’s Corporate Governance Framework and 

strategies are outlined in the following section. In addition to 

this core framework, during 2002–2003 the department’s 

Strategic Management Team revised governance, reporting 

and accountability arrangements. The main outcome was 

strengthened governance and reporting, and greater clarity in 

accountability. In particular, a directorate was established 

under the leadership of a deputy director-general to manage 

state schooling.

Shared services

The Shared Service Initiative is a whole-of-government 

approach to corporate services delivery. The purpose of 

the initiative is to provide high quality and cost-effective 

corporate support services from centres of excellence. 

From 1 July 2003, the department will host one of the shared 

service providers as a separate business unit, and will report 

separately on its operations in the 2003–2004 Department 

of Education annual report.

Strategic planning capacity in schools was boosted in 

2002–2003 with the roll-out of Destination 2010, the action 

plan to implement Queensland State Education — 2010, and 

the implementation of the School Improvement and 

Accountability Framework. During 2003, all schools 

established local targets to meet the systemic targets 

outlined in Destination 2010. 

The department revised the education performance 

measures under the State Government’s Managing for 

Outcomes framework to ensure they refl ect the current 

strategic direction of education in Queensland.

Administrative law

The department’s Administrative Law Services Unit manages 

core governance responsibilities on behalf of the department 

including freedom of information and privacy and is 

responsible for defending all anti-discrimination and judicial 

review actions brought against the agency.
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corporate governance and
internal resource management

Through corporate governance and effective resource 

management, the department contributes to government’s 

priorities and meets the needs of clients and stakeholders. 

The department operates under a framework that integrates 

strategic management and leadership, standards and 

processes, accountability, management of people and 

resources and risk management.

In 2002–2003, the department was responsible for 

approximately 25 per cent of the State Government Budget. 

The department’s prudent allocation of funds to districts, 

schools and other parts of the organisation is based on the 

principle of delivering value-for-money educational services, 

linked to whole-of-government outcomes.
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Corporate governance
Corporate governance is the system organisations use to 

direct, control and drive organisational performance. The 

department’s governance structure specifi es the distribution 

of responsibilities, outlines the criteria for making decisions, 

sets organisational objectives and monitors performance. 

The system works to assure stakeholders that activities are 

undertaken with due diligence and accountability.

‘Good governance means that the organisation’s leadership, 

its staff, the Government, the Parliament and the population 

can rely on the organisation to do its work well and with full 

probity and accountability.’ 

Ken Smith, Director-General of Education.

Public sector governance includes how an organisation is 

managed, its corporate and other structures, its culture, its 

policies and strategies and the way it deals with its various 

stakeholders. The concept includes being open, accountable 

and prudent when making decisions, providing policy advice, 

and managing and delivering programs.

The accountable offi cer — the Director-General 

The Director-General, Ken Smith, is responsible to the Minister 

for Education and the Premier of Queensland for the effective 

and effi cient operation of the department. A transparent 

management system supports the Director-General as illustrated 

in the governance framework — see Figure 25. In 2003, under 

the stewardship of a new Director-General, the corporate 

governance framework was adjusted to refl ect both internal 

and external governance relationships of the department. 

In response to a shift to whole-of-government arrangements, 

coupled with greater accountability at the local level, the 

department’s Corporate Governance Board was replaced with 

a system of committees focused on strategic priorities.

The Director-General is a member of a number of chief 

executive offi cer forums that address issues related to the 

achievement of whole-of-government priorities across the 

public sector and ensure integration with related portfolios 

such as the Department of Employment and Training and the 

Department of State Development. 

In early 2003, the Director-General, together with the 

Strategic Management Team, revised governance reporting 

and accountability arrangements for the department. 

The outcome was strengthened governance and reporting 

arrangements and clarity in accountability. A new 

organisational structure became effective from 31 March 

2003. The most notable changes under this new arrangement 

included the creation of:

> a directorate of state schooling under the leadership of a 

deputy director-general

> a shared service provider hosted by the Department of 

Education as part of its commitment to the whole-of-

government approach to corporate services delivery in 

Queensland

> a directorate of Planning, Resourcing and Performance 

designed to achieve greater alignment, accountability and 

performance by linking resources to strategic priorities.

Corporate governance 

Accountability mechanisms

> Organisational performance
 – Strategic, business and  

 operational planning
 – Performance monitoring and  review
 – Risk management
> Financial monitoring and review
> Internal auditing
> External accountability mechanisms

Strategic Management Team

> Resource Planning and 
Management Committee

> Workforce Capability Committee
> Information Steering Committee
> Audit and Risk Management Committee
> Marketing and Communication 

Committee
> Research and Strategic Policy 

Committee

Standards and quality process

> Legislation
> Policies and delegations
> Code of conduct
> Personal performance and 

development planning

Figure 25
Corporate Governance Framework

Director-General
(Accountable Offi cer)

Minister

Government and Parliament

Public

Parliamentary Committees

CEO outcome forums

Queensland Audit Offi ce

External governance
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Strategic Management Team 

The Strategic Management Team is the department’s 

principal management group. Chaired by the Director-

General, the team includes the leader of each of the 

department’s functional areas and other senior offi cers — 

see pages 13–14.

At its weekly meetings, the team sets the strategic direction 

and corporate objectives of the department, facilitates 

effi cient completion of major initiatives, plans for and 

manages the optimal use of the department’s resources 

including analysing key performance indicators, and 

develops leadership and management capacity in the 

organisation. 

The team’s work is supported by six committees:

> Resource Planning and Management Committee: Focuses 

on achieving cost-effi cient and effective use of resources 

and value-for-money outcomes, and oversees the 

department’s annual business planning and 

budgeting process.

> Information Steering Committee: Directs the development 

of the Information Strategic Plan and associated planning, 

and ensures the optimal use of the department’s 

information resources to improve business fl exibility, 

align with future directions, provide business support and 

ensure a return on investment.

> Workforce Capability Committee: Develops strategies to 

maintain the department’s quality workforce, prioritise 

workforce capability activities to align employee skills 

development with current and future operational needs, 

and monitor performance.

> Audit and Risk Management Committee: Acts as an 

independent advisory body to support the Director-

General’s fi nancial management responsibilities under 

the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1977 and the 

Financial Management Standard 1997.

> Marketing and Communication Committee: Acts as a 

sounding-board, think tank and source of strategic advice 

on marketing-related issues for the department.

> Research and Strategic Policy Committee: Focuses on 

developing a research and policy agenda for the 

department.

The committees include members of the Strategic 

Management Team, other senior offi cers in the department 

and external representatives. The purpose of these 

committees is to:

> strategically review and identify alternative resolutions to 

major departmental issues

> inform the decision-making process for governance issues.

Risk management

The department has practices, procedures and resources to 

support the management of risk in compliance with the 

Financial Management Standard 1997. The department’s 

policy objective is to develop a risk management culture 

within the department and to help all staff to implement 

sound risk management practices. 

This is supported by the following strategies:

> establishing a committee that addresses risk management

> providing risk management services and coordination 

through a dedicated work unit

> developing and distributing the risk management policy

> implementing a risk register system, including providing 

analysis of preventative action that can be integrated into 

planning processes

> providing training through a risk management module 

and guidelines available to the entire department, 

including schools, through the Department of Education 

Manual (DOEM).

These strategies form a framework that conforms to 

international best practice as prescribed by the joint 

standard on risk management (AS/NZS 4360/1999—

Risk Management).

The responsibility for managing risk on a day-to-day basis 

rests with the appropriate functional areas and is directed 

strategically by the Risk Management Policy and the Audit 

and Risk Management Committee, supported by Legal and 

Risk Management Services.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee acts as an 

independent advisory body to support the Director-General’s 

fi nancial management responsibilities under the Financial 

Administration and Audit Act 1977 and the Financial 

Management Standard 1997. Of signifi cance to the 

committee is:

> how the department meets its corporate governance 

obligations

> how the audit team applies risk mitigation strategies to its 

planning and implementation of audit reviews

> how the audit team can review the department’s risk 

management system as part of its assurance activities.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee consists of:

> the Director-General

> Assistant Director-General for Planning, Resourcing and 

Performance

> Executive Director (Schools) for Toowoomba

> Principal, Forest Lake State School

> an independent member

> Principal Advisor (Offi ce of International, Non-State and 

Higher Education)

> Assistant Auditor-General, Queensland Audit Offi ce 

(observer)

> Director, Audit Operations or deputy (invited guest).

The achievements of the committee, in terms of its internal 

audit role, include:

> reviewing and approving the Strategic Internal Audit Plan 

and the Annual Internal Audit Plan to confi rm the 

adequacy of planned coverage and work priorities

> reviewing the fi ndings and recommendations of audit 

reports, both internal and external, and ensuring that 

recommendations have been implemented

Corporate governance
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> providing support and advice to Internal Audit

> identifying mechanisms that ensure Internal Audit keeps 

abreast of new developments to improve the audit function.

The achievements of the committee, in terms of its risk 

management role, include:

> establishing, monitoring and managing risk limits and 

tolerances across the department

> encouraging the development of performance standards 

that are realistic and communicated throughout the 

department

> proactively facilitating the production of risk reports for 

all areas of potential exposure and advising management 

how best to manage exposure

> establishing regular independent, critical evaluation of 

the department’s risk management activities.

Regular review maintains strategic focus

The strategic management team and all departmental 

committees outlined in this section undergo an annual 

self-evaluation process that allows them to appraise their 

performance against their terms of reference, and assess 

the relevance of these terms. 

Cascading strategic management to districts and schools

Executive Directors (Schools) located in the department’s 

33 districts provide educational leadership and mentoring 

to schools. Executive Directors (Schools) work with principals, 

teachers and the school community to improve outcomes for 

state school students and are accountable to the Deputy 

Director-General for State Schooling. 

Standards and quality processes

In addition to establishing a strong management structure, 

the department establishes and communicates expected 

standards for management through:

> legislation as outlined in 

Appendix 8

> policies and delegations

> a Code of Conduct.

Policies and delegations

The department has policies, procedures and delegations to 

cover departmental activities including human resource 

management, general administrative matters, fi nancial 

management, and information technology management. 

These are updated regularly to ensure they continue to be 

relevant and present a consistent policy direction. 

Code of Conduct

The department places great value on public confi dence in 

the schooling system and seeks to ensure that all employees 

exhibit high standards of ethical and professional behaviour. 

The department’s Code of Conduct provides guidance to staff 

about what is expected of them and informs the public about 

the standards of conduct they can expect when dealing with 

the department. The Code of Conduct is based on the fi ve 

principles set out in the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, 

which are:

> respect for the law and the system of government

> respect for persons

> integrity

> diligence

> economy and effi ciency.

Application of this code is supported by departmental 

policies, procedures and guidelines and strategies such as 

training and education to help staff apply the fi ve 

fundamental ethical principles  — see Appendix 5.  www

Personal performance and development planning

The departmental performance management system builds 

on the purpose and requirements of the Offi ce of the Public 

Service Directive (18/97—Performance Management) 

through its integrated and fl exible planning and review 

processes. These processes focus on achieving 

organisational objectives through planning, individual and 

group accountability, and developing and maintaining a 

skilled and motivated workforce through professional 

development and reward and recognition initiatives. 

The performance management system provides for a 

planning and review framework that:

> sets work goals and objectives consistent with the 

department’s strategic planning initiatives

> encourages regular and constructive feedback for all 

employees

> provides professional and personal career development

> recognises and rewards excellence

> deals fairly but decisively with poor performance or conduct.

Accountability mechanisms

The monitoring and review of organisational activities is a 

critical activity performed at all levels of management. In 

performing these roles, the Director-General and senior 

managers are supported by internal reporting systems, 

internal audit and various committees.

Organisational performance: Strategic, business and 
operational planning

The department’s direction and priorities are outlined in the 

department’s strategic plan. The plan is based on an 

understanding of the needs of clients, the views of partners, 

the ways in which the environment is changing and the 

expectations of Government. 

A shared understanding of, and commitment to, the strategic 

intent is required to ensure the intentions of the plan are 

achieved throughout the department. The strategic plan is 

supported by cascading plans and resource agreements 

within the department. These ensure:

> links are created between community needs, government 

priorities, departmental and divisional planning and the 

department’s outputs

> the responsibilities and relationship between the 

executive governance function of the department, 

management and schools are explicit

> decision-making processes are specifi ed and support a 

constructive partnership between central offi ce, districts 

and schools.

Corporate governance 
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The department’s framework for internal reporting and 

accountability, including the systems that monitor fi nancial 

and non-fi nancial performance, is outlined in Figure 26.

The strategic plan describes the department’s role in 

achieving the State Government’s Smart State vision and 

other whole-of-government priorities encapsulated in the 

Charter of Social and Fiscal Responsibility. The plan defi nes 

both the educational outcomes the department aims to 

achieve, and the internal capabilities that will enable the 

organisation to achieve those outcomes.

This strategic direction cascades to business unit planning 

and other strategic documents such as the Information 

Strategic Plan. The annual report provides achievements 

based on the strategic plan. The Ministerial Portfolio 

Statement is the Minister’s and department’s primary 

external accountability document. 

The key objectives for the state schooling system are outlined 

in Queensland State Education — 2010 (QSE—2010). The 

action plan, Destination 2010, details the outcomes, 

measures and systemic targets that schools will achieve by 

2005 in order to meet the system-wide objectives of 

QSE—2010. During 2003, all schools established local 

targets based on systemic targets in the action plan.

The School Improvement and Accountability Framework 

(SIAF) was implemented during 2002–2003 and defi nes 

performance expectations for schools and school leaders. 

The framework has streamlined reporting requirements, 

reducing the workload associated with planning and helping 

schools to focus on student achievement, quality 

improvement and enhanced accountability.

Collectively, QSE—2010, Destination 2010, the strategic 

plan, and the Ministerial Portfolio Statement provide an 

excellent planning and accountability framework for state 

schools and for achieving the department’s key objectives.

Performance monitoring and reporting

A balanced report card approach was introduced in February 

2001 to refl ect and report on the important drivers of activity 

outlined in QSE—2010, and to report on the progress of 

strategic initiatives. The departmental report card:

> promotes a more balanced approach to planning and 

management by providing both fi nancial and 

non-fi nancial indicators

> provides a simple, concise message about performance 

priorities yet includes a comprehensive range of 

indicators to support evidence-based decision making

> assists with monitoring implementation of the strategic 

plan by including the performance indicators identifi ed in 

the plan.

The department has a quarterly performance reporting 

process in place to monitor performance indicators against 

the key success indicators, within the balanced report card 

format. The Strategic Management Team receives a Corporate 

Business Report that details progress towards strategic 

objectives and priorities.

Figure 26
Planning, reporting and accountability framework
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Internal Audit 

The Audit Operations Unit provides independent and 

objective assurance and consulting activities that improve the 

department’s operations. The unit operates in accordance 

with standards issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors.

The unit applies a risk assessment methodology to its 

planning and audit programs to identify, address and 

minimise organisational risk exposure. Through its audits the 

unit has an obligation to measure the level of compliance 

and the internal controls in place to reduce the department’s 

exposure to fraud.

Furthermore, in line with the new revised international 

Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, 

the Audit Operations Unit has taken on the additional role of 

helping the organisation manage risk by:

> identifying and evaluating signifi cant exposures to risk

> contributing to the improvement of risk management and 

control systems

> monitoring and evaluating the risk management system.

The unit reports to the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee each quarter.

Clients include central offi ce organisational support units, 

schools and statutory authorities within the education 

portfolio. The unit also provided advice to parents and 

citizens’ associations.

A client focus encourages a shared understanding of the 

operational activities and the role of internal audit as well as 

improving outcomes and the quality of education in schools.

Internal Audit highlights 2002–2003

Financial and delivery performance

Internal Audit added value to the organisation by:

> reviewing and monitoring the system of internal controls 

for fi nancial and non-fi nancial systems and providing 

advice on fraud control and prevention

> increasing the time on audit projects by 28 per cent from 

51 per cent in 2001–2002 to 79 per cent in 2002–2003 

demonstrating improved effi ciency in administration — 

see Figure 27

> ensuring the department conformed with required 

fi nancial legislation, regulations and standards

> reviewing fi nancial reports, including performance 

information supplied to the accountable offi cer, executive 

groups and committees

> maintaining a consultative relationship with external audit

> implementing systems for monitoring the organisation’s 

risk-management processes.

Figure 27
Internal Audit activities 2002–2003

Performance objective  Performance result

Effective preparation 

and  completion of 

the audit program

> 85 per cent of the audit program 

completed

> 90 per cent of available auditor 

hours committed to productive 

audit tasks

Fraud and corruption 

prevention

> Maintaining and using a fraud 

investigation manual

> Maintaining the internal audit 

website with details of best 

practices for implementation

Advisory services 4%

Investigations 4%

System development training 1%

Committees 3%

Planning 2%

Other tasks 3%

Audit projects 79%
Training 4%

Corporate governance 

Stakeholder relationships

Internal Audit maintained effective stakeholder 

relationships by:

> consulting with all parties to prepare the strategic internal 

audit plan

> using relationship managers with specifi c responsibilities 

for designated clients

> providing positive feedback as part of the audit liaison 

process with clients.

Performance objective  Performance result

Maintain closer 

relationships

> Positive client survey feedback 

from stakeholders

> 5 per cent of audit time devoted to 

providing advice to management 

including advice on systems 

development

Maintain professional 

standards in meeting 

client needs

> Continue to meet the training 

needs of principals to implement 

internal controls and manage the 

risk of fraud

> Positive client survey feedback
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Client assessment

Post-audit surveys were used to assess clients’ views and 

make improvements to the level of service provided by 

Internal Audit. Since 2000–2001, feedback has indicated 

audits are conducted professionally and in a courteous and 

timely manner — see Figure 28. The survey has also found 

that audit reports are understandable and address major 

concerns. This results in clients being better informed about 

their systems, controls and risks.

Figure 28
Percentage of clients satisfi ed with Internal Audit processes

Corporate governance

Learning organisation

Internal Audit continues to attract and retain qualifi ed, 

professional staff by:

> ensuring the unit has the latest new developments and 

modern methodologies and techniques available to staff

> offering opportunities to staff to gain experience in the 

various types of audits.

Performance objective  Performance result

Develop staff skills > All staff trained to use the latest  

audit package (SAS)

> 30 per cent of staff completed 

formal qualifi cations in corporate 

investigations through the 

University of Western Sydney

> 4 per cent of time allocated to 

staff professional development

Professional 

qualifi cations

> All auditors hold tertiary 

qualifi cations with skills 

including accounting, 

engineering, law, economics, 

human resource management 

and psychology

> Staff actively involved in 

professional associations such as 

the Institute of Internal Auditors,  

Australian Society of Certifi ed 

Practising Accountants, Institute of 

Chartered Accountants, Institute of 

Electronic and Electrical Engineers

Schools, teaching and learning

Internal Audit maintained a high profi le in schools by:

> implementing a risk-based continuous audit program in 

schools

> providing advice and professional development to 

principals and school-based staff on fraud control and 

risk assessment

> assessing the adequacy of, and adherence to, controls 

and procedures

> investigating allegations of fraud against parents and 

citizens’ associations (P&Cs) and schools.

Performance objective  Performance result

Effective preparation 

for, and completion of, 

the schools audit 

program

> 735 schools audited during 

2002–2003

> Positive client feedback results 

> 70 investigations for possible 

fraud, theft or misuse of resources 

in schools and P&Cs — mostly 

P&C fraud with the majority 

referred to the police

Ensure audit outcomes 

relevant

> Audit recommendations were 

relevant to departmental goals

Note: The percentage of clients satisfi ed on the graph includes the proportion of those 
surveyed that indicated that they thought the Internal Audit processes were ‘very good’ 
or ‘excellent’.

External reporting and accountability

The Ministerial Portfolio Statement is the Minister’s and 

department’s primary external accountability document. It 

represents a service agreement with the Queensland 

Government and the community it serves. It sets out what the 

department will achieve and how it will use public money to 

meet community needs. The department reports quarterly to 

Queensland Treasury on all outputs as funded in the 

Ministerial Portfolio Statement, including information on 

fi nancial and non-fi nancial indicators.

The department’s accountability system also includes 

external accountability mechanisms in the form of auditing 

and fi nancial statement certifi cation by the Auditor-General 

and the Auditor-General’s reports tabled in Parliament and 

reported publicly through annual reports.

This suite of processes and documents provides Parliament 

with assurance that accountable offi cers are managing the 

department effi ciently and effectively. Other external 

accountability mechanisms that complement the internal 

corporate governance framework include:

> reporting annually on Priorities in Progress with 

Queensland Treasury, detailing progress towards 

whole-of-government priorities

> providing access to departmental information through 

freedom of information services 

> reporting to the Department of Premier and Cabinet on 

legislative and statutory requirements.

2001–2002

0

100

20

40

60

80

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Audit conduct Results – accuracy
and usefulness

Timeframe Overall
satisfaction

2000–2001 2002–2003



Department of Education Annual Report 2002–200368

In addition, the internal governance framework is supported by:

> Judicial Review of Administrative Decisions

> Ombudsman

> External Audit

> Crime and Misconduct Commission

> Parliamentary Estimates Committee

> Public Accounts Committee.

Internal resource management
Strategy

Ensuring resources are used effectively to achieve 

objectives

Creating value for money

The department was responsible for approximately 25 per 

cent of the State Government Budget in 2002–2003. The 

department’s prudent allocation of funds to districts, schools 

and other parts of the organisation is based on the principle 

of delivering value-for-money educational services, linked to 

whole-of-government outcomes.

As one of the largest departments, the Department of 

Education has taken a lead role in the Queensland 

Government’s shared services approach to providing high 

quality and cost-effective corporate services to clients, and is 

hosting a shared services provider from 1 July 2003.

The Shared Services Initiative is a whole-of-government 

approach to corporate services delivery. The Government’s 

vision is to provide high quality and cost-effective corporate 

support services to multiple customers through centres of 

excellence. This will be achieved through the consolidation 

of corporate services functions in all agencies across 

Government into fi ve large-scale and two smaller-scale 

shared service providers and a technology centre of skill. 

These providers will be hosted by an existing government 

department and provide services to a cluster of client 

agencies. In addition, the assets and liabilities associated 

with the delivery of corporate services are transferred to the 

new providers.

Human resources  — our people, our future
Queensland’s largest employer

The department employs more people than any other 

organisation in Queensland. More than 83 000 payment 

summaries were issued during 2002–2003. Approximately 

61 000 employees were paid each fortnight, representing 

52 038 full-time equivalent employees. The majority of the 

workforce comprises teachers and teacher support staff in 

schools, as shown in Figure 29. The remainder of the 

workforce supports the department’s operations from 33 

district offi ces, seven corporate services units and from 

central offi ce.

Seventy-three per cent of the department’s budget is 

allocated to staffi ng, as shown in Figure 30. Of this, more than 

92 per cent is spent on the workforce in schools, highlighting 

the streamlining of central administration and the importance 

of school staff in achieving departmental outcomes.

Internal resource management

Targeting excellence 

Ensuring the workforce has the capability and fl exibility to 

deliver the objectives of QSE—2010 is a core objective of the 

action plan Destination 2010. Schools have set targets 

through the Destination 2010 process for measures linked to:

> ensuring teachers are involved in learning and 

development opportunities that support the continuous 

improvement of skills, knowledge and professional 

behaviours necessary for contemporary best practice

> developing leadership that drives educational reform, 

supports productive relationships and promotes innovation

> utilising employment practices that are equitable with a 

workforce that refl ects the diversity of the community 

it serves.

Optimising potential through a commitment to ongoing 
education and training

With an estimated $35.9 million invested in teacher 

professional development in 2002–2003, the department 

provided a range of professional development opportunities 

for more than 30 000 staff, linked to key departmental 

priorities, including leadership programs, ICTs for Learning 

initiatives and innovation in teaching.

Recognising excellence

Recognising achievement and rewarding Queensland’s 

workforce is integral to the success of the education system 

and the learning outcomes of students.

Figure 30
The proportion of departmental budget allocated to staffi ng 
2002–2003

Figure 29
Workforce composition 2002–2003

School-based staff 67.2%

Other departmental staff 5.5%

Other expenses 27.3%

Note: The composition is calculated on a full-time equivalent basis.
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Figure 31
Queensland student–teacher ratio 1998–2002

Source: ABS Cat No. 4220.0, Schools Australia 2002.

Employment practices

Recruitment, selection and promotion

The department again successfully met the challenge of 

ensuring that schools in all locations are provided with 

teachers and that support staff are in place in schools, 

district offi ces, corporate services units and central offi ce. 

As part of the department’s commitment to the State 

Government’s Breaking the Unemployment Cycle initiative, 

more than 400 trainees (230 full-time equivalent) were 

employed during 2002–2003 through the Working for You 

traineeship program. www

Dynamic teaching workforce

The individual and collective capability of the school workforce 

is critical to meeting the learning needs of state school students. 

During 2002–2003, teacher numbers increased through the 

employment of more than 500 teachers including:

> one hundred and ninety-one additional teachers to 

support the further reduction of class sizes and underpin 

behaviour management strategies from the start of 2003 

— this is the third stage of the allocation of 800 additional 

teachers over four years in schools identifi ed as having 

the greatest need. These numbers are over and above the 

number of teachers required to meet enrolment growth 

and include 33 teacher positions to support the fi rst stage 

of the Preparing for School trial

> more than 350 additional teachers from the start of 2003 

to support enrolment growth, new facilities and students 

with disabilities.

Best practice human resource management

The department is moving towards best practice in human 

resource management to maximise the effectiveness of its 

workforce. Good human resource management strategies are 

crucial to the department’s performance and to maintaining 

and improving student–teacher ratios. Figure 31 

demonstrates that student–teacher ratios in secondary 

schools are comparable with the national average and 

Queensland’s ratios are more favourable than the national 

average in primary schools.

The numbers of teachers are predicted to increase in 

response to student enrolments — see Figure 32.

Distinct from the overall growth in teacher numbers is the 

number of permanent appointments occurring in the 

teaching workforce. In 2002–2003, more than 2000 teachers 

were appointed to permanent teaching positions. Of the 

2002–2003 appointments, more than 70 per cent were 

graduates from pre-service training institutions.

During 2002–2003, more than 350 staff in schools gained 

promotion, including 222 teachers (63 per cent female), 

23 heads of department (52 per cent female), 38 deputy 

principals (55 per cent female), and 74 principals (39 per 

cent female). Promotion helps develop the careers of those 

who have existing knowledge and expertise and 

demonstrates the department’s commitment to supporting 

women’s career paths.

Note: Teacher numbers are June-budgeted FTE fi gures and include TRS. Enrolments 
relate to the August Census and are full-time fi gures. The 2003 enrolment fi gure is 
based on the latest enrolment forecast for August 2003.

Figure 32
Teaching workforce growth compared with enrolment 
growth 1999–2003
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Implementation continued of a new classifi cation structure 

for teacher aides, based on salary progression through the 

attainment of appropriate qualifi cations.

Providing further evidence of the dynamic nature of the 

department’s workforce, more than 1100 teachers were 

transferred during 2002–2003. These transfers help to meet 

the personal needs of teachers and organisational demand 

in rural and remote areas.

Signifi cant work continued to renew and reinvigorate the 

teaching workforce. The Career Change program provided an 

opportunity for teachers who had become dissatisfi ed with 

the teaching profession to apply for a retraining grant to 

pursue alternative pathways and be replaced by highly 

qualifi ed and motivated graduates. Through the program, 

more than 540 teachers were replaced by graduates during 

2002–2003. 

The department recognises that the future success of its 

schools will be built on its workforce. Importantly, the 

department considers the lifecycle of teacher employment, 

and the workforce profi le as shown in Figure 33 when 

determining workforce planning strategies.
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Shared services staff

During the year, planning and preparation for the 

commencement of the Shared Services directorate occurred, 

with more than 1000 existing staff moving to this new 

structure from 1 July 2003.

Planning ahead for recruitment in rural and remote areas

In response to the critical issues of recruitment and retention 

of teachers in rural areas, the department awarded Bid 

O’Sullivan scholarships to fi ve Year 12 students who had 

chosen to study primary teaching and then work in rural and 

remote locations. The scholarships are named in honour of 

Bid O’Sullivan who established Queensland’s fi rst school of 

the air at Cloncurry in 1960. The scholarships are valued at 

$20 000 each.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Scholarships

The department also offers a range of teaching scholarships 

to aspiring teachers from Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander 

backgrounds. Scholarships are available for students 

currently in Year 12, current employees of the department 

and postgraduate students. The scholarships have been 

developed to create a workforce that is more representative 

of Queensland communities and to provide opportunities for 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to gain 

employment as teachers. 

Industrial relations

During 2002–2003, workplace grievances, promotion and 

transfer issues, and industrial disputes were generally 

resolved in the workplace. A small number of these matters 

were referred to independent administrative and industrial 

tribunals for conciliation or hearing. The department continues 

to monitor these matters to improve employment practices.

Throughout the year, the department worked with unions to 

update the existing industrial instruments that cover 

departmental staff including: 

> Department of Education Teachers Determination 2000 

(Queensland Teachers’ Union and Queensland Public 

Sector Union), which nominally expired on 28 February 2003. 

A new replacement certifi ed agreement is being fi nalised 

and if registered will be called the Department of 

Education Teachers’ Certifi ed Agreement 2003. 

> State Government Departments Certifi ed Agreement 2000 

(Queensland Public Sector Union), which nominally 

expired on 30 April 2003, will be replaced by the State 

Government Department’s Certifi ed Agreement 2003 

when certifi ed by the Queensland Industrial Relations 

Commission. Sub-agency agreements will be negotiated in 

2003–2004.

> Teacher Aides Employed by Education Queensland 

Certifi ed Agreement 2000 (Australian Liquor, Hospitality 

and Miscellaneous Workers’ Union), which nominally 

expired on 31 December 2002, will be replaced by the 

Education Queensland Teacher Aides’ Certifi ed Agreement 

2003 when certifi ed by the Queensland Industrial 

Relations Commission.

> Cleaners Employed by the Department of Education 

Certifi ed Agreement 2000 (Australian Liquor, Hospitality 

and Miscellaneous Workers’ Union), which nominally 

expired on 31 December 2002, was replaced by the 

Cleaners in Education Queensland Certifi ed Agreement 

2003 from 1 January 2003.

Although these agreements expired nominally during the 

fi nancial year, the existing agreements continue to operate 

until certifi cation of the replacement agreements by the 

Queensland Industrial Relations Commission.

During the process of campaigning for a new certifi ed 

agreement for teachers, the Queensland Teachers’ Union 

(QTU) commenced industrial action, including a series of work 

bans in February and March 2003 at approximately 100 

schools. The bans had a limited impact on teaching and 

learning. During March 2003 the QTU also held stoppages for 

1 or 2 hours in approximately 39 schools across the state with 

a full-day stoppage occurring at two schools. The union ceased 

industrial action following proceedings in the Queensland 

Industrial Relations Commission in March and April 2003.

The department values its relationships with all unions and 

strives to involve unions in the development of education 

initiatives.

Internal resource management

Figure 33
 Workforce profi le for the department’s teachers as at 30 June 2003 

Note: Gender and age profi le of teacher workforce (active/paid), all capacities.
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Organisational health

The department’s fi rst organisational health strategic plan 

was launched and implemented during 2002–2003. To date, 

the plan has resulted in the development of an incident 

reporting and recording system that is available at all school 

locations, the development and launch of an organisational 

health website and an organisational health policy.

Reviews of the causes of work-related stress and manual 

handling injuries were initiated in 2002–2003 with 

fi nal reports expected in the latter half of 2003.

Ten additional temporary rehabilitation consultants and four 

manual handling safety positions were created in 2002–

2003. These supplement the work of 18 occupational health 

and safety consultants and occupational rehabilitation 

consultants, 983 rehabilitation coordinators and 700 

workplace health and safety offi cers in schools.

The department’s WorkCover statutory claims costs 

decreased during the past 12 months, which contributed, in 

part, to a reduction of nearly $3.7 million in the department’s 

WorkCover premium payable.

Financial resources

Queensland’s investment in education, measured as a 

proportion of gross state product per capita, was above the 

national average in 2002–2003. The total 2002–2003 

Budget for state and non-state education in the education 

portfolio comprised $4.197 billion in recurrent expenses and 

capital expenditure of $230.2 million (both fi gures include 

state and Commonwealth funds, but exclude Commonwealth 

grants to non-state schools). This represents an increase in 

recurrent funds of 5.8 per cent, and a capital increase of 

11.6 per cent from last fi nancial year. Approximately 

25 per cent of general government expenditure was spent 

on education.

Increasing fi nancial management capability

As part of the department’s commitment to managing its 

assets, fi nances and human resources to ensure the cost-

effective achievement of the department’s objectives, the 

fi nancial management capability of education leaders was a 

focus in 2002–2003.

An extensive professional development program was 

undertaken by more than 1000 senior staff, to build their 

capacity to critically review fi nancial resources and the link to 

student outcomes. The program was delivered across the 

state to principals. Future programs are planned for school 

administrators, fi nancial managers and members of parents 

and citizens’ associations. The program builds the capacity 

of the department’s leaders to manage available resources 

effi ciently and effectively.

Financial summary 2002–2003

Queensland continues to be one of the fastest growing states 

in Australia, including growth in the number of young people, 

providing opportunities as well as increased demand for 

education in Queensland. 

This fi nancial summary provides an overview of the 

department’s fi nancial performance and fi nancial position 

for 2002–2003. The summary illustrates the main elements 

associated with managing one of the State Government’s 

largest departmental budgets. 

The department managed operating outlays totalling 

$4.014 billion and, despite increasing demands on 

resources, a marginal operating defi cit equivalent to 

approximately 1.9 per cent of State Government’s 

appropriation funding resulted. 

A comprehensive set of fi nancial statements covering all 

aspects of the department’s activities is provided in this report.

The fi nancial statements are broken down into four main 

components:

Statement 1: 
Statement of fi nancial performance 

This statement shows expenses and revenue and the results 

of operations for the fi nancial year. The department’s 

operating defi cit of $63.2 million in 2002–2003 was in line 

with the projected budget defi cit of $61.6 million.

Revenue

The department operates primarily through funds 

appropriated by Parliament. The increase in output revenue 

of approximately 4 per cent was supplemented by other 

revenue, and funding from equity injections and borrowings 

in order to achieve the department’s educational outputs. 

Increased revenue from both State and Commonwealth 

Governments was provided to cover increases in student 

numbers and new project initiatives. Excluding the funding of 

the equity return, total controlled revenue was $3.61 billion, 

an increase of $160 million or 4.6 per cent on 2001–2002.

Expenses

Operating expenses (including the equity return) were 

$4.014 billion, an increase of $203 million or 5.3 per cent on 

the previous year — see Figure 34.

The major contributor to this increase was a rise in employee 

expenses of approximately $189 million or 6.9 per cent due 

to higher award wages under enterprise bargaining 

arrangements as well as the employment of additional staff 

to support growth in student numbers, higher numbers of 

students ascertained with disabilities, and increases in 

employee-related costs for employer superannuation 

contributions and workers’ compensation premiums. 

Additional one-off expenses for retraining grants paid to 

teachers under the Career Change program of $18 million 

and public servant redundancy payments of $10.4 million 

also contributed to this increase in employee expenses.

The reduction in supplies and services expenses of 

$2 million was due to a variety of factors including lower 

capital works expenses, which have been partially offset by 

increased outlays for computer purchases under the ICTs for 

Schools program.

Internal resource management
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Statement 2:

Statement of fi nancial position

This statement provides information concerning assets, 

liabilities and the Government’s equity at the end of the 

fi nancial year. The department’s strong fi nancial position is 

illustrated through liabilities representing less than 6 per 

cent of total assets.

The value of property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2003 

was $6.335 billion, an increase of $654 million or 11.5 per 

cent compared with the previous year. This increase is mainly 

due to the effects of asset valuation indexation adjustments 

conducted during the fi nancial year.

The department invested more than $223 million in property, 

plant and equipment, and intangibles during the year. 

Major capital items included one new school, establishment 

stages at 12 schools as well as continuing installation of 

airconditioning and other measures under the Cooler 

Schools program.

During 2002–2003, borrowings from Queensland Treasury 

Corporation were drawn down to fund the capital investment 

program ($25.5 million) and teacher Career Change program 

comprising round one (2001–2002) $9 million and round 

two (2002–2003) $19 million. 

Statement 3:
Statement of cash fl ows

This statement provides information concerning sources and 

uses of cash during the fi nancial year and available cash at 

the end of the fi nancial year.

During 2002–2003 changes occurred to the timing of the 

payment of output funding revenues to the department. This 

change resulted in the department incurring interest on an 

overdraft of $2.6 million. The introduction of improved cash 

management practices during 2002–2003 is designed to 

prevent overdrafts occurring in the future.

Statement 4: 
Statement of fi nancial performance by outputs/major 
activities — controlled

The services provided by the department are organised into 

six outputs relating to controlled activities, plus revenue and 

expenditure associated with administered items where the 

department acts as an agent for the State Government.

Departmental outputs and the relative funding share for each 

are shown in Figure 35. Expenditure on the assistance to 

non-state education output is relatively minor because grants 

to non-state schools are recorded as administered items. 

More information on administered items can be found in the 

notes to the fi nancial statements.

Funding per student is keeping up with infl ation. However, 

the average cost of services per student in state schools, as 

shown in Figure 36, has shown increases across most 

outputs due generally to costs increasing at a faster rate than 

enrolment growth.

Four-year review 1999–2003 — controlled items

The major trends affecting the department’s fi nancial 

position are outlined in Figure 37. Over the past four years 

the department has improved its fi nancial management 

practices to address the demand for core staffi ng and 

resources and the need to improve facilities and 

information management infrastructure and provide 

new curriculum initiatives.

Internal resource management

Figure 34
Controlled expenses by major type — four-year comparison
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Statement of fi nancial performance

In the four-year period from 1999, employee costs have 

increased due to enterprise bargaining outcomes, higher 

staff numbers due to increased enrolments and new 

initiatives and programs, and redundancy payments.

Relatively minor fl uctuations in the operating result are a 

result of one-off events. Lower depreciation refl ects the effect 

of the increase in the asset recognition threshold from 

2000–2001 resulting in more low-value equipment items 

being expensed in the year of acquisition. The defi cit in 

1999–2000 is primarily due to the write-down of equipment 

items held that had a cost that was lower than the new 

increased asset recognition threshold. The defi cit in 2002–

2003 includes the effect of teacher career change payments 

of $18 million that have been funded by borrowings.

Statement of fi nancial position

Non-current assets have increased as a result of signifi cant 

capital programs and the effect of the revaluation of assets 

during 2000–2001, and the indexation of assets at the end 

of 2002–2003. The higher asset values resulting from the 

revaluation also increased the value of equity by adding to 

the asset revaluation reserves.

In line with government policy, an increasing proportion of 

capital expenditure was funded through borrowings from the 

Queensland Treasury Corporation — this resulted in higher 

non-current interest bearing liabilities.

Internal resource management

Figure 36
Average cost per student — four-year comparison

Notes: Preschool sessional enrolments equivalent to fi ve days per fortnight. Students 
with disabilities includes special school enrolments and additional support for 
ascertained students in other facilities.
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Figure 37
Four-year fi nancial comparatives

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
  1999–2000 2000–2001 2001–2002 2002–2003

Controlled statement of fi nancial position

Total current assets 181 539 247 916 190 662 203 409
Total non-current assets 5 179 540 5 609 419 5 701 981 6 353 670

Total current liabilities 150 083 199 724 207 482 241 686
Total non-current liabilities  2 662 13 241 90 389 126 600

Total equity  5 208 333 5 644 370 5 594 772 6 188 793 

Controlled statement of fi nancial performance

Employee expenses  2 393 681 2 557 438 2 730 951 2 920 107
Supplies and services  493 431 499 411 575 782 573 559
Equity return expense  328 882 309 364 340 715 341 323
Depreciation and amortisation  138 538 113 095 113 918 119 878
Other expenses  106 036 38 709 49 947 59 688

Output revenue 3 083 707 3 041 913 3 223 235 3 365 458
Grants and contributions  277 832 471 752 539 526 559 344
Other revenue  16 507 15 667 27 860 26 583 

Net surplus/(defi cit) (82 522) 11 315 (20 692) (63 170)

Ratios     

Current assets/current liabilities  1.2 1.2 0.9 0.8

Total assets/total liabilities 35.1 27.5 19.8 17.8
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Appendix 2: Payments to external consultants

Category of consultant 2001–2002 ($) 2002–2003 ($)

Management — teaching, learning and curriculum projects 350 049 1 116 262*

Management — corporate management/facilities feasibility projects 421 784 456 136

Human resources 90 957 73 129

Information technology 57 644 174 724

Communications 81 673 –

Finance/Accounting 42 881 208 452

Professional technical 22 454 27 000

TOTAL $1 067 442 $2 055 703

*Teaching, learning and curriculum projects include Commonwealth-funded projects amounting to 44.0 per cent or $491 403 of this total.

Appendix 1: Summary of the operations of 
parents and citizens’ associations
Regulatory framework

Parents and citizens’ associations (P&Cs) are vital and 

necessary partners in successful school communities. There 

are approximately 1290 individual P&C associations working 

with their respective state schools to:

> foster community interest in education

> promote cooperation between parents, the broader 

community, school staff and students

> advise the principal on issues regarding students 

at the school, and on other general operational and 

management issues

> provide resources and services for the benefit of students 

> assist preschools associated with the school

> perform other functions, not inconsistent with the Act, 

as the Minister may from time to time determine.

These associations are governed by the legislative 

requirements specified under the Education (General 

Provisions) Act 1989 and the Education (General Provisions) 

Regulation 2000, and operate under a constitutional model 

approved by the Director-General of Education in 2000. 

Financial practices and processes are informed by the official 

financial management practice manual, Accounting for 

Parents and Citizens’ Associations. A review of the manual, 

finalised in February 2003, successfully addressed issues 

such as:

> the acceptance of standard reports provided by 

accounting software

> reformatting the document into a more compact, logically 

sequenced web-based medium

> the provision of self-assessment activities

> extensive use of hyperlinks and downloadable templates 

for ease of use by P&Cs

> more comprehensive GST information.

Overview of operations

The principal purpose of P&Cs is to offer parents and the 

community a forum to participate in shaping the school and 

its environment. This is achieved through:

> regular meetings to enable parents and community 

members to raise issues and advocate improvements to 

the school

> working bees for school improvements or maintenance

> fundraising activities

> community-oriented activities associated with significant 

school events such as ANZAC Day

> subcommittees to establish preschools and to manage 

tuckshops and uniform or book shops.

Audit procedures for P&Cs

Under the Education (General Provisions) Regulation 2000, 

auditors examine the collections, payments, cashbooks, 

minutes of meetings and other records of a P&C, and verify 

with financial institutions the financial balances held or 

owing. This allows the auditor to certify whether:

> the P&C’s financial statements are in agreement with the 

accounts and are in an acceptable format

> the P&C has complied with account keeping requirements

> the statements present a true and fair view — on a cash 

basis and within the requirements of Accounting for 

Parents and Citizens’ Associations — of the transactions 

for the financial year and the financial position at the 

close of the year.

P&Cs appoint an auditor to review their accounts. 

A departmental senior internal auditor then reviews the 

audited financial statements and reports any issues to the 

Director, Audit Operations, who then provides a report to 

the department’s Audit and Risk Committee and Strategic 

Management Team.

Appendix 3: Voluntary early retirement (VER), deployment and retrenchment activities

Number $

VERs accepted or redundancy packages paid 257 9 673 726

Note: During 2002–2003 VERs resulted from the Queensland Government’s Public Service Workforce Renewal Program that was announced in June 2002. This initiative included the 
offering of VER packages to permanent public service employees within the department. These amounts exclude accrued leave entitlements.
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Appendix 4: Compliance with 
government policy and legislation — 
Whistleblowers Protection Act 1994
During 2002–2003, 67 public interest disclosures were 

made under this Act, all of which related to alleged official 

misconduct. Of these, 18 disclosures were totally substantiated, 

five partially substantiated, 11 were unfounded, and 33 had 

not been finalised as at 30 June 2003.

Appendix 5: Compliance with 
government policy and legislation — 
Public Sector Ethics Act 1994
New Code of Conduct

In December 2002, Cabinet approved a new Code of Conduct 

for the Department of Education, including a new definition 

of sexual misconduct, to become effective from 14 July 

2003. The new code, in conjunction with the department’s 

new Student Protection Policy, provides clearer guidance 

about the standard of conduct expected from departmental 

staff. The new code was the subject of wide consultation 

with key stakeholders including other government agencies, 

employees, principals’ associations and unions.

The new definition of sexual misconduct broadens the 

existing prohibition on sexual relationships between 

employees and students attending the same school, to a 

prohibition on all sexual relationships between teachers 

and any Queensland state school student aged less than 18 

years. Public consultation, which included the release of a 

discussion paper, showed widespread support for 

this change.

Education, training and access to 
the Code of Conduct

Employees have online access to the Code of Conduct and 

associated training materials. A copy of the department’s 

code can be provided to a member of the community upon 

request and is available on the Department of Education 

website at http://education.qld.gov.au/corporate/doem/

humanres/hr-07001/hr-07001.htm

Training materials for the new code have been prepared 

with training for all departmental staff to be undertaken 

during 2003–2004. These materials focus on developing 

employees’ awareness of public sector ethics and 

developing ethical decision-making skills. Selected 

departmental staff will deliver this training to staff at work 

sites throughout Queensland.

During 2002–2003, the department established an Ethical 

Standards Unit to promote and support high standards 

of ethical conduct by staff, and coordinate departmental 

responses to breaches of the code. 

The Ethical Standards Unit provides advice and support to 

employees who have questions about public sector ethics 

and the code.

Appendix 6: Compliance with government 
policy and legislation — Implementing the 
Multicultural Queensland Policy
Multicultural Affairs Queensland, which is part of the 

Department of the Premier and Cabinet, is responsible 

for coordinating the implementation of the Multicultural 

Queensland Policy across government.

Each year, Multicultural Affairs Queensland prepares a 

report for the Premier on the implementation of the policy. 

A number of key initiatives and activities undertaken by the 

Department of Education during 2002–2003 contributed to 

the implementation of this policy, including:

> The Director-General of Education wrote to schools and 

school communities in response to concern about racism 

and intolerance following the Bali bombings. The Director-

General stressed the important role schools play in 

promoting positive community relations, and advised that 

there were resources available to help schools with this 

important task.

> A departmental reference group was established to 

progress departmental anti-racism initiatives and the 

implementation of the Multicultural Queensland Policy.

> Support was provided to the Queensland Teachers’ Union 

to deliver professional development workshops using 

the Under the Skin package. These two-day workshops 

included principals, teachers and school staff at various 

locations across the state and explored racism and its 

effect on all Australians.

> Development continued on Pathways to Success: Policy 

and Guidelines for Students Learning English as 

an Additional Language.

> The English as a Second Language (ESL) Bandscales 

CD-ROM was developed to allow teachers to electronically 

record monitoring, assessment and reporting of the 

language and literacy development of ESL students. 

The CD-ROM replaces a paper-based system with new 

technology that allows information to be transferred easily 

when students move between schools.

> Support, including funding, continued for the Queensland 

Program of Assistance to Survivors of Torture and Trauma, 

which assists refugee students in selected schools.

> The Queensland Languages other than English (LOTE) 

Centre continued to support the teaching of languages 

other than English with learning and development 

programs and resources for Queensland teachers, 

including teachers in ethnic schools.

> The Access Asia Schools Program supported schools to 

integrate studies of Asia across the curriculum and to 

raise awareness of the program. This included:

– delivering workshops and short presentations for 

teachers on how to promote the inclusion of the 

studies of Asia into the key learning areas of the 

curriculum

– distributing information about the Access Asia Schools 

Program to school sectors
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– increasing membership of the Access Asia 

Schools Program

– presenting an Asia film night for educators (academics, 

principals, education officers and teachers) which was 

attended by approximately 180 people.

> Support continued for the internationalisation of 

education and the exchange of multicultural experiences 

for Queensland and international students. Activities in 

2002–2003 included:

– delivering education, training and consulting services 

in more than nine countries

– increasing the number of schools accredited to deliver 

the International Student Program from 26 to 29

– providing a multicultural experience for more than 

60 000 Queenslanders with 199 schools participating 

in inbound study tours and 75 schools hosting 

children from overseas

– increasing the range of information available in 

languages other than English

– making available, in several languages, new brochures 

and information packages for education agents and 

parents

– providing intensive short courses in English to help a 

greater number of international students to study in 

Queensland

– establishing Education Queensland International 

offices in Cairns and on the Gold Coast to better 

respond to the needs of regional communities

– establishing a new International Relations Unit.

> Evaluation commenced of a two-year trial to enhance 

literacy for Australian South Sea Islander students. A trial 

of the resource, Australian South Sea Islander Stories and 

Activities, was completed in December 2002 at schools in 

the Bowen, Mackay and Rockhampton areas.

The Education and Training Reforms for the Future initiative 

provides for more flexible learning options for the Senior 

Phase of Learning. These new options promote inclusive 

practices by schools, TAFE colleges and registered training 

authorities, and respond to identified local needs for young 

people most at risk of disengaging from learning. Where 

cultural issues affect students’ ability to participate in 

education or training, additional support will be put in place 

to assist their ongoing participation in learning.

Appendix 7: Summary of higher education 
approval activities 
This appendix summarises activities carried out under the 

Queensland Higher Education (General Provisions) Act 

1993 from 1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003. Under this Act, the 

Queensland Minister for Education is required to report on 

operations pertaining to the legislation during the year and 

table the report in the Legislative Assembly. The Minister’s 

responsibilities under the Act include approving new 

universities, authorising overseas institutions to operate 

in Queensland, and accrediting higher education courses 

offered by private providers other than universities.

Higher education in Queensland

The higher education system in Queensland comprises a 

diverse range of universities and non-university institutions 

operating in communities across the state. The principal 

functions of these institutions encompass:

> delivering programs and courses at degree level and 

above

> promoting scholarship

> engaging in various research and scholarly activities

> engaging with communities and building community 

capacity.

Higher education in Queensland is delivered predominantly 

by eight public universities. The small but growing band of 

private providers includes one university and 16 colleges 

and institutes. In addition, three overseas providers are 

authorised to deliver 12 higher education programs in 

Queensland. Figure 38 lists the universities and private 

providers of higher education courses operating in 

Queensland.

Queensland’s legislative framework 
for higher education 

The Commonwealth and state governments share 

responsibility for higher education. Responsibility for 

exercising control over the use of the term ‘university’ and 

for protecting the capacity to confer higher education awards 

rests with state governments. Institutions established as 

universities in Queensland are authorised to use that title, 

and to accredit and confer protected awards, under their own 

Acts of Parliament. 

In Queensland, the Higher Education (General Provisions) 

Act 1993 (the Act) and its Regulation 1996: 

> protect the title ‘university’, and specify the arrangements 

by which bodies are authorised to operate in the state as 

universities

> set conditions for authorising the operation of overseas 

higher education institutions in Queensland

> protect the use of higher education award titles of 

associate degree, bachelor’s degree, graduate certificate/

diploma, postgraduate certificate/diploma, master’s 

degree, doctoral degree and the titles of diploma and 

advanced diploma, which are also protected under 

vocational education and training legislation

> provide for the accreditation of higher education courses 

to be offered by private providers other than universities

> set penalties for breaches of the Act.

The Queensland Minister for Education is the decision maker 

under the Act, assisted by the department’s Office of Higher 

Education. 

Purpose and nature of higher education 
approval activities 

Queensland’s higher education approval processes operate 

in the context of a national higher education quality 

framework comprising the National Protocols for Higher 

Education Approval Processes, the Australian Qualifications 
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Framework (AQF) and the Australian Universities Quality 

Agency (AUQA). This framework aims to: 

> protect the standing and quality of higher education in 

Queensland and Australia

> ensure that higher education awards offered in our 

institutions are consistently of a high standard and are 

comparable to international standards. 

Recognising private universities 

The Office of Higher Education provided secretariat support 

to an independent panel established by the Minister for 

Education to assess a proposal to establish a private 

university in Cairns. The office also liaised with other 

relevant state agencies and parties to support the work of 

the independent panel. During 2002–2003, the Office of 

Higher Education responded to four separate inquiries about 

the legislative requirements and processes for becoming a 

university in Queensland.

Operation of overseas higher education institutions 
in Queensland

Under the Act, overseas institutions may not operate in 

Queensland without the Minister’s approval. The Act contains 

broad criteria for granting this approval, the prime one 

being that the institution must be recognised in its country 

of origin by an appropriate authority. The national protocols 

detail further criteria including the requirement that courses 

are comparable in requirements and learning outcomes to 

courses at the same level in a similar field in Australia.

Arrangements between overseas institutions and local 

providers or agents are also scrutinised to ensure 

relationships between agent and institution are bona fide 

and verified by the institution, and that the institution retains 

authority for quality assurance and issuing awards. Approval 

granted by the Minister does not certify that the courses are 

accredited in Queensland. In 2002–2003, one application 

for approval to operate in Queensland was received but was 

not finalised in the reporting period.

Accreditation of higher education courses offered 
by non-self-accrediting institutions

The Office of Higher Education administers a rigorous 

process to assess and make recommendations to the 

Minister about applications for course accreditation 

submitted by non-university providers of higher education. 

This process comprises:

> establishing expert independent course assessment 

panels to assess applications and make 

recommendations

> assessing each application for course accreditation in 

accordance with approved criteria

> determining whether each course and the way it is 

delivered are appropriate to the level of award to be 

conferred

> employing other review and evaluation mechanisms in 

making recommendations.

These processes are conducted according to ministerially 

approved Procedures and Criteria for the Accreditation 

of Higher Education Courses Offered by Non-University 

Providers. Under the Act and these procedures, accreditation 

includes reaccreditation. 

During 2002–2003, the Minister accredited or reaccredited 

21 higher education courses offered by six private 

institutions — see Figure 39. Thirteen of these courses 

were approved through a nationally agreed concurrent 

process, which is applied when a private provider wants to 

deliver a higher education course in more than one state or 

territory. By 30 June 2003, applications had been lodged 

by seven providers for the reaccreditation of four courses, 

and accreditation of 14 new courses. The Office of Higher 

Education also responded to 21 general inquiries in relation 

to higher education approvals.

As at 30 June 2003, a total of 16 non-university providers 

offered 87 approved higher education courses in Queensland. 

 Figure 38
 Queensland universities and non-university providers of higher education courses 2002–2003

Universities Non-university providers

Australian Catholic University (Queensland) Australian College of Applied Psychology

Central Queensland University Australian College of Natural Medicine

Griffith University Australian College of Theology

James Cook University Brisbane College of Theology

Queensland University of Technology Chartered Secretaries Australia

The University of Queensland Christian Heritage College

University of Southern Queensland Gestalt Therapy and Training Centre

University of the Sunshine Coast Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Bond University (private) Nazarene Theological College

Queensland Baptist College of Ministries

Queensland Institute of Business and Technology

Royal Australian College of General Practitioners

Russo Institute of Technology

Securities Institute Education

Shafston Institute of Technology

Sydney College of Divinity
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Compared with 1996, when there were five providers 

offering 18 accredited courses, this represents an increase 

of 220 per cent in the number of providers and a 383 per 

cent increase in the number of courses. As at 31 March 

2003, enrolments in accredited courses offered by 

private non-university providers in Queensland totalled 

approximately 4400 students.

Protection of the title ‘university’ and 
higher education award titles

On behalf of the Minister for Education, the Office of Higher 

Education followed up four alleged breaches of the Act. 

Each of these involved advertisements or web-based 

information that indicated the apparent operation in 

Queensland of overseas universities without the permission 

of the Minister. Two of these breaches have been resolved 

and two have further action pending.

Review of the regulatory environment 

A comprehensive review of the legislation underpinning the 

Government’s quality assurance and regulatory framework 

was undertaken during 2002–2003. The Higher Education 

(General Provisions) Act 1993 was reviewed to comply 

with the National Protocols for Higher Education Approval 

Processes, and the recommendations arising from the 

audit of the department’s higher education accreditation 

approval activities by the Australian Universities Quality 

Agency in 2001. The resultant Bill, the Higher Education 

(General Provisions) Bill 2003 was introduced to Parliament 

on 27 May 2003. The Bill provides for an improved quality 

assurance framework, with more detailed and transparent 

provisions regulating the operation of overseas and 

interstate institutions in Queensland, and the establishment 

of new universities.

Networking

In 2002–2003, the Office of Higher Education participated 

actively in a national network of higher education 

accreditation agencies that met three times to share best 

practice. Officers provided advice to other jurisdictions 

on their reviews of legislation and guidelines for approval 

processes.

On behalf of the Minister, the office provided accreditation 

information to a range of clients including Centrelink, the 

Queensland Tertiary Admissions Centre and individual 

university admission units, the Commonwealth Department 

of Education, Science and Training, and the Australian 

Qualifications Framework Advisory Board secretariat, as well 

as responding to individual inquiries. The office also liaised 

closely with the Department of Employment and Training on 

higher education and training matters.

 Figure 39
 Courses accredited by the Minister for Education 2002–2003

Institution Accredited course name Recent accreditation date

Australian College of Applied Psychology Graduate Certificate in Counselling Skills May 2003

Graduate Diploma of Counselling May 2003

Brisbane College of Theology Bachelor of Theology January 2003

Christian Heritage College Graduate Certificate in Human Behaviour December 2002

Graduate Diploma in Counselling December 2002

Master of Counselling December 2002

Master of Counselling (Hons) December 2002

Master of Education December 2002

Queensland Institute of Business and Technology Diploma of Commerce January 2003

Diploma of Information Technology January 2003

Securities Institute Education Graduate Certificate of Applied Finance and 
Investment

January 2003

Graduate Certificate of Financial Planning January 2003

Graduate Diploma of Applied Finance and 
Investment

January 2003

Graduate Diploma of Financial Planning January 2003

Master of Applied Finance and Investment January 2003

Sydney College of Divinity (SCD) Advanced Diploma in Theology December 2002

Bachelor of Theology December 2002

Diploma in Theology December 2002

Graduate Certificate in Theological Studies December 2002

Graduate Diploma in Arts December 2002

Master of Arts December 2002
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Appendix 8: Legislation and statutory 
bodies within the portfolio of the Minister 
for Education
Primary and subordinate legislation 
administered by the Minister for Education
Primary legislation

Bond University Act 1987

Central Queensland University Act 1998

Education (Accreditation of Non-State Schools) Act 2001

Education (Capital Assistance) Act 1993

Education (General Provisions) Act 1989

Education (Overseas Students) Act 1996

Education (Queensland Studies Authority) Act 2002 

Education (Teacher Registration) Act 1988

Education (Work Experience) Act 1996

Grammar Schools Act 1975

Griffith University Act 1998

Higher Education (General Provisions) Act 1993

James Cook University Act 1997

Queensland University of Technology Act 1998

University of Queensland Act 1998

University of Southern Queensland Act 1998

University of the Sunshine Coast Act 1998

Subordinate legislation

Education (Accreditation of Non-State Schools) Regulation 2001

Education (Capital Assistance) Regulation 1994

Education (General Provisions) Regulation 2000

Education (Overseas Students) Regulation 1998

Education (Queensland Studies Authority) Regulation 2002 

Education (Teacher Registration) By-law 1999

Grammar Schools Regulation 1992

Higher Education (General Provisions) Regulation 1996

Statutes of:

Central Queensland University

James Cook University

Griffith University

Queensland University of Technology

University of Queensland

University of Southern Queensland

Primary legislation passed 
during 2002–2003 financial year

Education (Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002

The Education (Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002, which 

was assented to on 13 December 2002, included a number 

of amendments to a range of educational legislation.

The Act inserted new provisions into each university Act 

for filling casual vacancies on university governing bodies. 

The new provisions, whilst similar for each Act, were not 

identical since universities requested specific arrangements 

to suit their particular needs and circumstances. Generally, 

the amendments allow the university council to fill casual 

vacancies by appointing the candidate who came second in 

the most recent ballot for the vacant office.

The Act also amended the Griffith University Act 1998 to 

consolidate its identity by dissolving the colleges so that they 

operate as campuses of the university rather than having 

separate identities as colleges. Students and staff of the 

colleges will no longer be excluded from voting in university 

council elections nor from standing for office.

The Education (Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002 also 

amended the Education (Overseas Students) Act 1996 to 

allow for the inspection of the premises of providers of 

education and training to overseas students and to allow 

for a fee to be charged for the inspection. This ensures that 

education and training services for overseas students are 

world class and protects the investment of overseas students 

pursuing Australian educational qualifications.

In addition, the Education (Miscellaneous Amendments) 

Act 2002 also amended the Education (Accreditation of 

Non-State Schools) Act 2001 to increase the effectiveness 

and responsiveness of the Non-State Schools Accreditation 

Board, which administers the Act. The amendments 

included changes to the public notification requirements, 

the processes to modify and cancel accreditations, and the 

assessment of sites added to a school.

Amendments to the Education (General Provisions) Act 

1989 set out the conditions that must be met before the 

Governor in Council may grant approval for the operation 

of an international educational institution. In addition, 

the amendment stipulates that the Minister for Education 

must consider the financial viability of the international 

educational institution before recommending it to the 

Governor in Council for approval. 

Subordinate legislation made 
during the 2002–2003 financial year
Education (Queensland Studies Authority) 
Amendment Regulation 2002

The Education (Queensland Studies Authority) Amendment 

Regulation (No. 1) 2002 was made on 13 December 2002 

and commenced on 1 January 2003. The amendment 

regulation was timed to coincide with the commencement of 

section 9 of the Education (Queensland Studies Authority) Act 

2002 which allows the Queensland Studies Authority (QSA) 

to accredit Years 1–12 syllabuses and preschool guidelines 

developed by entities other than the QSA. The amendment 

regulation established the processes and criteria by 

which these syllabuses and guidelines are evaluated for 

accreditation purposes.

Statutory bodies within the portfolio 
of the Minister for Education

Board of Teacher Registration

Queensland Studies Authority 

Non-State Schools Accreditation Board

Board of the Trustees of the Brisbane Girls’ Grammar School

Board of Trustees of the Brisbane Grammar School

Board of Trustees of the Ipswich Girls’ Grammar School

Board of Trustees of the Ipswich Grammar School

Board of Trustees of the Rockhampton Girls’ Grammar School

Board of Trustees of the Rockhampton Grammar School

Board of Trustees of the Toowoomba Grammar School

Board of Trustees of the Townsville Grammar School

Central Queensland University



Department of Education Annual Report 2002–200382 Appendixes Department of Education Annual Report 2002–2003 83Appendixes

Griffith University

James Cook University

Queensland University of Technology

University of Queensland

University of Southern Queensland

University of the Sunshine Coast

Corporation of the Minister*

Parents and citizens’ associations*

*Parents and citizens’ associations and the Corporation of the Minister do not produce 
their own annual reports and are not listed separately on the Statutory Bodies Register 
maintained by the Department of the Premier and Cabinet.

Appendix 9: Compliance with government 
policy and legislation — Privacy policy
In December 2000 Queensland Cabinet agreed to develop 

and implement a privacy scheme for the Queensland public 

sector to effect, over time, the Commonwealth Government 

Information Privacy Principles (IPPs) contained in the Privacy 

Act 1988 (Cth).

Queensland public sector agencies are conscious of the need 

to protect the personal information they collect and to deal 

with it in a fair, secure and ethical manner. The decision to 

implement a privacy scheme in the Queensland public sector 

is a direct response to:

> public concern about the privacy and security of personal 

information

> the extension of the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth) to cover 

private organisations

> similar moves in other Australian states

> a general worldwide trend.  

In September 2001, Cabinet approved Information Standard 

42 — Information Privacy and associated guidelines as the 

means to implement a privacy scheme in the Queensland 

public sector.  

Information Standard 42 (IS 42) sets out mandatory 

requirements for departments and agencies, which must: 

> nominate a privacy contact officer who will be the first 

point of contact for privacy issues within their own agencies

> develop and publish their privacy plans on their website

> implement the privacy plans according to a schedule 

developed in the plan, subject to any existing contractual 

obligations, licences, or other outsourcing arrangements

> review and update privacy plans annually

> develop and place on their website a privacy and security 

statement

> be responsible for ensuring access to and correction of 

records using the freedom of information legislation

> be responsible for a complaint handling mechanism. 

In meeting the mandatory requirements, the department has:

> nominated a privacy contact officer

> developed and published its privacy plan on its website 

http://education.qld.gov.au/information/privacy/plan/

> developed and placed on its website a privacy and 

security statement

> published on its website the process for making a 

freedom of information application

> established a complaints handling mechanism.

The Privacy Unit is implementing its privacy plan according to 

an implementation schedule.

Appendix 10: Home schooling
As at 30 June 2003, 1287 parents had applied successfully 

for dispensation from the compulsory attendance 

requirements of the Education (General Provisions) Act 1989, 

in order to educate their children at home. 

Of these, 50 per cent were educated using programs from 

state schools of distance education, 42 per cent were taking 

programs from non-state schools offering approved programs 

of distance education, and 8 per cent had devised their own 

programs of education.

Appendix 11a: Summary of Queensland state school disciplinary absences, 
term 4 2002 to term 2 2003

Short suspension Long suspension Exclusion Cancellation

Total incidents 
for three terms

Average rate per 
1000 students 
per term

Total incidents 
for three terms

Average rate per 
1000 students 
per term

Total incidents 
for three terms

Average rate per 
1000 students 
per term

Total incidents 
for three terms

Average rate per 
1000 students 
per term

23 244 17.4 1 967 1.5  665 0.5  577 0.4

Notes: 
School Disciplinary Absence  (SDA) data has only been collected centrally from term 4 2002 with the introduction of the new School Disciplinary Absence Collection System. Therefore, 
only data for three terms is included in this appendix. The School Disciplinary Absence data presented comprises the total of short suspensions (1–5 days), long suspensions (6–20 days), 
suspensions with recommendation for exclusion, and cancellations of enrolment.
The information is displayed in terms of aggregate counts of incidents and the rate of SDAs per 1000 students. The data does not represent the outcomes of any related appeal decisions.
Incidents: Count of incidents of SDAs from term 4 2002 to term 2 2003.
Rate per 1000 students:  An effective average number of SDA incidents per 1000 students per term for the reporting period.
The enrolments used to calculate the SDA rates for term 4 2002 are based on November 2002 enrolment data, terms 1 and 2 2003 are based on February 2003 enrolment data.
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Appendix 11b: Summary of Queensland state school disciplinary absences by absence reason, 
term 4 2002 to term 2 2003
Reason Short suspension Long suspension Exclusion Cancellation

Total incidents 
for three terms

Average rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term

Total incidents 
for three terms

Average rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term

Total incidents 
for three terms

Average rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term

Total incidents 
for three terms

Average rate 
per 1000 
students 
per term

Absences  371 0.3  30 0.0  1 0.0 – –

Other conduct prejudicial 
to the good order and 
management of the school 
(s28(c) of Act) (including 
serious conduct s 33(b))

1 901 1.4  169 0.1  102 0.1 – –

Persistently disruptive 
behaviour adversely 
affecting others

3 392 2.5  351 0.3  109 0.1  185 0.1

Physical misconduct  7 283 5.5 560 0.4 194 0.1 – –

Property misconduct 1 516 1.1  124 0.1  48 0.0 – –

Refusal to participate in the 
program of instruction

1 890 1.4  168 0.1  46 0.0  392 0.3

Substance misconduct  1 919 1.4  198 0.1  96 0.1 – –

Verbal or non-verbal 
misconduct 

4 972 3.7  367 0.3  69 0.1 – –

All reasons 23 244 17.4 1 967 1.5  665 0.5  577 0.4

Notes: 
School Disciplinary Absence  (SDA) data has only been collected centrally from term 4 2002 with the introduction of the new School Disciplinary Absence Collection System. Therefore, only 
data for three terms is included in the information presented in this appendix. The School Disciplinary Absence data presented comprises the total of short suspensions (1–5 days), long 
suspensions (6–20 days), suspensions with recommendation for exclusion, and cancellations of enrolment.
The information is displayed in terms of aggregate counts of incidents and the rate of SDAs per 1000 students. The data does not represent the outcomes of any related appeal decisions.
Incidents: Count of incidents of SDAs from term 4 2002 to term 2 2003.
Rate per 1000 students:  An effective average number of SDA incidents per 1000 students per term for the reporting period.
The enrolments used to calculate the SDA rates for term 4 2002 are based on November 2002 enrolment data, terms 1 and 2 2003 are based on February 2003 enrolment data.

Appendix 12: Overseas travel by departmental officers*
 Travel by departmental officers not based in schools

Purpose of visit Country Person
Agency cost 

($)
Other 

contributions ($)

Conference attendance

Presentation of papers — Management Information Systems 
Conference, Salt Lake City USA.

USA Vicky Bell, Isis–Burnett District 5 347 0

Examine ways of attracting and retaining talented employees in 
government organisations

Singapore Chris Gilson, Workforce Strategy 940 5 501

Conference — 28th Conference of the International Association for 
Educational Assessment

China Gabrielle Matters, Assessment and 
New Basics Branch

7 209 0

World Class Arena Second International Seminar Great Britain Gabrielle Matters, Assessment and 
New Basics Branch

737 10 004

Renew focus on corporate governance and risk management — 
nominated by Institute of Internal auditors to represent Australia

USA Neville Moo, Audit Operations 6 468 0

Attend the World Class Arena Second International Seminar. Visit the 
Assessment and Qualifications Alliance to examine the administration 
of the World Class Test

Great Britain Madonna Morton, Assessment and 
New Basics Branch

1 096 3 194

Conference — International Association for Education Assessment (IAEA) China John Pitman, Senior Certificate Project 8 370 0

Attend the International Reading Recovery Trainer Organisation 
International Meetings, Australia–New Zealand Trainer Forum 

United 
Kingdom

Mary Rosser, Reading Recovery, 
Curriculum Innovation Branch

10 878 0

External advisor to New Zealand Ministry of Education New Zealand Roger Slee, Office of the Deputy 
Director-General

650 2 800

Workshops — Productive Pedagogies and New Basics. New Zealand Roger Slee, Office of the Deputy 
Director-General

3 746 0

Conference/presentation of paper — International Conference 
— Computers in Education

New Zealand Louise Smith, Virtual Schooling 
Service, AccessEd

2 301 689

Presentation — IDEAS 1999–2003 USA Helen Starr, Staff College, 
Workforce Development, Learning 
and Performance

1 608 6 408

Thirteenth MCEETYA meeting New Zealand Brad Swan, Office of Strategic and 
Executive Services

2 800 0

Presentation of paper on performance management — 
Third Public Sector Innovation Summit 

Singapore Jim Varghese, Office of the 
Director-General

6 705 0



Department of Education Annual Report 2002–200384 Appendixes Department of Education Annual Report 2002–2003 85Appendixes

Purpose of visit Country Person
Agency cost 

($)
Other 

contributions ($)

Thirteenth MCEETYA meeting New Zealand Jim Varghese, Office of the 
Director-General

2 561 0

Workshops — Productive Pedagogies and New Basics New Zealand Michael Walsh, Inclusive
Education Branch

3 746 0

Conference/presentation of paper — 10th Biennial Conference of the 
International Society for Augmentative and Alternative Communication

Denmark Lee Withall, Disability Services 
Support Unit

5 185 0

International marketing

Promote Queensland state schools to international students Taiwan, Japan Wendy Gilbert, Education 
Queensland International

18 945 0

Visiting schools demonstrating innovation and excellence in 
embedding ICT and strong community partnerships into daily 
operations

USA Yvana Jones, Mooloolaba District 
Office

4 500 17 000

Develop sister state agreement between Queensland and South 
Carolina. Develop co-operative activity between Education Queensland 
and High Tech High in San Diego, California. Promote Queensland state 
schools to international students

USA, Germany Allan Langdon, Education 
Queensland International

12 629 0

Participate in Australian Education International workshops and 
promote Queensland state schools to international educators, parents 
and students

Korea, 
Thailand

Sangeeta Mahajan, Education 
Queensland International

9 400 0

Business Cooperation Group (BCG) meeting Papua New 
Guinea

Louise Ryan, Education 
Queensland International

2 098 0

Staff orientation program China to 
Australia

Clifford Zhang, Education 
Queensland International

4 750 0

Student groups

Expand Queensland Student Exchange program to Switzerland. Escort 
Studitalia awardees to Italy.

Switzerland, 
Italy

Jean-Paul Loria, Curriculum 
Innovation Branch

10 000 27 500

Travel by departmental staff based in schools
Conference attendance

Develop technology-based learning curriculum USA and 
Canada

Clayton Carnes, 
Townsville South State School

3 000 5 710

Receive international accreditation award Portugal Philip Cook, 
Harristown State High School

5 996 0

International Confederation of Principal’s Convention United 
Kingdom

Ian Ferguson, 
Redbank Plains State High School

2 500 2 300

Conference — International Society of Technology Educators ISTE, 
National Educational Computing Conference NECC

USA Barry Rieck, Mt Crosby State School 2 500 5 740

Conference — Positive Behaviour Support USA Leanne Wilson, 
Woodcrest College Special 
Education Developmental Unit

1 500 2 615

Principals’ convention United 
Kingdom

Magdeline Wong, 
Mirani State High School

900 4 400

International marketing 

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Meg Anderson, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

Attend 2002 Qi Lu International Training College Graduation Korea, China Vicki Belletty, 
Kawana Waters State High School

2 032 1 088

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Kay Careless, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Robert Careless, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Kay Caruso, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Lorena Harvey, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

Promote Queensland state schools to international students China Greg Heidke, 
Kelvin Grove State College

3 706 0

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Kevin Hoschke, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

Attend 2002 Qi Lu International Training College Graduation Japan Joanne House, 
Kawana Waters State High School

2 213 752

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Warren Johnston, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250
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Purpose of visit Country Person Agency cost 
($)

Other 
contributions ($)

Attend 2002 Qi Lu International Training College Graduation Japan Grant Larsen, 
Kawana Waters State High School

2 213 752

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Lenore Mackay, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Lazar Mikata, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

Further sister school arrangements China Barbara Pearson, 
Centenary Heights State High School

3 318 0

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Fenetta Phillips, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

Promote Queensland state schools to international students 
Discharging contractual obligations of Offshore Agreement in Nantong

China Barbara Pitt, 
Mount Gravatt State High School

5 558 0

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Robyn Pritchard, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Graham Pritchard, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China William Ross, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

Further Education Queensland International activities in the People’s 
Republic of China

China Karl Shrubsole, 
Mount Gravatt State High School

4 692 0

Promote Queensland state schools to international students China Henry Thompson, 
Centenary Heights State High School

3 568 0

Further Education Queensland International activities in the People’s 
Republic of China.

China Diane Wallace, 
Mount Gravatt State High School

2 518 0

Promote Queensland state schools to international students China Joh Walsh, 
Kelvin Grove State College

3 706 0

International perspectives, multicultural student and workforce China Yaoli Wang, 
Merrimac State High School

300 2 250

Promote Queensland state schools to international students China Ross Zelow, 
Urangan State High School

3 803    0

Professional development

French Government scholarship for teachers of French New 
Caledonia

Margaret Ashfield, 
William Ross State High School

500 4 414

2003 Queensland–China guest teacher program China Madonna Barraclough, 
Sunnybank State School

1 818 11 000

French Government scholarship for teachers of French France Heather Baumgartner, 
Caloundra State High School

1 000 9 116

Receive scholarship for Network Leaders 2003 Goethe–Institute 
Scholarship

Germany Elizabeth Blair, 
Ormeau State School

1 160 9 369

Educational Study Tour (Early Childhood) Italy Lauren Brooks, 
Beaconsfield State School

400 3 015

Training program for Australian and New Zealand teachers of Japanese Japan Sonia Crawford, 
Mt Morgan Central State High School

6 542 940

Scholarship for teachers of German Germany Peter Dobrenov, 
Kruger State School

500 8 702

Study tour to Italy Italy Pam Gargett, 
Beaconsfield State School

400 3 015

2002 Queensland–Central Java Guest Teacher Program Indonesia David Goldsworthy, 
Raceview State School

1 250 3 778

Supervised group tour — field study to Thai Burma Railway/River Kwai/
Hellfire Pass/Kanchanaburi War Cemetery

Thailand Michael Goodwin, 
Mackay North State High School

2 750 0

Queensland–Saitama Guest Teacher Program Japan Dayle Hackett, 
Redcliffe State High School

17 560 23 140

French Government scholarship for teachers of French France Robyn Harding, 
Clontarf State High School

1 000 9 116

2002 Queensland–Shanghai/Hubei Guest Teacher Program China Beth Hart, 
The Gap State High School

1 850 2 563

French Government scholarship for teachers of French New 
Caledonia

Kamel Hibachi, 
North Rockhampton State High School

500 4 414

French Government scholarship for teachers of French France Lorraine Hudry, 
Mansfield State High School 

1 000 9 116

2002 Queensland–Central Java Guest Teacher Program Indonesia Sally Johnstone, 
Trinity Beach State School

1 250 3 778

2003 Queensland–China Guest Teacher Program China Carolyn Kassis, 
Cairns School of Distance Education

2 575 14 925
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Purpose of visit Country Person Agency cost 
($)

Other 
contributions ($)

GDL scholarship Germany Leonie Keizer, 
Burrowes State School

1 010 8 118

Training program for Australian and New Zealand teachers of Japanese Japan Leanne Kruysmulder, 
Coorparoo Secondary College

6 542 940

Queensland–Osaka Guest Teacher Program Japan Christopher Loch, 
Miami State School

5 664 14 500

Asia Pacific Program candidates — summer residential program USA Parameswari Nabanidham, 
Brisbane State High School

4 280 10 560

Queensland–Gifu Guest Teacher Program Japan Angela Owen, 
Kimberley Park State School

21 560 19 961

Scholarship for teachers of German Germany Linda Mains, 
Kelvin Grove State College

500 8 702

Asia Pacific Program candidates — summer residential program USA Sarah Round, 
Centenary State High School

4 280 10 560

Training program for Australian and New Zealand teachers of Japanese Japan Damien Shanahan, 
Woombye State School

6 542 940

2002 Queensland–Shanghai/Hubei Guest Teacher programs China Lynette Smith, Palm Beach–
Currumbin State High School

1 850 2 563

Training program for Australian and New Zealand teachers of Japanese Japan Pauline Smith, 
Nambour State High School

6 542 940

Queensland–Osaka Guest Teacher Program Japan Kylie Steffen, 
Allenstown State School

5 664 14 500

Training program for Australian and New Zealand teachers of Japanese Japan Lisa Thompson, 
Runcorn State High School

6 542 940

Training program for Australian and New Zealand teachers of Japanese Japan Connie Tsai, 
Chatswood Hills State School

6 542 940

2003 Queensland–China Guest Teacher Program China Leigh Vincent, 
The Gap State High School

1 818 11 000

Student groups

2002 Queensland–Hubei Student Exchange Program China Kay Bence, Loganlea State High 
School

9 835 1 000

Foster sister school agreement, develop Japanese language proficiency 
and awareness and understanding of foreign culture

Japan Felicity Cameron, 
Woodford State School

500 1 500

Cultural exchange Japan Bronwen Dickson, 
Helensvale State High School

3 000 0

Further sister school arrangements with Kumiyama Junior High School Japan Deborah Doulis, 
Warwick State High School

2 900 300

Study tour to Japan Japan Suzanne Foley, 
Albany Creek State High School

1 800 0

Shanghai International Mathematics Competition China Ian Lang, 
Marsden State High School

14 664 2 800

Cultural exchange Japan Peter Linnehan,
Helensvale State High School

3 000 0

Provide students with the opportunity to use learned skills in real life 
situations; develop alternative and diverse education pathways

Japan Jeanette McDonald, 
Robina State High School

2 655 0

2002 Queensland–Central Java Student Exchange Program Indonesia Gregory Miller, 
Park Ridge State High School

10 528 1 500

2002 Queensland–Hubei Student Exchange Program China Paula Quinn, William Ross State 
High School

9 835 1 000

2002 Queensland–Central Java student exchange program Indonesia Jacqueline Russell, 
Ferny Grove State High School

10 528 1 500

Further sister school relationship Japan Jeanette Samson, 
Warwick State High School

2 900 300

Further sister school relationship Japan Jonathan Samson, 
Warwick State High School

2 900 300

Student cultural tour to Japan Japan Karen Townsend, 
Dakabin State High School

1 350 2 300

Student cultural tour to Japan Japan Cathryn Waters, 
Dakabin State High School

1 350 2 700

*  The overseas travel estimated costs listed in this appendix refer to trips that were paid for or jointly paid for by the department on account of all participants undertaking the 
overseas travel. ‘Other contributions’ refers to contributions made by other agencies, external sources or individual contributions on behalf of all participants involved in trips listed. 
Student group costs do not include parent contributions.
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Appendix 13: Education Queensland contact details
Mailing address    Phone Fax

District Offices

Bayside School Road, Capalaba 4157 3245 0222 3245 6741

Bundaberg PO Box 3008, Bundaberg 4670 4154 0300 4153 1212

Cairns and Cape PO Box 6094, Cairns 4870 4046 5222 4046 5200

Chinchilla PO Box 493, Chinchilla 4413 4662 8600 4662 8624

Coopers Plains PMB 250, Mansfield DC 4122 3422 8355 3422 8300

Corinda PO Box 16, Sherwood 4075 3379 0500 3379 2882

Darling Downs PO Box 38, Toowoomba 4350 4616 9111 4616 9100

Emerald PO Box 576, Emerald 4720 4983 8600 4983 8623

Fraser–Cooloola PO Box 142, Maryborough 4650 4121 1633 4121 1645

Geebung PO Box 3376, Stafford DC 4053 3350 7866 3350 7890

Gladstone 21 Dawson Highway, Gladstone 4680 4971 3600 4971 3699

Gold Coast North PO Box 2818, Southport 4215 5583 6222 5531 4055

Gold Coast South PO Box 557, ROBINA DC 4226 5562 4888 5562 4844

Ipswich PMB 2, Ipswich 4305 3280 1773 3280 1048

Isis–Burnett PO Box 142, Maryborough 4650 4121 1633 4121 1645

Logan–Beaudesert PO Box 5009, Eagleby 4207 3804 9666 3807 4943

Longreach PO Box 343, Longreach 4730 4658 4599 4658 4529

Mackay Hinterland and North  PO Box 760, Mackay 4740 4951 6900 4951 6924

Mooloolaba PO Box 5058, Maroochydore BC 4558 5456 8777 5456 8700

Mount Gravatt PMB 250, Mansfield DC 4122 3422 8333 3422 8300

Mount Isa PO Box 1267, Mount Isa 4825 4744 8222 4744 8200

Murrumba Ogg Road, Murrumba Downs 4503 3881 9600 3881 9630

Nambour PO Box 745, Nambour 4560 5470 8900 5470 8909

Rockhampton PO Box 138, Rockhampton 4700 4938 4661 4938 4921

Roma PO Box 456, Roma 4455 4622 9711 4622 2559

South Burnett PO Box 197, Kingaroy 4610 4162 9500 4162 9524

Stafford PO Box 3376, Stafford DC 4053 3350 7866 3350 7890

Tablelands–Johnstone PO Box 1366, Atherton 4883 4091 0800 4091 4957

Toowoomba PO Box 38, Toowoomba 4350 4616 9111 4616 9100

Torres Strait Islands PO Box 117, Thursday Island 4875 4069 1282 4069 1734

Townsville North & West PO Box 5179 TMC, Townsville 4810 4726 3111 4726 3100

Warwick Blaketon House, 24 Palmerin Street, Warwick 4370 4661 0500 4661 0525

West Moreton PO Box 874, Ipswich 4305 3280 1666 3280 1199

Corporate Services Units (CSUs) incorporating Facility Service Centres

Central CSU PO Box 138, Rockhampton 4700 4938 4661 4938 4921

Far Northern CSU PO Box 6094, Cairns 4870 4046 5210 4046 5200

Metropolitan North CSU PO Box 3376, Stafford DC 4053 3350 7866 3359 4243

Metropolitan South CSU Private Mail Bag 250, Mansfield DC 4122 3420 2555 3420 2500

Northern CSU (Facilities serviced by 
Far Northern CSU)

PO Box 5179, Townsville 4810 4726 3111 4726 3100

Outback CSU (Facilities serviced by Southern, 
Far Northern or Central CSUs)

PO Box 1267, Mount Isa 4825 4744 8210 4744 8200

Southern CSU PO Box 38, Toowoomba 4350 4616 9111 4616 9100

Statewide services

AccessEd PO Box 1238, Coorparoo DC 4151 3421 6333 3421 6300

Disability Services Support Unit 141 Merton Road, Woolloongabba 4102 3240 9333 3240 9393
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Index
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students .........  4, 8, 27-28, 37, 41-42 (graph), 70
Accountability..................................................................  58, 62, 64-65 (chart), 67-68
Accreditation ..........................................................................................................  38 
 – Higher education....................................................................  25, 36, 78, 79, 80
 – Non-state ..................................................................................................  38-39
Achievement plans .............................................................................  4, 9, 22, 37, 40
Air-conditioning..............................................................................  25, 30, 31, 33, 35
Alternative education/schooling ...................................................................  4, 26, 27
Assessment and reporting ......................................................................................  39
Assessment and Reporting Taskforce ......................................................................  21
Association of Independent Schools of Queensland (AISQ) .....................................  38
Audit and Risk Management Committee.......................................................  63-64, 66
Australian Business Week Program .............................................................  37, 41, 55
Australian Liquor, Hospitality and Miscellaneous Workers’ Union............................  70
Australian Universities Quality Agency ........................................................  36, 79, 80
Awards 
 – National ...................................................................................................  41, 51
 – State ...........................................................................  10, 18, 21, 41, 54, 54-55
Balanced report card ............................................................................... 6 (graph), 65
Behaviour management......................................................................  4, 5, 26, 27, 69
Benchmarks
 – National .............................................................................   16-17 (graph, table)
Boys, Gender and Schooling Initiative.....................................................................  26
Bullying No Way....................................................................................................... 26
Bypassing Trial................................................................................................... 33, 35
Cape York Justice Study (Meeting challenges, Making choices) ..................... 25, 27, 29
Cape York Strategic Leaders Program.............................................................. 4, 37, 44
Capital works..................................................  4, 25, 28, 29, 29-30 (table), 31, 32, 33
Centres of Excellence ........................................................................  5, 45, 47, 48, 53
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Understanding our financial statements 

The financial statements enable readers to assess the department’s financial results and 

cash flows for the 2002–2003 financial year and its financial position as at the end of the 

financial year.

This financial report covers the Queensland Department of Education and its controlled entities.

The Queensland Department of Education is a government department of the State of 

Queensland established under the Public Service Act 1996. Section 40 of the Financial 

Administration and Audit Act 1977 requires each department to prepare general purpose 

financial statements.

The financial statements are composed of a number of components, including:

> Statement 1 — Statement of financial performance

 This statement shows expenses and revenue and the results of operations for the 

financial year.

> Statement 2 — Statement of financial position

 This statement provides information concerning assets, liabilities and the Government’s 

equity at the end of the financial year. Assets shown as current are reasonably expected to 

be converted to cash, sold or consumed in the operations of the department in the next 

financial year. Similarly, current liabilities are expected to consume cash in the next 

financial year.

> Statement 3 — Statement of cash flows

 This statement provides information concerning sources and uses of cash during the 

financial year and available cash at the end of the financial year.

> Statement 4 — Statement of financial performance by outputs/major activities — controlled

 This statement provides information on revenues and operating expenses for each output.

General information

The principal address of the department is:

Education House

30 Mary Street

Brisbane QLD 4000

A description of the nature of the department’s operations and its principal activities is included 

in the notes to the financial statements.

For information in relation to the department’s financial report please call Finance Branch phone 

3237 1190, email financebranch@qed.qld.gov.au or visit the departmental website at: 

http://education.qld.gov.au. 
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Statement 1 — Statement of financial performance
for the year ended 30 June 2003

   Notes 2003 2002

                                                         $’000 $’000

Revenues from ordinary activities

 Output revenue 4 3 365 458  3 223 235  

 Fees and charges 5 17 515  15 955  

 Grants and other contributions 6 559 344  539 526  

 Other revenues 7 9 068  11 905 

Total revenues from ordinary activities  3 951 385  3 790 621

Expenses from ordinary activities 

excluding borrowing costs expense   

 Employee expenses 8 2 920 107  2 730 951 

 Supplies and services 9   573 559  575 693  

 Grants and subsidies 10 28 595  23 969  

 Depreciation and amortisation 11 119 878  113 918  

 Equity return expense 12 341 323  340 715  

 Other expenses 13   21 856  23 356

 

Total expenses from ordinary activities 

excluding borrowing costs expense   4 005 318  3 808 602 

Borrowing costs expense 14 9 237  2 711

Surplus / (deficit) from ordinary activities  ( 63 170) ( 20 692)

Net surplus / (deficit)   ( 63 170)  ( 20 692)

Increase (decrease) in asset revaluation reserve 26 549 685  ( 83 707) 

 

Net amount of each revenue, expense, valuation    

or other adjustment not disclosed above recognised 

as a direct adjustment against equity 26 8 557  9 213  

 

Total revenues, expenses and valuation 

adjustments recognised directly in equity 26 558 242  ( 74 494)

Total changes in equity other than those resulting 

from transactions with owners  495 072  ( 95 186)

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear 

on the pages after Statement 4.      
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Statement 2 — Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2003

  Notes 2003 2002

                                                         $’000 $’000

Current assets

 Cash assets 15 160 383  152 528

 Receivables 16 38 566  27 092

 Other financial assets 17 1 857  7 089

 Inventories 18 1 516  1 385

 Other current assets 19 1 087  2 568

Total current assets    203 409  190 662

   

Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 20  6 334 510  5 679 970

 Intangible assets 21 19 160  22 011 

Total non-current assets   6 353 670  5 701 981

TOTAL ASSETS  6 557 079  5 892 643

Current liabilities

 Payables 22 143 895  122 682

 Interest-bearing liabilities 23 16 621  9 195

 Provisions 24 54 262  50 000

 Other 25 26 908  25 605

Total current liabilities     241 686  207 482 

Non-current liabilities

 Interest-bearing liabilities 23 126 600  90 389

Total non-current liabilities  126 600  90 389

TOTAL LIABILITIES  368 286  297 871

NET ASSETS (LIABILITIES)  6 188 793  5 594 772

EQUITY

 Contributed equity  626 192  527 243

 Retained surplus (deficit)  5 486  60 099

 Asset revaluation reserve  5 557 115  5 007 430  

 

TOTAL EQUITY 26 6 188 793  5 594 772 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear 

on the pages after Statement 4.
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Statement 3 — Statement of cash flows      
for the year ended 30 June 2003

  Notes 2003 2002

                                                         $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

 Inflows:

 Output receipts   3 361 165  3 223 235

 Grants and other contributions    555 601  539 108 

 User charges    21 344  21 665

 Interest received   –    2 335

 GST input tax credits    72 306  71 425

 Other    5 851  1 009

 Outflows:

 Employee costs   (2 897 972) (2 738 325)

 Supplies and services   ( 642 135) ( 625 511)

 Grants and subsidies   ( 28 595) ( 23 969)

 Interest and other costs of finance   ( 9 237) ( 2 712)

 Equity return   ( 341 323) ( 340 715)

 GST paid   ( 6 916) ( 5 518)

 Other    ( 15 286) ( 17 075)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 27   74 803  104 952

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Inflows:

 Sales of property, plant and equipment    9 027  9 467

 Sale of investments    5 232  12 257

 Loans and advances redeemed   –    –  

 Outflows:

 Payments for property, plant and equipment   ( 223 168) ( 290 318)

 Investments acquired   –    – 

 Disposal proceeds relinquished   –    –

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  ( 208 909) ( 268 594)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 Inflows:

 Borrowings    53 665  87 024

 Equity injection    98 650  45 450

 Outflows:

 Repayments of borrowings   ( 9 219) ( 2 790)

 Finance lease payments   ( 1 135) ( 1 990)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  141 961  127 694

Net increase (decrease) in cash held  7 855  ( 35 948)

Cash at beginning of the financial year  152 528  188 476 

Cash at end of financial year 15   160 383  152 528 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which appear 

on the pages after Statement 4.      
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003

1. Objectives of the department

The department’s objective is to provide quality education appropriate to the needs of our 

students and of society. The department provides high quality education services to more than 

480 000 students who attend more than 1290 government schools throughout Queensland.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial statements are a general purpose financial report that have been prepared in 

accordance with applicable Australian accounting standards, the Treasurer’s Minimum 

Reporting Requirements for Departmental Financial Statements for 2002–2003 and other 

authoritative pronouncements. 

Except where stated, the financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost 

convention.

The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted for both controlled transactions and 

balances and those administered by the department on a whole-of-government basis.

The accounting policies adopted are generally consistent with those of the previous year. 

However, there have been changes for particular items relating to:

> Introduction of new accounting standard AASB1028 Employee Benefits

 This revised standard now requires leave entitlements to be recorded at their expected 

payout rate instead of the salary rate applicable at the end of the financial year.

> Use of estimates for certain items reported from schools

 During the compilation of these accounts school survey information was not received from 

approximately 300 schools due to the imposition of work bans by the Queensland Public 

Sector Union. Estimates have been used for: i) Other monies received from external parties 

— Note 6; ii) Cash at bank and on hand — Note 13; iii) Monies held in trust — Note 34.

(b) The reporting entity

The financial statements include all assets, liabilities, equities, revenues and expenses of 

the department and the material entities that it controls. Details of the department’s 

controlled entities are disclosed in Note 32.

In the process of reporting on the department as a single economic entity, all transactions 

and balances between controlled entities have been eliminated in full.

(c) Transactions and balances administered on a whole-of-government basis 

The department administers, but does not control, certain resources on behalf of the 

Queensland State Government. It is accountable for the transactions involving administered 

resources, but does not have the discretion to deploy these resources for the achievement of 

the department’s objectives. For these resources, the department acts only on behalf of the 

Queensland State Government.

Administered transactions and balances are disclosed in Note 33.

(d) Grants and other contributions

Grants, donations, gifts and other contributions which are non-reciprocal in nature are 

recognised as revenue when the department obtains control over them. Control is normally 

obtained upon their receipt.

Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is accrued over the term of 

the funding arrangement.

Contributions of assets are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only 

recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be 

purchased if not donated.

(e) Fees and charges

Fees controlled by the department are recognised as revenue on an accrual basis. Fees are 

controlled by the department where they can be deployed for the achievement of 

departmental objectives.

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003



Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2003Department of Education Annual Report 2002–200398 Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2003 Department of Education Annual Report 2002–2003 99

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003

(f) Output revenue/Administered item revenue

Appropriation payments to the department were based on the value of the outputs that it 

delivered in the year.

Amounts appropriated to the department for transfer to other entities in accordance with 

legislation or other requirements are not controlled by the department and such amounts 

are reported as administered transactions.

(g) Cash

For the purposes of the Statement of financial position and the Statement of cash flows, 

cash includes cash on hand and cash in school and central office bank accounts which are 

used in the day-to-day cash management function of the department. Cash and investments 

for schools are the balances held on 31 May 2003. For approximately 300 schools the cash 

at bank figure is based on available bank account balance information.

(h) Receivables

Receivables are recognised as the amount due at the time of sale or service provision. 

The collectability of receivables is assessed at balance date with adequate provision made 

for doubtful debts and all known bad debts written off. Settlement on trade debtors is 

required within 14 days of invoice date. As all loans and advances are held with other 

government departments or departmental employees, no collateral is taken.

(i) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(j) Acquisitions of assets

Cost is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled by the 

department. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration plus 

costs incidental to the acquisition, including architects’ fees and engineering design fees 

and other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use. Assets acquired at no cost, or for 

nominal consideration, are initially recognised as assets and revenues at their fair value at 

the date of acquisition.

(k) Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment (excluding land), with a cost, or other value, in 

excess of $5000 are recognised in the year of acquisition. All items of land in excess of $1 

are recognised in the year of acquisition. All other such items with a lesser value are 

expensed in the year of acquisition.

(l) Amortisation and depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to 

write off the cost (or other value) of each depreciable asset, less its estimated residual value, 

progressively over its estimated useful life.

Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life.

Work in progress is not depreciated until it reaches service delivery capacity.

The department is currently investigating the componentisation of its building assets so that 

where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular 

replacement, these components are assigned useful lives distinct from the asset to which 

they relate. A valuation project will be commenced during 2003–2004 to identify complex 

buildings and determine whether the componentisation of assets would have a material 

impact on the department’s accounts.

Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an 

asset is capitalised and the new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining 

useful life of the asset.

The cost (or other value) of leasehold improvements is amortised over the estimated useful 

life of the improvement or the unexpired period of the lease, whichever is shorter.

The estimated useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and where necessary are adjusted 

to better reflect the consumption of the asset. In reviewing the useful life of each asset factors 

such as asset usage and the rate of technical and commercial obsolescence are considered.
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003

Class Current useful life (years)

Buildings 80

Infrastructure 32–80

Demountable buildings 40

Heritage N/A

Sporting facilities 50

Residential housing 60

Computer equipment 5

Office equipment 5–10

Artefacts and curios 50

Musical instruments and craft equipment 20

Plant and machinery 5–10

Sporting equipment 10

Leased plant and equipment 5–10

Major refurbishments to leasehold administrative buildings 5

(m) Revaluations on non-current physical assets

Land, buildings, infrastructure, heritage buildings, sports facilities, residential buildings and 

residential land are reported at fair value in accordance with AASB1041 Revaluation of 

Non-Current Assets and Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Accounting Guidelines 

for the Queensland Public Sector.

All other classes of non-current assets, principally plant and equipment, are measured at cost.

Non-current physical assets, excluding plant and equipment and intangible assets, are 

comprehensively revalued at least once every five years with interim valuations, using 

appropriate indices, being otherwise performed on an annual basis.

(n) Leases

The majority of the department’s lease commitments by value relate to district office 

accommodation. The remainder of the leases are for plant and equipment held by schools.

A distinction is made between finance leases that effectively transfer from the lessor to the 

lessee substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership, and operating leases 

under which the lessor retains substantially all risks and benefits.

Where a non-current asset is acquired by means of a finance lease, the asset is recognised 

at an amount equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments. The liability is 

recognised at the same amount. Lease payments are allocated between the principal 

component and the interest expense.

Operating lease payments are representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the 

leased assets and accordingly are charged to the Statement of financial performance in the 

periods in which they are incurred.

(o) Other financial assets

Other financial assets are brought to account at the lower of cost and recoverable amount. 

Because schools hold all investments, interest revenues are only recognised when they are 

received.

(p) Intangible assets

Intangible assets with a cost, or other value, in excess of $5000 are recognised in the year of 

acquisition, and items with a lesser value are expensed.

The computer software developments held by the department are valued at cost of 

acquisition. Each intangible asset is amortised over useful lives ranging from seven to 10 years.

Costs incurred in the research and development of the intellectual property associated with 

the New Basics project have been capitalised as work in progress. Costs associated with the 

Virtual Schooling Service have been capitalised and are amortised on a straight-line basis 

over the period of the expected benefit to the department, namely five years.
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003

(q) Payables

Trade creditors are recognised on receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured 

at the agreed purchase/contract price gross of applicable trade and other discounts.

(r) Interest-bearing liabilities

Loans payable are recognised at the face value of the principal outstanding, with interest 

being expensed or otherwise recognised as it accrues. The fair value of these loans is 

disclosed in Note 35.

(s) Employee benefits

Wages, salaries and annual leave due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the 

Statement of financial position at the remuneration rates expected to apply at the time of 

settlement and include related on-costs. The entitlement for recreation leave also includes a 

component for accrued leave loading for teaching staff but does not include recreation 

leave, which is not an entitlement under their award.

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than 

the entitlement accrued. As this trend is expected to continue it is unlikely that existing 

accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave 

entitlements is recognised. 

As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.

Under the State Government’s long service leave scheme a levy is made on the department 

to cover this expense. Amounts paid to employees for long service leave are claimed from 

the scheme as and when leave is taken. No provision for long service leave is recognised in 

the Statement of financial position, as the liability is held on a whole-of-government basis 

and reported in the financial report prepared according to AAS31 — Financial Reporting by 

Governments.

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation plan for 

Queensland Government employees, at rates determined by the State Actuary. No liability is 

shown for superannuation benefits in the Statement of financial position, as the liability is 

held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in the financial report prepared 

according to AAS31 — Financial Reporting by Governments.

(t) Taxation

The department’s activities are exempt from all forms of Commonwealth taxation except 

Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT), and Goods and Services Tax (GST). As such, input tax credits 

receivable and GST payable from/to the Australian Taxation Office are recognised and accrued.

(u) Services received free of charge or for nominal value

Resources received free of charge or for nominal value, which can be reliably measured, 

are recognised as revenues, and as expenses or assets as appropriate.

(v) Allocation of overheads to departmental outputs

The department has the necessary information systems to allocate direct items to outputs/

activities and this is reflected in the Statement of financial performance by outputs/major 

activities.

(w) Insurance

The department’s non-current physical assets and other risks are insured through the 

Queensland Government Insurance Fund, premiums are paid on a risk assessment basis. 

In addition, the department pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland to cover its 

obligations for employee compensation.

(x) Rounding and comparatives

Amounts shown in these statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. 

If necessary, minor rounding adjustments have been made to line item totals to ensure 

columns add to the correct rounded total.

Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with 

disclosures in the current reporting period.
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003

(y) Contributed equity

Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly owned Queensland public 

sector entities are adjusted to ‘Contributed equity’ in accordance with UIG Abstract 38 

Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities. Appropriations for 

equity adjustments are similarly designated.

(z) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs include:

> Interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings;

> Finance lease charges;

> Amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings; and

> Ancillary administration charges.

3. Outputs of the department

The identity and purpose of each output/major activity undertaken by the department during 

the year is summarised below:

> Preschool education

 This output provides an optional year of early education prior to Year 1 at the majority of 

state schools. Preschool education is provided on a sessional basis of either five half-

days per week or the equivalent full days per fortnight.

> Primary education

 This output provides a comprehensive, general education for students in state primary 

schooling, in Years 1 to 7.

> Secondary education

 This output provides secondary education in state schools. It provides students in 

Years 8 to 12 with further elements of a comprehensive, general education characterised 

by increasing levels of specialisation.

> Students with special needs

 This output provides education programs in state schools for students with disabilities 

and students enrolled in distance education.

> Portfolio services — assistance to non-state education

 This output funds the Office of Non-State Schooling. The role of the office is to:

– advise the Minister and the Director-General of Education on policies affecting non-

state schooling;

– ensure that an appropriate and reliable system of planning, approval and 

accountability for non-state schooling, home schooling and education provision for 

overseas students occurs;

– facilitate an efficient subsidy and grants administration process for administered 

funds;

– facilitate forums for consultation about matters affecting the non-state education 

sector’s interaction with the department.

> Portfolio services — assistance to tertiary institutions

 This output provides services to the Minister and in support of higher education 

delivery. The services include:

– provision to the Minister of quality, timely policy advice, based on appropriate data 

and analysis;

– support the further development of the higher education sector in Queensland 

through working with universities, the Commonwealth Government and state agencies;

– administer and oversee, on behalf of the Minister, arrangements for the accreditation 

of higher education programs delivered by non-university providers;

– administer state assistance to tertiary institutions.

Expenses and revenues reliably attributed to these outputs are reported in the Statement of 

financial performance by outputs/major activities for the year ended 30 June 2003.
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   2003 2002                             

                         $’000 $’000

4. Reconciliation to payments from consolidated fund

 Output revenue  

 Budgeted output appropriation 3 353 509 3 234 253

  plus/less transfers from/to other headings 3 705 (11 018)

  plus supplementary appropriations 3 951 –

 Total output receipts 3 361 165 3 223 235

  less opening balance of output revenue receivable – – 

  plus closing balance of output revenue receivable 4 293 –

 Output revenue recognised in Statement of 

 financial performance 3 365 458 3 223 235

 Equity adjustment (controlled)  

 Budget equity adjustment appropriation 87 792 3 588

  plus/less transfers from/to other headings – 41 862

  plus supplementary appropriations 10 858 –

 Total equity adjustment receipts (payments) 98 650 45 450

  less opening balance of equity adjustments receivable – –

  plus closing balance of equity adjustment receivable – –

 Equity adjustment recognised in Contributed equity 98 650 45 450

5. Fees and charges

 Student fees 7 386 5 809

 General fees 4 117 4 232

 Refunds (12) (72)

 Other fees and commissions 820 805

 Property income 5 157 5 150

 Sales revenue 47 31

   17 515 15 955

6. Grants and other contributions

 Commonwealth receipts  

 Recurrent — general 278 200 267 754

 Specific purpose 95 961 78 086

 Other monies received directly by schools from external 

 parties (including parents and students, Commonwealth 

 and P&C contributions) + 159 636 165 025

 Grants from other State Government departments 11 858 9 714

 Goods and services received below fair value# 6 322 4 876

 Capital donations from parents and citizens’ association 

 and other external parties* 7 367 14 071

   559 344 539 526

 + For approximately 300 schools the funds received from external parties have been 

estimated using a ratio based on the statewide average of monies received and the level 

of state funding provided.
#  Goods and services received below fair value relate mainly to maintenance and 

accommodation services provided by the Department of Public Works for $6.0 million 

(2002 $4.4 million).

*  The department’s policy is to only record assets centrally with a value of $5000 or more. 

Plant and equipment contributed during 2002–2003 by parents and citizens’ 

associations were recorded on the department’s Fixed Asset Register. No allowance has 

been made for any capital donations that may have been received by the 300 schools 

that have not returned school surveys.
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   2003 2002

                                                        $’000 $’000

7. Other revenues

 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 609 3 497

 Interest # – 2 335

 Other expenditure recovered * 7 459 6 073

   9 068 11 905

#  The reduction in interest revenue is mainly due to changes in the timing of cash receipts 

for payment for outputs from Queensland Treasury.

*  Other expenditure recovered includes $6.7 million (2001–2002 $5.3 million) for 

insurance refunds from the Queensland Government Insurance Fund.

8. Employee expenses

 Teachers’ salaries and allowances 1 863 709 1 772 517

 Public servant and other salaries and allowances 213 548 201 130

 Teacher aides’ salaries 143 056 131 412

 Cleaners’ salaries and allowances 84 010 78 692

 Janitors’/groundstaff salaries and allowances 29 628 28 609

 Employer superannuation contributions 290 862 270 004

 Payroll tax and fringe benefits tax 129 327 122 254

 Annual leave expenses 70 922 65 829

 Long service leave levy 36 074 34 168

 Workers’ compensation 30 526 16 924

 Redundancy payments 28 445 9 412

   2 920 107 2 730 951

 Number of employees: 52 038 51 294

 The number of employees includes both full-time and 

 part-time employees measured on a full-time equivalent basis.

9. Supplies and services

 Supplies and services by schools* 384 126 377 690

 Building maintenance 70 589 66 807

 Utilities 37 322 40 944

 Equipment and building refurbishment 11 528 18 543

 Consultants and contractors 17 397 21 279

 Materials and running costs 19 595 17 818

 Staff travel and transfer costs 19 012 19 761

 Computer costs 11 690 10 628

 Staff accommodation 2 300 2 223

   573 559 575 693

*  The increase in supplies and services by schools is mainly attributable to increased 

grants to schools.

10. Grants and subsidies

 Recurrent 

 State Government

 Grants and allowances to external organisations# 27 595 10 899

 Capital

 State Government

 Tertiary organisations (including universities)* 1 000 13 070

   28 595 23 969

# The increase in grants expense mainly relates to funding paid to Queensland Transport for 

transport services for students with disabilities.

*  The reduction in capital grants to tertiary organisations relates mainly to lower grant 

payments to universities for the purchase of land for new campus development. 
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11. Depreciation and amortisation

 Depreciation and amortisation incurred in respect of:  

 Buildings 63 040 61 027

 Infrastructure 22 547 22 219

 Sporting facilities 2 778 2 837

 Heritage assets 212 205

 Residential housing 3 103 2 815

 Plant and equipment* 20 776 17 999

 Major refurbishments to leasehold administrative buildings 1 071 1 053

 Intangibles — computer software development 6 091 5 763

 Intangibles — intellectual property 260 –

    119 878 113 918

*  Included above is amortisation of plant and equipment under finance leases of 

$0.716 million (2002: $0.913 million).

12. Equity return expense

   341 323 340 715

 The Queensland Government has set an equity return rate 6 per cent for 2002–2003. 

 This represents the opportunity cost of capital invested in the net assets of the department.

13. Other expenses

 Insurance 6 566 6 123

 Operating lease rentals 9 430 10 649

 Audit fees 304 307

 Bad and doubtful debts (34) (162)

 Losses — public monies and public property 171 178

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 050 4 625

 Special payments:  

      Ex-gratia payments 38 35

      Court awarded damages 2 331 1 601

   21 856 23 356

14. Borrowing costs expense

 Interest * 8 750 2 117

 Administration charges 102 35

 Finance charges relating to finance leases  385 559

   9 237 2 711

*  The increase in interest charges is mainly due to the increase in borrowings, which were 

required to fund the department’s capital works program and teacher career change 

payments.

15. Cash assets

 Cash on hand 305 408

 Cash at bank* 160 078 152 120

    160 383 152 528

*  The figure for Cash at bank includes $12.9 million collected from students and parents 

for specific school activities. In the event of these activities not taking place, these 

amounts may be refundable. From 2000–2001 the cash balances in schools has been 

reported as at 31 May. From 1 July 2001 departmental policy requires schools to 

progressively redeem funds held in investments and move these balances to 

operating accounts which has caused these balances to increase to $133.5 million 

(2002 $121.6 million). For approximately 300 schools the cash at bank figure is based 

on available bank account balance information.
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16. Receivables

 Debtors of an operational nature 21 866 16 277

 Less: provision for doubtful debts (211) (246)

   21 655 16 031

 Loans and advances* 360 1 606

 GST input tax credits receivable 3 841 4 102

 Output revenue receivable 4 293 –

 Miscellaneous debtors # 8 418 5 353

   38 566 27 092

*  Loans and advances consist of funds advanced to other State Government departments 

that are yet to be expended, and travel and transfer advances made to employees, 

which have not yet been acquitted.  
#  The increase in miscellaneous debtors is mainly due to recoveries owing to the 

department under the Queensland Government Insurance fund.

17. Other financial assets

 School-based term deposits and on-call accounts * 1 857 7 089

*  Included in these funds are monies held for plant and equipment asset replacement. 

From 2000–2001 balances for school-based term deposits were reported as at 31 May. 

From 1 July 2001 departmental policy requires schools to progressively redeem funds 

held in investments and move these balances to operating accounts.

18. Inventories

 Goods for resale  1 516 1 385

Inventories are based on a survey of the department (excluding schools and district offices) 

and are reported at the lower of cost and net realisable value. School and district office 

inventories are treated as an expense at the time of acquisition as they consist mainly of 

stationery items with a high turnover.

Inventories have been treated as current assets even though some items may be held for 

longer than 12 months.

19. Other current assets

 Prepayments  1 087 2 568

20. Property, plant and equipment

 Land:  

  At valuation 2003* 1 496 374 – 

  At valuation 2002* – 1 233 160

  At cost  5 122 3 640

   1 501 496 1 236 800

 Residential land:  

  At valuation 2003* 29 252 –

  At valuation 2002* – 22 343

  At cost  358 395

   29 610 22 738

 Buildings:  

  At valuation 2003+  4 644 002 –

  At valuation 2002+ – 4 247 382

  At cost  153 081 124 448

  Accumulated depreciation (1 595 244) (1 439 878)

   3 201 839 2 931 952
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20. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 Infrastructure:  

  At valuation 2003+ 1 621 794 –

  At valuation 2002+ – 1 501 799

  At cost  30 785 20 213

  Accumulated depreciation (523 834) (469 400)

   1 128 745 1 052 612

 Heritage:  

  At valuation 2003+ 23 617 –

  At valuation 2002+ – 20 080

  At cost – 2 136

  Accumulated depreciation (15 656) (14 502)

   7 961 7 714

 Sporting facilities:  

  At valuation 2003+ 141 331 –

  At valuation 2002+ – 131 509

  At cost  871 1 383

  Accumulated depreciation (50 595) (44 851)

   91 607 88 041

 Residential housing:  

  Buildings at valuation 2003* 272 593 –

  Buildings at valuation 2002* – 208 931

  At cost  2 527 4 181

  Accumulated depreciation (116 440) (88 025)

   158 680 125 087

 Plant and equipment:  

  At cost 168 325 150 901

  Accumulated depreciation (83 328) (69 623)

   84 997 81 278

 Leased plant and equipment:  

  At capitalised cost 3 729 5 148

  Accumulated amortisation (1 549) (1 704)

   2 180 3 444

 Major refurbishments to leasehold administrative buildings:  

  At cost 11 706 8 981

  Accumulated depreciation (2 930) (2 618)

   8 776 6 363

 Capital works in progress:  

  At cost 118 619 123 941

  Total Property, plant and equipment — net book value 6 334 510 5 679 970

* At current market buying price

+ At current replacement cost

The Department of Natural Resources and Mines performed an independent valuation of 

land, buildings, infrastructure, heritage buildings and sporting facilities in 2000–2001.  

This valuation is deemed to be the fair value of each of these classes. An indexation of each 

of these classes of assets was undertaken as at 30 June 2003.

The index for land is based on a random sample of land assets that were provided to the 

Department of Natural Resources and Mines to determine the current market value of the 

sample. Application of this index for 2002–2003 produces an increase of 22 per cent.

Buildings, infrastructure, heritage buildings and sports facilities are not able to be assessed 

on an open and liquid market, the Building Construction Implicit Price Deflator has been 

used to index these classes of assets. Application of this index for 2002–2003 produces an 

increase of 6.4 per cent.
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The index for residential land and buildings was sourced from the Department of Housing 

and is based on the market value of their housing portfolio across Queensland. Application 

of this index for 2002–2003 produces an increase of 29.06 per cent.

Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are valued at cost in accordance with 

Queensland Treasury’s Non-current Asset Accounting Guidelines for the Queensland Public Sector.

Expenditure associated with the department’s capital program, which is of an asset 

producing nature, has been recognised and monitored throughout the financial year. 

These capital works in progress are transferred to completed assets upon practical 

completion, which is when the asset is ready for occupation and use.

Reconciliation

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the 

beginning and end of the current reporting period.

  Land Residential Buildings Infrastructure Heritage Sport 
   land    facilities

  2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003

  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at 

  start of year 1 236 800 22 738 2 931 952 1 052 612 7 714 88 041

Acquisitions 3 604 54 88 963 17 807 (20) 341

Donations received – – 2 142 1 342 – 777

Disposals (7 247) (58) (1 293) (269) – (6)

Transfers between classes 1 518 304 64 118 12 979 – 530

Revaluation increments/

  (decrements) Note 26 266 821 6 572 178 997 66 821 479 4 702

Depreciation/

  amortisation – – (63 040) (22 547) (212) (2 778)

Balance 30 June 2003 1 501 496 29 610 3 201 839 1 128 745 7 961 91 607

      
  Residential Plant and Leased Refurbishments   Capital  Total
  housing Equipment Plant and  to  work in 
    Equipment Leasehold progress 

  2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003

  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at 

  start of year 125 087 81 278 3 444 6 363 123 941 5 679 970

Acquisitions 634 24 725 380 2 879 76 544 215 911

Donations received 5 288 – – – 4 554

Disposals (439) (1 154) (928) – – (11 393)

Transfers between classes 1 892 (80) – 605 (81 866) –

Revaluation increments/

  (decrements) Note 26 34 604 – – – – 558 996

Depreciation/

  amortisation (3 103) (20 060) (716) (1 071) – (113 527)

Balance 30 June 2003 158 680 84 997 2 180 8 776 118 619 6 334 510

   2003 2002                             

                          $’000 $’000

21. Intangible assets

 Major software developments:  

 At cost  36 336 35 435

 Accumulated amortisation (19 515) (13 424)

   16 821 22 011

 Intellectual property:  

 At cost 2 599 –

 Accumulated amortisation (260) –

   2 339 –

 Total Intangible assets 19 160 22 011
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   2003 2002                             

                          $’000 $’000

22. Payables

 Long service leave levy payable 9 269 8 966

 Trade creditors  105 756 93 775

 Accrued salaries and on-costs * 27 639 9 585

 Teacher career change grants payable – 8 685

 Other creditors 1 231 1 671

   143 895 122 682

* The increase in accrued salaries and on-costs is mainly due to the accrual of salaries for 

one day at the end of 2002–2003, and the inclusion of the impact of back pay for recent 

award increases.

23. Interest-bearing liabilities

 Current:  

 Lease liability 827 1 127

 Queensland Treasury Corporation borrowings* 15 794 8 068

   16 621 9 195

 Non-Current:  

 Lease liability 695 1 355

 Queensland Treasury Corporation borrowings* 125 905 89 034

   126 600 90 389

*  The increase in Queensland Treasury Corporation borrowings was mainly due to new 

borrowings to provide funding for the capital works program and teacher career change 

payments.

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the right to the leased assets revert to the lessor 

in the event of default.

No assets have been pledged as security for any liabilities.

Loans are provided by Queensland Treasury Corporation and are carried at face value. 

The interest rates on the borrowings range from 5.14 per cent to 6.28 per cent. Repayment 

dates vary from 15 September 2006 to 15 September 2013. Borrowings are all in Australian 

dollar denominated amounts.

The market value of the borrowings as notified by Queensland Treasury Corporation at 30 

June 2003 was $145.522 million (2002: $96.419 million). The market value represents the 

value of the debt if the department repaid it in full at balance date. As it is the intention of 

the department to hold the debt for its term, no adjustment provision is made in these 

accounts.

An amount of $6.120 million, comprising interest on funds borrowed from the Queensland 

Treasury Corporation, as well as $0.385 million for finance charges relating to leases has 

been recognised as an expense in the reporting period. 

24. Provision

 Accrued recreation leave 54 262 50 000

25. Other current liabilities

 Unearned grant revenue and revenue in advance 25 699 24 461

 Advances and deposits payable 1 209 1 144

   26 908 25 605
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26. Changes in equity 

  Retained surplus Asset revaluation reserve Contributed equity

  2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Balance at start of year 60 099 71 578 5 007 430 5 091 137 527 243 481 655

 Net surplus/(deficit) (63 170) (20 692) – – – –

 Non-owner changes in 

   equity recognised on the 

   face of the Statement of 

   financial performance:      

   – Sale of revalued assets 9 311 9 203 (9 311) (9 203) – –

   – Increase/(decrease) 

        due to revaluation   558 996 (74 504) – –

   – Adjustment for 

   opening balance 

  leave provisions (754) – – – – –

   – Adjustments for prior 

  year low-value asset 

   write-downs – 10 – – – –

 Transactions with 

 Government as owners:     

 – Equity injection 

  (Note 4) – – – – 98 650 45 450

 – Net liabilities 

  transferred to/(from) 

  other departments – – – – 299 138

 Balance at end of year 5 486 60 099 5 557 115 5 007 430 626 192 527 243

   2003 2002                             

                  $’000 $’000

 Closing balance of Asset revaluation reserve by class:

 Land 1 451 397 1 191 823

 Residential land 27 632 21 118

 Buildings 2 616 616 2 438 912

 Infrastructure 1 093 672 1 027 119

 Sporting facilities 101 630 96 933

 Residential housing 259 227 225 063

 Heritage 6 941 6 462

   5 557 115 5 007 430

27. Reconciliation of operating result to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 

 Surplus/(deficit) from ordinary activities (63 170) (20 692)

 Non-cash items  

 Depreciation and amortisation expense 119 878 113 918

 Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 050 4 625

 Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (1 609) (3 497)

  Change in assets/liabilities  

 (Increase)/decrease in output revenue receivable (4 293) –

 (Increase)/decrease in GST input tax credits receivable 261 4 056

 (Increase)/decrease in net receivables (7 442) (8 416)

 (Increase)/decrease in inventories (131) (305)

 (Increase)/decrease in prepayments 1 481 13 715

 Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities 1 303 3 300

 Increase/(decrease) in payables 21 213 4 742

 Increase/(decrease) in provisions  4 262 (6 494)

 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 74 803 104 952
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28. Non-cash financing and investing activities

Assets and liabilities received or donated/transferred by the department and recognised as 

revenues and expenses are set out in Notes 6 and 13 respectively.

29. Commitments for expenditure

 (a) Finance leases

 Lease liabilities recognised in the Statement of financial position 

     Current 827 1 127

     Non-current 695 1 355

   1 522 2 482

 Commitments under finance leases at the reporting date are inclusive of anticipated GST   

 and are payable as follows:

  Not later than one year 1 140 1 639

      Later than one and not later than five years 908 1 798

      Later than five years – –

 Total commitments 2 048 3 437

 Less anticipated input tax credits 186 313

 Less future finance charges 340 642

 Finance lease liability 1 522 2 482

 (b)  Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

 Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are inclusive of anticipated   

 GST and are payable as follows:

      Not later than one year 3 969 5 164

      Later than one and not later than five years 4 628 6 425

      Later than five years 74 81

 Total commitments 8 671 11 670

 Input tax credits anticipated 788 1 061

 The aggregate of lease commitments for operating leases with individual estimated net   

 present values of $5 million or more is nil. 

 (c) Capital expenditure

 Material classes of capital expenditure commitments inclusive of anticipated GST,   

 contracted for at reporting date but not recognised in the accounts are payable as follows:

      Buildings 55 392 77 726

      Infrastructure 1 679 5 227

      Residential buildings 902 1 090

 Total capital expenditure commitments 57 973 84 043

 Payable:  

      Not later than one year 57 973 84 043

      Later than one and not later than five years – –

      Later than five years – –

 Total commitments 57 973 84 043

 Input tax credits anticipated 5 270 7 640

30. Chief executive remuneration

The Director-General of Education receives annual superannuable salary at CEO 3 level 

(minimum $193 866 to maximum $210 420), which does not include industry and like 

allowances, leave loading and fringe benefits such as private use of a government vehicle 

and employer superannuation contributions. 

The Director-General is also eligible for consideration of a performance bonus, based on an 

assessment by the Premier and Minister for Trade. The total bonus quantum paid to the chief 

executive of departments is published in the Annual Report of the Office of Public Service 

Merit and Equity.
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31. Contingencies

 (a) Litigation in progress

 At 30 June 2003, the following cases were before the Courts:
   2003 2002 
   No. of cases No. of cases

 Supreme Court  12 17

 District Court  49 74

 Magistrates Court  19 18

   80 109

The department’s legal advisers and management believe that it is not possible to reliably 

determine the value of payouts in respect of this litigation which, in the majority of 

instances, represent insurable events in terms of the policy held with the Queensland 

Government Insurance Fund.

The maximum exposure of the department under this policy is $10 000 for each 

insurable event.

The department has also received notification of a number of other cases that are not yet 

subject to court action. These cases may or may not result in subsequent litigation.

(b) Financial guarantees

The department has provided 106 financial guarantees to parents and citizens’ 

associations, and eight guarantees to Grammar schools for a variety of loans. These 

guarantees have been provided over a period of time and have various maturity dates.

  2003 2002

  Remaining  Remaining 

  Balance Balance

  $’000  $’000 Enabling Legislation

 Parents and citizens’    Education (General Provisions)

  associations 5 780 5 678  Act 1989 section 96

 Grammar schools 47 500 42 134 Grammar Schools Act 1975 

     section 20

  53 280 47 812  

Regarding the Grammar school borrowings, these include a guarantee given to the 

Rockhampton Girls’ Grammar School (RGGS). The Queensland Government appointed an 

administrator for the purposes of putting the school into a position to repay the debt to the 

state. This appointment will expire as at 31 December 2003 at which time the governance of 

the school will revert to a Board of Trustees. As at 30 June 2003, this guarantee amount is 

$4.657 million.

32. Controlled entities

The Australian Music Examinations Board was constituted by agreement between the 

Ministers for Education of the states of Queensland, New South Wales and Tasmania and the 

universities of Melbourne, Adelaide and Western Australia.  Due to the low materiality of 

transactions, consolidation statements necessary under AASB1024 Consolidated Accounts 

have not been prepared and the various outlays, collections, assets and liabilities of the 

following entity have been included as part of the financial statements and notes of the 

Department of Education. Details of receipts and payments of the Australian Music 

Examinations Board (Queensland) are as follows:

  2003 2002  2003 2002

  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000

 Revenue   Expense  

 General 4 3  Labour and exam costs 781 770

 Fees 1 072 1 068   

 Sales 21 21 Other 268 269

  1 097 1 092  1 049 1 039

 The accumulated fund deficit for the Board at 30 June 2003 was $0.019 million.
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33. Administered transactions and balances

 Administered revenues  

 Grants and contributions  

 Recurrent  

  Specific purpose — Commonwealth * 729 098 673 685

 Capital   

  Specific purpose — Commonwealth 42 418 60 752

   771 516 734 437

 Administered item revenue 1 123 139 1 043 975

 Total administered revenues 1 894 655 1 778 412

 Administered expenses  

 Grants and subsidies  

 Recurrent  

  Commonwealth Government  

  Commonwealth Education Fund (Non-state education) * 729 098 673 685

  State Government  

  Grants and allowances to external organisations 300 134 278 639

  Textbook allowances 27 906 27 186

  Grants to statutory bodies (curriculum and tertiary) 21 804 22 169

 Capital  

  Commonwealth Government  

  Commonwealth (Non-state education) 17 671 17 078

  State Government  

  Non-state and other external organisations 26 519 25 219

   1 123 132 1 043 976

  Supplies and services 22 11

 Total administered expenses before transfers to government 1 123 154 1 043 987

 Net surplus or deficit before transfers to government 771 501 734 425

 Transfers to government 771 516 734 437

 Net surplus or  (deficit) (15) (12)

 Current assets  

  Cash at bank (953) (975)

  Appropriation receivable 557 484

  Accounts receivable 9 118

  GST input tax credits receivable 673 725

 Total administered assets 286 352

 Current liabilities  

  Grants payable – 50

 Total administered liabilities – 50

*  The increase in Commonwealth specific purpose revenues relates to grant payments 

that were required to be transferred to non-state schools.

34. Monies held in trust 

 Trust Account - Educational bequests 217 235

 Monies held in trust by schools 12 655 11 353

   12 872 11 588

The department holds in trust monies collected from students and parents for specific 

school activities in school bank accounts. In the event of these activities not taking place, 

these amounts are refundable. It is not cost-effective to separate these monies, and for 

reporting purposes, they have been disclosed under cash assets in the Statement of 

financial position. For approximately 300 schools the monies held in trust have been 

estimated based on figures reported as at 30 June 2002.
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35. Financial instruments

(a) Terms, conditions and accounting policies

The department’s accounting policies including the terms and conditions of each class of 

financial asset and financial liability at balance date are as follows:

 Financial assets

Financial 

Instrument

Accounting Policies Terms and Conditions

Cash Cash includes cash on hand, imprest 

account totals and cash at bank in 

General (savings) accounts.

In recognition of the large 

amount of cash that schools 

deposit with the 

Commonwealth Bank, these 

funds attract a variable 

interest rate that is equivalent 

to a Money Market Call 

Account rate with a balance 

in excess of $500 000.

Other Financial 

Assets — Current

Current investment accounts are 

those converting or maturing on or 

before 30 June 2003.  These 

accounts have various descriptions 

such as savings investment 

accounts, cash management call 

accounts, and on-call accounts.

Most investments are held 

by schools with banks and 

have a maturity of less than 

one year.

Receivables 

(trade debtors)

Trade debtors are carried at nominal 

amounts less any provision for 

doubtful debts. A provision for 

doubtful debts is recognised when 

relevant accounts are overdue more 

than six months.

Unless negotiated 

otherwise, terms of 

receivables are 14 days net.

Receivables (other) Other debtors relate mainly to salary 

overpayments and are carried at 

nominal amounts less any provision 

for doubtful debts. Also included in 

this category is Output revenue 

receivable which is carried at 

nominal value.

Unless negotiated 

otherwise, terms of 

receivables are 14 days net.

Financial 

Instrument

Accounting Policies Terms and Conditions

Payables Recognition — upon receipt of goods 

or services irrespective of whether 

an invoice has been received.

Measurement — based on agreed 

purchase/ contract price.

The amounts are unsecured 

and are usually settled on 

30-day terms.

Finance lease 

liability 

The finance lease liabilities are 

accounted for in accordance with 

AAS17 Leases. Interest is charged as 

an expense as it accrues.

The finance leases have an 

average lease term of four 

years.

Interest-bearing 

liabilities

Loans are carried at book value. 

Interest is charged as an expense as 

it accrues.

All borrowings are with 

Queensland Treasury 

Corporation. The borrowings 

are repaid quarterly in 

arrears.

Financial liabilities
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk exposure

 The department’s exposure to interest rate risk for financial assets and liabilities is 

shown in the following table. The weighted average rate of returns Queensland Treasury 

Corporation borrowings is 5.73 per cent.

  One year  One to   Greater than  Non-Interest Total
  or less five years five years  bearing 

  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Financial Assets     

 Cash 160 383 – – – 160 383

 Other financial assets 1 857 – – – 1 857

 Receivables – – – 38 566 38 566

  162 240 – – 38 566 200 806

 Financial Liabilities     

 Payables – – – 143 895 143 895

 Qld. Treasury Corp. borrowings 15 794 67 956 57 949 – 141 699

 Financial lease liabilities 827 695 – – 1 522

  16 621 68 651 57 949 143 895 287 116

(c) Credit risk exposure

Credit risk exposure for the Department of Education relates to accounts receivable.  It is 

considered that an adequate provision has been made for the main receivables — for 

example, salary overpayments and outstanding student fees.

(d) Net fair value

The net fair value is determined as follows:

> The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary 

financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying value.

> The net fair value of other monetary financial assets and liabilities is based on market 

prices where a market exists, or has been determined by discounting expected future 

cash flows by the current interest rate for financial assets and liabilities with similar 

risk profiles.

The carrying amounts and estimated net fair values of financial assets and liabilities held at 

balance date are given below:

Financial instruments Total carrying amount Net fair value

 2003 2002 2003 2002

 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash 160 383 152 528 160 383 152 528

Other financial assets 1 857 7 089 1 857 7 089

Receivables 38 566 27 092 38 566 27 092

 200 806 186 709 200 806 186 709

Financial liabilities

 Payables 143 895 122 682 143 895 122 682

 Qld. Treasury Corp. 

  borrowings 141 699 97 102 145 687 96 419

 Financial lease liabilities 1 522 2 482 1 522 2 482

  287 116 222 266 291 104 221 583
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36. Events occurring after balance date

(a) Enterprise bargaining negotiations

On 14 August 2003, the Government and the Queensland Teachers’ Union announced that 

agreement had been reached on enterprise bargaining negotiations. If this offer is accepted 

by teachers it will provide for a 3.8 per cent wage increase from 1 June 2003. 

The financial effect of this offer has not been recognised in the financial report at 30 June 

2003. However, if teachers accepted this offer the resulting back pay would increase 

employee expenses and related provisions by an estimated $7 million, and increase Output 

revenue and a related receivable by approximately $5.5 million.  

(b) Shared service provider arrangements

From 1 July 2003, certain corporate services relating to financial and human resource 

systems currently resourced internally by the department will be outsourced to the Treasury 

Department under a shared service provider arrangement. As part of this new arrangement, 

a number of this department’s staff and resources will be transferred in 2003–2004 to the 

Treasury Department. Details of the financial effect of this transfer will be reported in the 

2003–2004 financial year statements. 
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Certificate of the Department of Education

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 40(1) of 

the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1977 (the Act), and other prescribed requirements.  

In accordance with section 40(3) of the Act we certify that in our opinion:

(a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied 

with in all material respects; and

(b) the statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with the 

prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of the Department of Education for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2003, and of the financial position of the department at the 

end of that year. 

Rita Logan  CPA Ken Smith 

Chief Finance Officer Director-General of Education

15 September 2003 15 September 2003



Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2003Department of Education Annual Report 2002–2003

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003

Independent Audit Report

To the Accountable Officer of the Department of Education

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial statements

The audit report relates to the financial statements of the Department of Education for the financial 

year ended 30 June 2003 included on Department of Education’s web site.  The Accountable 

officer is responsible for the integrity of the Department of Education’s web site. The audit report 

refers only to the financial statements identified below and does not include a review of the 

integrity of this web site or provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 

hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.  If users of the financial statements are concerned 

with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communications they are advised to refer to 

the hard copy of the audited financial statements, available from Department of Education, to 

confirm the information included in the audited financial statements presented on this web site. 

These matters also relate to the presentation of the audited financial statements in other 

electronic media including CD Rom.

Scope

The financial statements and accountable officer’s responsibility

The financial statements consist of the statement of financial position, statement of financial 

performance, statement of cash flows, notes to and forming part of the financial statements and 

certificates given by the Accountable Officer and officer responsible for the financial 

administration of Department of Education for the year ended 30 June 2003.

The accountable officer is responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the 

financial statements, the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that 

are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and 

accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach

As required by law, an independent audit was conducted in accordance with QAO Auditing Standards 

to enable me to provide an independent opinion whether in all material respects the financial 

statements present fairly, in accordance with the prescribed requirements, including any mandatory 

financial reporting requirements as approved by the Treasurer for application in Queensland.

Audit procedures included: 

> examining information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the   

 financial statements, and

> assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the   

 reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the accountable officer.

Independence

The Financial Administration and Audit Act 1977 promotes the independence of the Auditor-

General and QAO authorised auditors.

The Auditor-General is the auditor of all public sector entities and can only be removed by Parliament.

The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate and is not subject 

to direction by any person about the way in which powers are to be exercised.

The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all information, 

documents and property and can report to Parliament matters, which in the Auditor-General’s 

opinion are significant.

Audit opinion

In accordance with section 40 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1977:

(a) I have received all the information and explanations which I have required; and

(b) in my opinion -

(i) the prescribed requirements in respect of the establishment and keeping of accounts 

have been complied with in all material respects; and

(ii) the Statements have been drawn up so as to present a true and fair view, in accordance 

with the prescribed accounting standards of the transactions of the Department of 

Education for the financial year 1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003 and of the financial position 

as at the end of that year.

L J SCANLAN, FCPA Queensland Audit Office

Auditor-General of Queensland Brisbane
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